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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-Q

0 QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023
Or
0 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission File Number: 001-32410

1#.0001306830-23-000086celogo.jpg

CELANESE CORPORATION
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)
Delaware 98-0420726

(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

222 W. Las Colinas Blvd., Suite 900N
Irving, TX 75039-5421
(Address of Principal Executive Offices and zip code)

(972) 443-4000
(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of Each Class Trading Symbol(s) Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered
Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share CE The New York Stock Exchange
1.125% Senior Notes due 2023 CE/23 The New York Stock Exchange
1.250% Senior Notes due 2025 CE /25 The New York Stock Exchange
4.777% Senior Notes due 2026 CE /26A The New York Stock Exchange
2.125% Senior Notes due 2027 CE /27 The New York Stock Exchange
0.625% Senior Notes due 2028 CE /28 The New York Stock Exchange
5.337% Senior Notes due 2029 CE /29A The New York Stock Exchange

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for
such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes 0 No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8 232.405 of this
chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes 0 No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the
definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company," and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer pAccelerated filer 0Non-accelerated filer OSmaller reporting company 0Emerging growth company 0

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting

standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. 0

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes 0 No O

The number of outstanding shares of the registrant's common stock, Common Stock, $0.0001 par value, as of October 28, 2022 May 5, 2023 was 108,428,071.108,787,807.
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Item 1. Financial Statements
CELANESE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended Three Months Ended
September 30, September 30, March 31,
2022 2021 2022 2021 2023 2022

(In $ millions, except share and per

(In $ millions, except share and per share data) share data)
Net sales Net sales 2,301 2,266 7,325 6,262 Net sales 2,853 2,538
Cost of sales Cost of sales (1,755) (1,551) (5,329) (4,301) Cost of sales (2,222) (1,793)
Gross profit Gross profit 546 715 1,996 1,961 Gross profit 631 745
Selling, general and Selling, general and Selling, general and
administrative administrative administrative
expenses expenses (184) (165) (555) (463) expenses (285) (174)
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Amortization of
intangible assets

Research and
development
expenses

Other (charges)

gains, net

Foreign exchange

gain (loss), net

Gain (loss) on

disposition of

businesses and

assets, net
Operating profit
(loss)

Equity in net

earnings (loss) of

affiliates

Non-operating
pension and
other
postretirement
employee benefit
(expense) income

Interest expense

Amortization of
intangible assets
Research and
development
expenses
Other (charges)
gains, net
Foreign exchange
gain (loss), net
Gain (loss) on
disposition of
businesses and
assets, net
Operating profit
(loss)
Equity in net
earnings (loss) of
affiliates
Non-operating
pension and
other
postretirement
employee benefit
(expense) income

Interest expense

Refinancing expense

Interest income
Dividend income -
equity investments
Other income
(expense), net
Earnings (loss)
from continuing
operations before
tax
Income tax
(provision) benefit
Earnings (loss)
from continuing
operations

Earnings (loss) from
operation of
discontinued
operations
Income tax
(provision) benefit
from discontinued
operations
Earnings (loss)
from
discontinued
operations

Net earnings
(loss)
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Interest income

Dividend income -

equity investments

Other income

(expense), net
Earnings (loss)
from continuing
operations before
tax

Income tax
(provision) benefit
Earnings (loss)
from continuing
operations
Earnings (loss) from
operation of
discontinued
operations
Income tax
(provision) benefit
from discontinued
operations
Earnings (loss)
from
discontinued
operations

Net earnings
(loss)

Amortization of
intangible assets

Research and
development
expenses

Other (charges)

gains, net

Foreign exchange

gain (loss), net

Gain (loss) on

disposition of

businesses and

assets, net
Operating profit
(loss)

Equity in net

earnings (loss) of

affiliates

Non-operating
pension and
other
postretirement
employee benefit
(expense) income

Interest expense

Interest income
Dividend income -
equity investments
Otherincome
(expense), net
Earnings (loss)
from continuing
operations before
tax
Income tax
(provision) benefit
Earnings (loss)
from continuing
operations

Earnings (loss) from
operation of
discontinued
operations

Income tax
(provision) benefit
from discontinued
operations

Earnings (loss)
from
discontinued
operations

(10) (6) (32) (17)
(25) (21) (75) (63)
(15) — (15) 3
(@) 2 4 2
(2) 1 7 6
308 536 1,322 1,429
73 44 189 110
25 37 74 13
(154) (1) (237) (70)
= 9 = (©)
34 2 36 7
30 35 103 114
5 )} 4 ?3)
321 622 1,491 1,691
(127) (102) (351) (303)
194 520 1,140 1,388
— (17) (8 (24)
(1 4 1 6
(1) (13) %) (18)
193 507 1,133 1,370

Net earnings
(loss)
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(41) (11)
(42) (24)
(23) M
6 (1)
5 (3)
251 531
15 56
1 24
(182) (35)
8 1
34 37
6) 2
121 616
(25) (112)
% 504
(3) =
(3) =
93 504
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Net (earnings) loss
attributable to
noncontrolling
interests

Net earnings
(loss)
attributable to
Celanese
Corporation
Amounts
attributable to
Celanese
Corporation
Earnings (loss)
from continuing
operations
Earnings (loss)
from
discontinued
operations
Net earnings
(loss)
Earnings (loss) per
common share -
basic

Continuing
operations
Discontinued
operations
Net earnings
(loss) - basic
Earnings (loss) per
common share -
diluted
Continuing
operations
Discontinued
operations
Net earnings
(loss) - diluted
Weighted average
shares - basic
Weighted average
shares - diluted

Table of Contents

Net (earnings) loss
attributable to
noncontrolling
interests
Net earnings
(loss)
attributable to
Celanese
Corporation
Amounts
attributable to
Celanese
Corporation
Earnings (loss)
from continuing
operations
Earnings (loss)
from
discontinued
operations
Net earnings
(loss)
Earnings (loss) per
common share -
basic
Continuing
operations
Discontinued
operations
Net earnings
(loss) - basic
Earnings (loss) per
common share -
diluted
Continuing
operations
Discontinued
operations
Net earnings
(loss) - diluted
Weighted average
shares - basic
Weighted average
shares - diluted

Net (earnings) loss
attributable to
noncontrolling

(2) (1) (6) (4) interests

Net earnings
(loss)
attributable to
Celanese

191 506 1,127

1,366 Corporation

Amounts
attributable to
Celanese
Corporation

Earnings (loss)
from continuing
192 519 operations

1,134 1,384

Earnings (loss)
from
discontinued

(1) (13) (7) (18)  operations

Net earnings

191 506 1,127 1,366 (loss)

Earnings (loss) per
common share -
basic

Continuing

1047 12.35 operations

Discontinued

(0.01) (0.12) (0.07) (0.16) operations

Net earnings

1.76 4.58 12.19 (loss) - basic

Earnings (loss) per
common share -
diluted

Continuing

1.76 4.67 10.39 12.28 operations

Discontinued

(0.11) (0.07) (0.16) operations

Net earnings

175 4.56 1032 1212 (loss) - diluted

Weighted average

108,428,982 110,532,051 108,336,574 112,101,651  shares - basic

Weighted average

109,065,970 111,044,558 109,158,832 112,699,297  shares - diluted

See the accompanying notes to the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements.

CELANESE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2022 2021 2022 2021
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)

()

91 502

94 502

C) —

91 502

0.87 4.64

(0.03) =

0.84 4.64

0.86 461

(0.03) =

0.83 4.61
108,634,068 108,185,912
109,188,266 108,917,577

Three Months Ended

March 31,

2023

2022
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Net earnings (loss)

(In $ millions)

(In $ millions)

Net earnings (loss) 193 507 1,133 1,370 Net earnings (loss) 93 504
Other comprehensive Other comprehensive Other comprehensive
income (loss), net of tax income (loss), net of tax income (loss), net of tax
Foreign currency Foreign currency Foreign currency
translation gain (loss) translation gain (loss) (49) (15) (201) 12) translation gain (loss) 13 (21)
Gain (loss) on cash flow Gain (loss) on cash flow Gain (loss) on cash flow
hedges hedges 1) (15) 30 16 hedges 4 15
Pension and Pension and Pension and
postretirement benefits postretirement benefits — — 2 (4) postretirement benefits (1) 2
Total other Total other Total other
comprehensive income comprehensive income comprehensive income
(loss), net of tax (loss), net of tax (60) (30) (169) — (loss), net of tax 16 (4)
Total comprehensive Total comprehensive Total comprehensive
income (loss), net of income (loss), net of income (loss), net of
tax tax 133 477 964 1,370 tax 109 500
Comprehensive Comprehensive Comprehensive
(income) loss (income) loss (income) loss
attributable to attributable to attributable to
noncontrolling noncontrolling noncontrolling
interests interests 2) 1) (6) (4) interests 2) 2)
Comprehensive Comprehensive Comprehensive
income (loss) income (loss) income (loss)
attributable to attributable to attributable to
Celanese Celanese Celanese
Corporation Corporation 131 476 958 1,366 Corporation 107 498
See the accompanying notes to the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements.
Table of Contents
CELANESE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of As of As of As of
September 30, December 31, March 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
(In $ millions, except share data) (In $ millions, except share data)
ASSETS ASSETS ASSETS
Current Assets Current Assets Current Assets
Cash and cash Cash and cash Cash and cash
equivalents equivalents 9,671 536 equivalents 1,167 1,508
Trade receivables - Trade receivables - Trade receivables -
third party and third party and third party and
affiliates affiliates 1,120 1,161 affiliates 1,606 1,379
Non-trade receivables, Non-trade Non-trade receivables,
net receivables, net 492 506 net 707 675
Inventories Inventories 1,723 1,524 Inventories 2,749 2,808
Other assets Other assets 186 80 Other assets 219 241
Total current
Total current assets assets 13,192 3,807 Total current assets 6,448 6,611
Investments in
Investments in affiliates affiliates 954 823 Investments in affiliates 1,049 1,062
Property, plant and equipment (net of
accumulated depreciation - 2022: $3,475; 2021:
$3,484) 4,089 4,193
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Property, plant and
equipment (net of
accumulated
depreciation - 2023:
$3,791; 2022: $3,687)

Operating lease right-of-

use assets

Deferred income taxes

Other assets

Goodwill

Intangible assets, net
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND
EQUITY

Current Liabilities

Short-term
borrowings and
current installments
of long-term debt -
third party and
affiliates

Trade payables - third
party and affiliates
Other liabilities
Income taxes payable
Total current
liabilities
Long-term debt, net of
unamortized deferred
financing costs

Deferred income taxes
Uncertain tax positions
Benefit obligations
Operating lease
liabilities

Other liabilities

Commitments and
Contingencies

Stockholders' Equity

Operating lease right-

of-use assets

Deferred income taxes

Other assets

Goodwill

Intangible assets, net
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND
EQUITY
Current Liabilities

Short-term
borrowings and
current installments
of long-term debt -
third party and
affiliates

Trade payables - third
party and affiliates
Other liabilities
Income taxes payable
Total current
liabilities
Long-term debt, net of
unamortized deferred
financing costs

Deferred income taxes
Uncertain tax positions
Benefit obligations
Operating lease
liabilities

Other liabilities

Commitments and
Contingencies

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 100,000,000
shares authorized (2022 and 2021: 0 issued

and outstanding)

Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 400,000,000
shares authorized (2022: 170,090,785 issued
and 108,386,739 outstanding; 2021:
169,760,024 issued and 108,023,735

outstanding)
Shareholders' Equity
Preferred stock, $0.01
par value,
100,000,000 shares
authorized (2023
and 2022: 0 issued
and outstanding)
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246 236
222 248
695 521
1,294 1,412
645 735
21,337 11,975
977 791
1,128 1,160
555 473
128 81
2,788 2,505
11,360 3,176
640 555
314 280
489 558
205 200
247 164

Property, plant and
equipment (net of
accumulated
depreciation - 2023:
$3,791; 2022: $3,687)

Operating lease right-

of-use assets

Deferred income taxes

Other assets

Goodwill

Intangible assets, net

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND
EQUITY
Current Liabilities

Short-term
borrowings and
current installments
of long-term debt -
third party and
affiliates

Trade payables - third

party and affiliates

Other liabilities
Income taxes payable
Total current
liabilities
Long-term debt, net of
unamortized deferred
financing costs
Deferred income taxes
Uncertain tax positions
Benefit obligations
Operating lease
liabilities
Other liabilities
Commitments and
Contingencies

Shareholders' Equity
Preferred stock, $0.01
par value,
100,000,000 shares
authorized (2023
and 2022: 0 issued
and outstanding)

5,588 5,584
414 413
813 808
553 547
7,139 7,142
4,086 4,105
26,090 26,272
1,386 1,306
1,445 1,518
1,014 1,201
6 43
3,851 4,068
13,39 13,373
1,223 1,242
295 322
411 411
359 364
425 387
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Common stock,
$0.0001 par value,
400,000,000 shares
authorized (2023:
170,448,231 issued
and 108,786,738
outstanding; 2022:
170,135,425 issued

and 108,473,932
outstanding)

Treasury stock, at cost (2022: 61,704,046

shares; 2021: 61,736,289 shares)

Treasury stock, at cost

(2023: 61,661,493
shares; 2022:
61,661,493 shares)
Additional paid-in
capital

Retained earnings
Accumulated other
comprehensive
income (loss), net

Total Celanese Corporation stockholders'

equity

Total Celanese

Corporation

shareholders'

equity
Noncontrolling
interests

Total equity

Total liabilities and

equity

Table of Contents

(5492) (5,492)
Additional paid-in
capital 356 333
Retained earnings 10,584 9,677
Accumulated other
comprehensive
income (loss), net (498) (329)
4,950 4,189
Noncontrolling
interests 344 348
Total equity 5,294 4,537
Total liabilities
21,337 11,975

and equity

See the accompanying notes to the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements.

Common stock,
$0.0001 par value,
400,000,000 shares
authorized (2023:
170,448,231 issued
and 108,786,738
outstanding; 2022:
170,135,425 issued
and 108,473,932
outstanding)

Treasury stock, at cost

(2023: 61,661,493
shares; 2022:
61,661,493 shares)
Additional paid-in
capital

Retained earnings

Accumulated other
comprehensive
income (loss), net

Total Celanese
Corporation
shareholders'
equity

Noncontrolling
interests

Total equity

Total liabilities and

equity

CELANESE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

Three Months Ended September 30,

Common Stock Common Stock

Balance asofthe  Balance as of the
beginning of the beginning of the
period period

Purchases of treasury stock
Stock awards Stock awards

Balance as of Balance as of

the end of the the end of the
period period
Treasury Stock Treasury Stock

2022 2021

(5491) (5/491)
365 372
11,289 11,274
(502) (518)
5,661 5,637
469 468
6,130 6,105
26,090 26,272

Three Months Ended March 31,

Shares Amount Shares

Amount

(In $ millions, except share data)

108,346,035 — 111,115,442 —
— — (1,938,179) —

40,704 — 3,060 —
108,386,739 = 109,180,323 —

Common Stock

Balance as of the
beginning of the
period

Stock awards

Balance as of

the end of the

period
Treasury Stock
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2023 2022
Shares Amount Shares Amount
(In $ millions, except share data)
108,473,932 — 108,023,735 —
312,806 = 283,606 =
108,786,738 — 108,307,341 —
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Balance as of the
beginning of the
period
Purchases of
treasury stock,
including related
fees
Balance as of
the end of the
period
Additional Paid-In
Capital
Balance as of the
beginning of the
period
Stock-based
compensation, net
of tax
Balance as of
the end of the
period
Retained Earnings

Balance as of the
beginning of the
period
Net earnings (loss)
attributable to
Celanese
Corporation
Common stock
dividends
Balance as of
the end of the
period
Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss), Net
Balance as of the
beginning of the
period
Other
comprehensive
income (loss), net
of tax
Balance as of
the end of the
period

Total Celanese

Balance as of the
beginning of the
period
Purchases of
treasury stock,
including related
fees

61,704,046 (5,492)

58,601,877

1,938,179

(4,993)

(300)

Balance as of
the end of the
period

61,704,046 (5,492)

60,540,056

(5,293)

Additional Paid-In
Capital
Balance as of the
beginning of the
period
Stock-based
compensation,
net of tax
Balance as of
the end of the
period
Retained Earnings
Balance as of the
beginning of the
period
Net earnings
(loss) attributable
to Celanese
Corporation
Common stock
dividends
Balance as of
the end of the
period
Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss), Net
Balance as of the
beginning of the
period
Other
comprehensive
income (loss), net
of tax
Balance as of
the end of the
period

Corporation

stockholders' equity

Total Celanese

Corporation

shareholders'

equity
Noncontrolling
Interests

Noncontrolling
Interests

12

356

10,466

191

(73)

10,584

(438)

(60)

(498)

4,950

292

21

313

8,797

506

(76)

9,227

(298)

(30)

(328)

3,919

Balance as of the
beginning of the
period
Purchases of
treasury stock,
including related
fees
Balance as of
the end of the
period
Additional Paid-In
Capital
Balance as of the
beginning of the
period
Stock-based
compensation, net
of tax
Balance as of
the end of the
period
Retained Earnings
Balance as of the
beginning of the
period
Net earnings (loss)
attributable to
Celanese
Corporation
Common stock
dividends
Balance as of
the end of the
period
Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss), Net
Balance as of the
beginning of the
period
Other
comprehensive
income (loss), net
of tax
Balance as of
the end of the
period

Total Celanese

Corporation

shareholders'

equity
Noncontrolling
Interests
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61,661,493 (5,491) 61,736,289 (5,492)
61,661,493 (5,491) 61,736,289 (5,492)
372 333
(7) (7)
365 326
11,274 9,677
91 502
(76) (73)
11,289 10,106
(518) (329)
16 (4)
(502) (333)
5,661 4,607
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Balance as ofthe  Balance as of the
beginning of the beginning of the
period period 345
Net earnings (loss) = Net earnings
attributable to (loss) attributable
noncontrolling to noncontrolling
interests interests 2
Dividends to
noncontrolling
interests
Distributions to Distributions to
noncontrolling noncontrolling
interests interests 3)
Balance as of Balance as of
the end of the the end of the
period period 344
Total equity Total equity 5294

Balance as of the
beginning of the

See the accompanying notes to the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements.
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CELANESE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

Common Stock
Balance as of the beginning of the period
Purchases of treasury stock
Stock awards
Balance as of the end of the period
Treasury Stock
Balance as of the beginning of the period
Purchases of treasury stock, including related fees
Issuance of treasury stock under stock plans
Balance as of the end of the period
Additional Paid-In Capital
Balance as of the beginning of the period
Stock-based compensation, net of tax
Balance as of the end of the period
Retained Earnings
Balance as of the beginning of the period
Net earnings (loss) attributable to Celanese Corporation
Common stock dividends
Balance as of the end of the period
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net
Balance as of the beginning of the period

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax

Balance as of the end of the period
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359  period 468 348
Net earnings (loss)
attributable to
noncontrolling
1 interests 2 2
Dividends to
noncontrolling
interests (1) —
Distributions to
noncontrolling
(8) interests — (4)
Balance as of
the end of the
352 period 469 346
4,271 Total equity 6,130 4,953
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2022 2021
Shares Amount Shares Amount
(In $ millions, except share data)
108,023,735 — 114,168,464 —
— — (5,332,727) —
363,004 — 344,586 —
108,386,739 — 109,180,323 —
61,736,289 (5,492) 55,234,515 (4,494)
— — 5,332,727 (800)
(32,243) — (27,186) 1
61,704,046 (5,492) 60,540,056 (5.293)
333 257
23 56
356 313
9,677 8,091
1,127 1,366
(220) (230)
10,584 9,227
(329) (328)
(169) —
(498) (328)
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Total Celanese Corporation stockholders' equity 4,950 3919
Noncontrolling Interests
Balance as of the beginning of the period 348 369
Net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests 6 4
Distributions to noncontrolling interests (10) 21)
Balance as of the end of the period A4 352
Total equity 5294 4,271
See the accompanying notes to the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements.
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CELANESE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Nine Months Ended Three Months Ended
September 30, March 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
(In $ millions) (In $ millions)
Operating Activities Operating Activities Operating Activities
Net earnings (loss) Net earnings (loss) 1,133 1,370 Net earnings (loss) 93 504
Adjustments to reconcile ~ Adjustments to reconcile Adjustments to reconcile
net earnings (loss) to net earnings (loss) to net earnings (loss) to
net cash provided by net cash provided by net cash provided by
(used in) operating (used in) operating (used in) operating
activities activities activities
Asset impairments 12 2
Depreciation, Depreciation, Depreciation,
amortization and amortization and amortization and
accretion accretion 318 278 accretion 178 106
Pension and Pension and Pension and
postretirement net postretirement net postretirement net
periodic benefit cost periodic benefit cost (63) (102) periodic benefit cost 3 21)
Pension and Pension and Pension and
postretirement postretirement postretirement
contributions contributions (34) (36) contributions 12) 12)
Deferred income Deferred income Deferred income
taxes, net taxes, net 14 9 taxes, net 1 4
(Gain) loss on (Gain) loss on (Gain) loss on
disposition of disposition of disposition of
businesses and assets, businesses and assets, businesses and assets,
net net (6) (7) net (6) 3
Stock-based Stock-based Stock-based
compensation compensation 47 76 compensation 14 15
Undistributed Undistributed Undistributed
earnings in earnings in earnings in
unconsolidated unconsolidated unconsolidated
affiliates affiliates (56) (48) affiliates 25 (30)
Other, net Other, net 8 21 Other, net 1) 3
Operating cash Operating cash Operating cash
provided by (used in) provided by (used in) provided by (used in)
discontinued discontinued discontinued
operations operations (25) 14 operations 1 (4)
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Changes in operating
assets and liabilities

Trade receivables -
third party and
affiliates, net
Inventories
Other assets
Trade payables - third
party and affiliates
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by
(used in) operating
activities
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures on
property, plant and
equipment

Changes in operating
assets and liabilities

Trade receivables -
third party and
affiliates, net
Inventories
Other assets
Trade payables - third
party and affiliates
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by
(used in) operating
activities
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures on
property, plant and
equipment

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired

Proceeds from sale of
businesses and assets,
net

Proceeds from sale of
businesses and assets,
net

Proceeds from sale of marketable securities

Other, net
Net cash provided by
(used in) investing
activities
Financing Activities
Net change in short-term
borrowings with
maturities of 3 months
orless
Proceeds from short-
term borrowings

Other, net
Net cash provided by
(used in) investing
activities
Financing Activities
Net change in short-term
borrowings with
maturities of 3 months
or less

Repayments of short-term borrowings

Proceeds from long-term debt

Repayments of long-
term debt

Purchases of treasury
stock, including related
fees

Common stock
dividends

Distributions to
noncontrolling interests

Repayments of long-
term debt

Purchases of treasury
stock, including related
fees

Common stock
dividends

Distributions to
noncontrolling interests

Settlement of forward-starting interest rate swaps

Issuance cost of bridge
facility
Other, net

Net cash provided by
(used in) financing
activities

Exchange rate effects on

Issuance cost of bridge

facility

Other, net
Net cash provided by
(used in) financing
activities

Exchange rate effects on

cash and cash equivalents cash and cash equivalents

Net increase (decrease)
in cash and cash
equivalents
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Net increase (decrease)
in cash and cash
equivalents

(61) (402)
(321) (207)
26 (150)
97 259
189 %
1,278 1,173
(400) (304)
(14) (15)
16 2
= 500
(30) (36)
(428) 167
(249) 17
= (6)
9,019 991
(21) (778)
(17) (803)
(220) (230)
(10) 1)
= (72)
(63) =
(93) (41)
8346 (943)
(61) (12)
9,135 385

Changes in operating
assets and liabilities
Trade receivables -
third party and
affiliates, net
Inventories
Other assets

Trade payables - third
party and affiliates

Other liabilities

Net cash provided

by (used in)

operating activities
Investing Activities

Capital expenditures on
property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from sale of
businesses and assets,
net

Other, net
Net cash provided
by (used in) investing
activities
Financing Activities
Net change in short-term
borrowings with
maturities of 3 months
orless
Proceeds from short-
term borrowings

Repayments of long-
term debt

Purchases of treasury
stock, including related
fees

Common stock
dividends

Distributions to
noncontrolling interests

Issuance cost of bridge
facility
Other, net
Net cash provided
by (used in)
financing activities
Exchange rate effects on
cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease)
in cash and cash
equivalents

without the prior written consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated

companies.

(216) (240)
45 (32)
99 —

22 49

(298) (29)

(96) 316
(164) (137)
9 —
(23) (12)
(178) (149)
(300) 74
338 —
(7) 7)
= (17)
(76) (73)
(1) (4)
- (44)
(23) (24)
(69) (95)
2 (3)
(341) 69
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Cash and cash
equivalents as of

Cash and cash
equivalents as of

Cash and cash
equivalents as of

beginning of period beginning of period 536 955 beginning of period 1,508 536
Cash and cash Cash and cash Cash and cash
equivalents as of equivalents as of equivalents as of
9,671 1,340 605

end of period

end of period

end of period 1,167

See the accompanying notes to the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements.
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CELANESE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of the Company and Basis of Presentation
Description of the Company

Celanese Corporation and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Company") is a global chemical and specialty materials company. The Company produces high performance engineered
polymers that are used in a variety of high-value applications, as well as acetyl products, which are intermediate chemicals, for nearly all major industries. The Company also
engineers and manufactures a wide variety of products essential to everyday living. The Company's broad product portfolio serves a diverse set of end-use applications including
automotive, chemical additives, construction, consumer and industrial adhesives, consumer and medical, energy storage, filtration, food and beverage, paints and coatings, paper
and packaging, performance industrial and textiles.

Definitions

In this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q ("Quarterly Report"), the term "Celanese" refers to Celanese Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and not its subsidiaries. The term
"Celanese U.S." refers to the Company's subsidiary, Celanese US Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and not its subsidiaries.

Basis of Presentation

The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 and 2021 2022 contained in this Quarterly
Report were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP") for all periods presented and include the accounts
of the Company, its majority owned subsidiaries over which the Company exercises control and, when applicable, variable interest entities in which the Company is the primary
beneficiary. The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements and other financial information included in this Quarterly Report, unless otherwise specified, have been
presented to separately show the effects of discontinued operations.

In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited consolidated balance sheets and related unaudited interim consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive
income (loss), cash flows and equity include all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring items necessary for their fair presentation in conformity with U.S. GAAP. Certain
information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been condensed or omitted in accordance with rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). These unaudited interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's
consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, filed on February 10, 2022 February 24, 2023 with the SEC as part of the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Operating results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the entire year.

In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into contracts and agreements relative to a number of topics, including acquisitions, dispositions, joint ventures, supply
agreements, product sales and other arrangements. The Company endeavors to describe those contracts or agreements that are material to its business, results of operations or
financial position. The Company may also describe some arrangements that are not material but in which the Company believes investors may have an interest or which may have
been included in a Form 8-K filing. Investors should not assume the Company has described all contracts and agreements relative to the Company's business in this Quarterly
Report.

For those consolidated ventures in which the Company owns or is exposed to less than 100% of the economics, the outside stockholders' shareholders' interests are shown as
noncontrolling interests.

Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of unaudited interim consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements and the reported
amounts of Net sales, expenses and allocated charges during the reporting period. Significant estimates pertain to impairments of goodwill, intangible assets and other long-lived
assets, purchase price allocations, restructuring costs and other (charges) gains, net, income taxes, pension
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and other postretirement benefits, asset retirement obligations, environmental liabilities and loss contingencies, among others. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
2. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

There are no recent Accounting Standard Updates issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board which are expected to materially impact the Company's financial position,
operating results or financial disclosures.

3. Acquisitions, Dispositions and Plant Closures
Acquisitions

In December 2021, November 2022, the Company acquired 100% ownership of entities and assets consisting of a majority of the Santoprene™ thermoplastic vulcanizates Mobility
& Materials business ("TPV" M&M") elastomers business of Exxon Mobil Corporation DuPont de Nemours, Inc. ("Santoprene" DuPont") (the "M&M Acquisition") for a purchase price
of $1.15$11.0 billion, subject to transaction adjustments, in an all-cash transaction. The Company acquired the Santoprene™, Dytron™ a global production network of 29 facilities,
including compounding and Geolast™ trademarks and product portfolios, polymerization, customer and supplier contracts and agreements, both production facilities producing
TPV, the TPV an intellectual property portfolio, including approximately 850 patents with associated technical and R&D assets, and approximately 5,000 employees of across the
TPV elastomer business. The manufacturing, technical, and commercial organizations. This acquisition of Santoprene substantially strengthens M&MV enhances the Company's
existing elastomers engineered materials product portfolio by adding new polymers, brands, product technology, and backward integration in critical polymers, allowing the
Company to bring a wider range of functionalized solutions into targeted accelerate growth areasin high-value applications including future mobility, medical connectivity and
sustainability. medical. The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination and the acquired operations are included in the Engineered Materials segment.

The Company preliminarily allocated the purchase price of the acquisition to identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values as of the
acquisition date. The purchase price allocation was based upon preliminary information and is subject to change if additional information about the facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date becomes available. The Company is in the ongoing process of conducting a valuation of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed related to the
acquisition, including trade names and customer relationships, personal and real property, investment in equity affiliates and deferred taxes. The final fair value of the net assets
acquired may result in adjustments to these assets and liabilities, including goodwill. During the measurement period to date, there were no adjustments that materially impacted
the Company's goodwill initially recorded.

On February 17, 2022, The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the Company signed a definitive agreement to acquire a majority consolidated results of
the Mobility & Materials business of DuPont de Nemours, Inc. (the "M&M Acquisition") for a purchase price of $11.0 billion, subject to certain adjustments, in an all-cash transaction.
The Company will acquire a global production network of 29 facilities, including compounding and polymerization, customer and supplier contracts and agreements, an intellectual
property portfolio including approximately 850 patents with associated technical and R&D assets, and expects to acquire approximately 5,000 employees across the
manufacturing, technical, and commercial organizations. The acquired operations will be included in the Engineered Materials segment. The Company closed on as if the M&MV
Acquisition on November 1, 2022. See Note 19 for further information.

In connection with had occurred at the planned beginning of 2022. M&M Acquisition, also on February 17, 2022, the Company entered into a bridge facility commitment letter with
Bank of America, N.A. ("Bank of America") pursuant to which Bank of America has committed to provide, subject &M's pre-acquisition results have been added to the

terms Company's historical results. The pro forma results contained in the table below include adjustments for (i) increased depreciation expense as a result of acquisition date fair
value adjustments, (i) amortization of acquired intangibles, (iii) interest expense and conditions set forth therein, a 364-day $11.0 billion senior unsecured bridge term loan facility
(the "Bridge Facility"). Subsequently, commitments in respect amortization of the Bridge Facility were syndicated debt issuance costs of $172 million related to additional financial
institutions as contemplated thereby.

On March 18, 2022, Celanese, Celanese U.S. and certain subsidiaries entered into a term loan credit agreement (the "March 2022 Term Loan Credit Agreement"), pursuant to which
lenders have committed to provide a tranche of delayed-draw term loans due 364 days from issuance in an amount equal to $500 million and a tranche of delayed-draw term loans
due 5 years from issuance in an amount equal to $1.0 billion. On September 16, 2022, Celanese, Celanese U.S. and certain subsidiaries entered into an additional term loan credit
agreement (the "September 2022 Term Loan Credit Agreement" and, together with the March 2022 Term Loan Credit Agreement, the "Term Loan Credit Agreements"), pursuant to
which lenders have committed to provide delayed-draw term loans due 3 years from issuance in an amount equal to $750 million (the term loans represented by the Term Loan
Credit Agreements collectively, the "Term Loan Facility").

Amounts outstanding borrowings under the 364-day tranche of the U.S Term Loan Facility will accrue interest (defined below) and the issuance of Acquisition Notes (defined below)
as if these had taken place at a rate equal to Secured Overnight Financing Rate with an interest period the beginning of one or 2022 for the three months ("Term SOFR") plus a
margin ended March 31, 2022 and (iv) net total inventory step up of 1.00% inventory amortized to 2.00% per annum, or Cost of sales of $98 million for the base rate plus a

margin three months ended March 31, 2022.

These pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only and are not necessarily indicative of 0.00% to 1.00%, in each case, based the results of operations as
they would have been had the acquisitions occurred on the Company's senior unsecured debt rating. Amounts outstanding under the 5-year tranche assumed dates, nor are they
necessarily an indication of the Term Loan Facility and 3-year tranche of the Term Loan Facility will accrue interest at a rate equal to Term SOFR plus a margin of 1.125% to 2.125%
per annum, or the base rate plus a margin of 0.125% to 1.125%, in each case, based on the Company's senior unsecured debt rating. future operating results.

The Term Loan Credit Agreements contain certain covenants described in Note 7.

Table of Contents

The entry into the Term Loan Credit Agreements and offerings of USD- and euro-denominated notes reduced availability under the Bridge Facility to zero and the Company
terminated the Bridge Facility. See Note 7 for further information.

The Term Loan Facility, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Term Loan Credit Agreements, together with the Acquisition Notes (as defined and described in Note 7)
and additional debt financing, will be available to finance the M&M Acquisition, and to pay fees and expenses related thereto. The Term Loan Facility is guaranteed by Celanese and
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domestic subsidiaries representing substantially all of the Company's U.S. assets and business operations (the "Subsidiary Guarantors").

During the nine months ended September 30, 2022, the Company paid $66 million in fees related to the Bridge Facility commitment, amortizing these fees to interest expense in
the nine months ended September 30, 2022.
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2022
(In $ millions)
Unaudited Consolidated Pro Forma Results
Proforma Net sales 3,427

Proforma Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before tax 312

Korea Engineering Plastics Co. Restructuring

On April 1, 2022, In April 2022, the Company completed the restructuring of Korea Engineering Plastics Co. ("KEPCO"), a joint venture owned 50% by the Company and 50% by
Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company, Inc. KEPCO was first formed in 1987 to manufacture and market polyoxymethylene ("POM") in Asia, with a particular focus on serving domestic
demand in South Korea. KEPCO will now focus solely on manufacturing and supplying high quality products to its stockholders, shareholders, who will independently market them
globally. As part of the restructuring of KEPCO, the Company paid KEPCO $5 million and will pay 5 equal annual installments of €24 million on October 1 of each year beginning in
2022. This resulted in an increase to the Company's investment in KEPCO of $134 million. The Company's joint venture partner will be making similar payments to KEPCO. The
restructuring did not result in a change in ownership percentage of KEPCO, nor a change in control, and KEPCO will continue to be accounted for as an equity method investment.
Plant Closures

e Silao, Mexico

In September 2022, the Company announced that it will cease manufacturing operations at the engineered materials compounding facility in Silao, Mexico by the end of 2022, with
decommissioning taking place in 2023.

The exit and shutdown costs related to this closure are as follows:

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2022

(In $ millions)

Asset impairments(1) (8)
Restructuring() (3
Accelerated amortization expense 3)

Total (14)

@ Included in Other (charges) gains, net in the unaudited interim consolidated statement of operations (Note 18).
The Company expects to incur additional exit and shutdown costs related to Silao, Mexico of approximately $13 million through 2023.

4. Inventories

As of As of As of As of
September 30, December 31, March 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
(In $ millions) (In $ millions)
Finished goods  Finished goods 1,115 1,014 Finished goods 1,811 1,820
Work-in-process Work-in-process 81 75 Work-in-process 210 202
Raw materials ~ Raw materials Raw materials
and supplies and supplies 527 435 and supplies 728 786
Total Total 1,723 1,524 Total 2,749 2,808
Table of Contents
5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Net
Goodwill
Engineered Engineered
Materials Acetate Tow Acetyl Chain Total Materials Acetyl Chain Total
(In $ millions) (In $ millions)
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As of December 31, 2021 1,030 149 233 1,412
As of
As of December December 31,
31,2022 2022 6,775 367 7,142
Acquisitions  Acquisitions M Acquisitions
(Note 3) (Note 3) (5 — — (5) (Note 3) (18) — (18)
Exchangerate Exchange rate Exchange rate
changes changes (80) 2) (31) (113) changes 1 4 15
As of September 30, 2022(2) 945 147 202 1,294
As of As of
March 31, March 31,
20231 20230) 6,768 37 7,139

() Related to the acquisition of Santoprene.

2 There were no accumulated impairment losses as of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023.

The Company assesses the recoverability of the carrying amount of its reporting unit goodwill either qualitatively or quantitatively annually during the third quarter of its fiscal year
using June 30 balances or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be fully recoverable. In connection with the
Company's annual goodwill impairment assessment, the Company did not record an impairment loss to goodwill during the nine months ended September 30, 2022 as the
estimated fair value for each of the Company's reporting units exceeded the carrying amount of the underlying assets by a substantial margin.

Intangible Assets, Net

Finite-lived intangible assets are as follows:

Gross Asset Value
As of December 31, 2021
Acquisitions (Note 3)
Accumulated impairment losses
Exchange rate changes
As of September 30, 2022
Accumulated Amortization
As of December 31, 2021
Amortization
Accumulated impairment losses
Exchange rate changes

As of September 30, 2022

Net book value

() Represents intangible assets related to the acquisition of Santoprene.

Gross Asset Value
As of December 31, 2022
Exchange rate changes
As of March 31, 2023
Accumulated Amortization
As of December 31, 2022

Amortization

Customer- Covenants
Related Not to
Intangible Developed Compete
Licenses Assets Technology and Other Total
(In $ millions)
45 996 45 55 1141
_ 9 _ _ g M
— (4) — = 4
(3 (96) ) (1) (102)
42 905 43 54 1,044
(41) (543) (42) (39) (665)
— (29) (2 (1 (32
— 2 — — 2
4 54 2 1 61
(37) (516) (42) (39) (634)
5 389 1 15 410
Customer- Covenants
Related Not to
Intangible Developed Compete
Licenses Assets Technology and Other Total
(In $ millions)
42 2,455 601 55 3,153
— 22 — — 22
42 2477 601 55 3175
(39) (567) (50) (40) (696)
- (30) ()] — (41)
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Exchange rate changes
As of March 31, 2023

Net book value
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Indefinite-lived intangible assets are as follows:

As of December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022

Exchange rate changes

As of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023

— (8)

(39 (605) (61) (40) (745)
3 1,872 540 15 2,430
Trademarks

and Trade Names
(In $ millions)
2591,648
(24)8
2351,656

The Company assesses During the recoverability of the carrying amount of its indefinite-lived intangible assets either qualitatively or quantitatively annually during the third
quarter of its fiscal year using June 30 balances or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable. In
connection with the Company's annual indefinite-lived intangible assets impairment assessment, the Company did not record an impairment loss to indefinite-lived intangible
assets during the ninethree months ended September 30, 2022 as the estimated fair value of each of the Company's indefinite-lived intangible assets exceeded the carrying value

of the underlying assets by a substantial margin.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023, the Company did not renew or extend any intangible assets.

Estimated amortization expense for the succeeding five fiscal years is as follows:

2023
2024 2024
2025 2025
2026 2026
2027 2027
2028

6. Current Other Liabilities

Benefit obligations
(Note 8)

Benefit obligations

(Note 8)
Customer rebates  Customer rebates

Derivatives (Note 12) Derivatives (Note 12)

Interest (Note 7) Interest (Note 7)
Legal (Note 14)

Operating leases

Legal (Note 14)

Operating leases
Restructuring (Note Restructuring (Note
18) 18)

Salaries and benefits Salaries and benefits

Sales and use Sales and use

tax/foreign tax/foreign
withholding tax withholding tax
payable payable

Other

Investment in
affiliates
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(In $ millions)

39
39
39
39
38

As of As of
September 30, December 31,
2022 2021
(In $ millions)

26 26

61 96

36 5

15 30

" 33

43 37

3 7

108 135

39 27

13 77

2024
2025
2026
2027
2028

Benefit obligations
(Note 8)

Customer rebates

Derivatives (Note 12)

Interest (Note 7)
Legal (Note 14)
Operating leases
Restructuring (Note
18)

Salaries and benefits

Sales and use
tax/foreign
withholding tax
payable

Investment in
affiliates

(In $ millions)

160

160

160

160

160

As of As of
March 31, December 31,
2023 2022
(In $ millions)
25 25
91 101
39 63
155 265
22 21
88 83
23 6
123 151
91 108
94 79
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Otherq)

Total

Total

555

473

Otherq) 263 299

Total 1,014 1,201

@ Includes $104 million and $166 million of liabilities related to the M&M Acquisition payable to DuPont as of March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.
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7. Debt

Short-Term
Borrowings and
Current
Instaliments of
Long-Term Debt -
Third Party and
Affiliates
Current installments
of long-term debt
Short-term

borrowings,
including amounts
due to affiliates(n

Short-Term
Borrowings and
Current
Installments of

Long-Term Debt -

Third Party and
Affiliates

Current installments
of long-term debt

Short-term
borrowings,

including amounts
due to affiliates()

Revolving credit facility(2)

Revolving credit
facilities)

Total

Long-Term Debt

Senior unsecured notes due 2022, interest

rate of 4.625%

Senior unsecured
notes due 2023,
interest rate of
1.125%

Senior unsecured
notes due 2024,
interest rate of
3.500%

Senior unsecured
notes due 2024,
interest rate of
5.900%

Senior unsecured
notes due 2025,
interest rate of
1.250%

Total

Long-Term Debt

Senior unsecured
notes due 2023,
interest rate of
1.125%

Senior unsecured
notes due 2024,
interest rate of
3.500%

Senior unsecured
notes due 2024,
interest rate of
5.900%

Senior unsecured
notes due 2025,
interest rate of
1.250%

As of As of As of As of
September 30, December 31, March 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
(In $ millions) (In $ millions)
Short-Term
Borrowings and
Current
Installments of
Long-Term Debt -
Third Party and
Affiliates
Current installments
962 527 of long-term debt 551 506
Short-term
borrowings,
including amounts
15 64 due to affiliates() 617 500
— 200
Revolving credit
facilitiese) 218 300
977 791 Total 1,386 1,306
) The weighted average interest rate was 3.0% 5.6% and 0.2% 5.8% as of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, respectively.
@ The weighted average interest rate was 0.0% 3.4% and 1.4% 5.8% as of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, respectively.
As of As of As of As of
September 30, December 31, March 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
(In $ millions) (In $ millions)
Long-Term Debt
500 500
Senior unsecured
notes due 2023,
interest rate of
438 509 1.125% 489 480
Senior unsecured
notes due 2024,
interest rate of
499 499 3.500% 499 499
Senior unsecured
notes due 2024,
interest rate of
2,000 — 5.900% 2,000 2,000
Senior unsecured
notes due 2025,
interest rate of
292 339 1.250% 326 320
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Senior unsecured
notes due 2025,
interest rate of
6.050%

Senior unsecured
term loan due
2025, interest rate
of 6.265%

Senior unsecured
notes due 2026,
interest rate of
1.400%

Senior unsecured
notes due 2026,
interest rate of
4.777%

Senior unsecured
notes due 2027,
interest rate of
2.125%

Senior unsecured
notes due 2027,
interest rate of
6.165%

Senior unsecured
term loan due
2027, interest rate
of 6.265%

Senior unsecured
notes due 2028,
interest rate of
0.625%

Senior unsecured
notes due 2029,
interest rate of
5.337%

Senior unsecured
notes due 2029,
interest rate of
6.330%

Senior unsecured
notes due 2032,
interest rate of
6.379%

Pollution control
and industrial
revenue bonds
due at various
dates through
2030, interest
rates ranging from
4.05% to 5.00%

Bank loans due at
various dates
through 2026(1)

Obligations under
finance leases due
at various dates
through 2054

Subtotal

Unamortized debt
issuance costs()

Senior unsecured
notes due 2025,
interest rate of
6.050%

Senior unsecured

notes due 2026,
interest rate of
1.400%

Senior unsecured

notes due 2026,
interest rate of

A4777%
Senior unsecured

notes due 2027,
interest rate of
2.125%

Senior unsecured

notes due 2027,
interest rate of
6.165%

Senior unsecured

notes due 2028,
interest rate of
0.625%

Senior unsecured

notes due 2029,
interest rate of
5.337%

Senior unsecured

notes due 2029,
interest rate of
6.330%

Senior unsecured

notes due 2032,
interest rate of
6.379%

Pollution control

and industrial
revenue bonds
due at various
dates through
2030, interest
rates ranging from
4.05% to 5.00%

Bank loans due at

various dates
through 2026(1)

Obligations under

finance leases due
at various dates
through 2054

Subtotal

Unamortized debt
issuance costs(2)

1,750

400

975

485

2,000

487

488

750

1,000

166

Senior unsecured

notes due 2025,

interest rate of

— 6.050%

Senior unsecured
term loan due
2025, interest rate
of 6.265%

Senior unsecured
notes due 2026,
interest rate of

400 1.400%

Senior unsecured
notes due 2026,
interest rate of
— 4.777%
Senior unsecured
notes due 2027,
interest rate of
564 2.125%

Senior unsecured
notes due 2027,
interest rate of
— 6.165%
Senior unsecured
term loan due
2027, interest rate
of 6.265%
Senior unsecured
notes due 2028,
interest rate of
566 0.625%

Senior unsecured
notes due 2029,
interest rate of
— 5.337%
Senior unsecured
notes due 2029,
interest rate of
— 6.330%
Senior unsecured
notes due 2032,
interest rate of
— 6.379%

Pollution control
and industrial
revenue bonds
due at various
dates through
2030, interest
rates ranging from

166 4.05% to 5.00%

Bank loans due at
various dates
through 2026(1)

Obligations under
finance leases due
at various dates

173 through 2054

o)}

12,398

3,722 Subtotal

(76)

Unamortized debt
(19) issuance costs(2)
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1,750 1,750
750 750
400 400
1,088 1,067
542 531
2,000 2,000
1,000 1,000
543 533
544 533
750 750
1,000 1,000
163 164
4 4
169 172
14,017 13,953
(70) (74)
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Current Current Current

installments of long-  installments of long- installments of long-
term debt term debt (962) (527) term debt (551) (506)
Total Total 11,360 3,176 Total 13,396 13,373

(1 The weighted average interest rate was 1.3% and 1.3% as of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, respectively.

2 Related to the Company's long-term debt, excluding obligations under finance leases.

Senior Credit Facilities

On March 18, 2022 In March 2022, Celanese, Celanese U.S. and certain subsidiaries entered into a term loan credit agreement (the "March 2022 U.S. Term Loan Credit Agreement"),
pursuant to which lenders provided a tranche of delayed-draw term loans due 364 days from issuance in an amount equal to $500 million and a tranche of delayed-draw term
loans due 5 years from issuance in an amount equal to $1.0 billion. In September 2022, Celanese, Celanese U.S. and certain subsidiaries entered into an additional term loan credit
agreement (the "September 2022 U.S. Term Loan Credit Agreement" and, together with the March 2022 U.S. Term Loan Credit Agreement, the "U.S. Term Loan Credit Agreements"),
pursuant to which lenders have provided delayed-draw term loans due 3 years from issuance in an amount equal to $750 million (the term loans represented by the U.S. Term
Loan Credit Agreements collectively, the "U.S. Term Loan Facility"). The U.S. Term Loan Facility was fully drawn during the three months ended December 31, 2022.

Also in March 2022, Celanese, Celanese U.S. and certain subsidiaries entered into a new revolving credit agreement (the "New "U.S. Revolving Credit Agreement" and, together with
the U.S. Term Loan Credit Agreements, the "Credit "U.S. Credit Agreements") consisting of a $1.75 billion senior unsecured revolving credit facility (with a letter of credit sublimit),
maturing in 2027. 2027 (the "U.S. Revolving Credit Facility").

On February 21, 2023, the Company amended certain covenants in the U.S. Credit Agreements, including financial ratio maintenance covenants. The proceeds of a $365 million
borrowing under the new senior unsecured revolving credit facility were used to repay and terminate the
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Company's existing revolving credit facility. The U.S. Credit Agreements are guaranteed by Celanese, Celanese U.S. and domestic subsidiaries together representing substantially all
of the Subsidiary Guarantors. Company's U.S. assets and business operations (the "Subsidiary Guarantors"). The Subsidiary Guarantors are listed in Exhibit 22.1 to this Quarterly
Report.

On January 4, 2023, Celanese (Shanghai) International Trading Co., Ltd ("CSIT"), a fully consolidated subsidiary, entered into a restatement of an existing credit facility agreement
(the "China Revolving Credit Agreement") to upsize and modify the facility thereunder to consist of an aggregate CNY1.75 billion uncommitted senior unsecured revolving credit
facility available under two tranches (with overdraft, bank guarantee and documentary credit sublimits) (the "China Revolving Credit Facility"). Obligations bear interest at certain
fixed rates. The China Revolving Credit Agreement is guaranteed by Celanese U.S.

Also on January 6, 2023, CSIT entered into a senior unsecured working capital loan contract for CNY800 million (the "China Working Capital Term Loan Agreement," together with
the China Revolving Credit Agreement, the "China Credit Agreements, contain " and the China Credit Agreements together with the U.S. Credit Agreements, the "Global Credit
Agreements"), payable 12 months from withdrawal date and bearing interest at 0.5% less than certain covenants, includinginterbank rates. The loan under the maintenance China
Working Capital Term Loan Agreement was fully drawn on January 10, 2023 and is supported by a letter of certain financial ratios (subject comfort from the Company. The Company
expects that the China Credit Agreements will facilitate its efficient repatriation of cash to adjustment following the M&M Acquisition U.S. to repay debt and certain other qualifying
acquisitions, as set forth in the Credit Agreements), events effectively redomicile a portion of default and change of control provisions. its U.S. debt to China at a lower average
interest rate.

The Company's debt balances and amounts available for borrowing under its new senior unsecured revolving credit facility facilities are as follows:

As of
September 30, March
31,
20222023

(In $ millions)
U.S. Revolving Credit Facility
Borrowings outstanding(i —
Available for borrowingz) 1,750

China Revolving Credit Facility

Borrowings outstanding 218
Available for borrowing 37
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(1 The Company borrowed $365 million under its new senior unsecured revolving credit facility to repay and terminate its previous unsecured revolving credit facility and repaid
$365 million under its new senior unsecured revolving credit facility during the nine months ended September 30, 2022. The Company borrowed $165 million and repaid
$365 million under its previous unsecured revolving credit facility during the three months ended March 31, 2022.

@ The margin for borrowings under the senior unsecured revolving credit facility was 1.00% to 2.00% above certain interbank rates at current Company credit ratings.

On November 1, 2022, the Company borrowed $300 million under its senior unsecured revolving credit facility for general corporate purposes, reducing availability of borrowings
under the facility to $1.45 billion.

Senior Notes

The Company has outstanding senior unsecured notes, issued in public offerings registered under the Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act"), as amended (collectively, the "Senior
Notes"). The Senior Notes were issued by Celanese U.S. and are guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by Celanese and the Subsidiary Guarantors. Celanese U.S. may redeem
some or all of each of the Senior Notes, prior to their respective maturity dates, at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount, plus a "make-whole" premium as specified in
the applicable indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date.

On July 14, 2022,

In July 2022, Celanese U.S. completed an offering of $7.5 billion aggregate principal amount of notes of various maturities in a public offering registered under the Securities Act (the
"Acquisition USD Notes"). On July 19, 2022, In July 2022, Celanese U.S. completed an offering of €1.5 billion in aggregate principal amount of euro-denominated senior unsecured
notes due in 2026 and 2029 in a public offering registered under the Securities Act (collectively, the "Acquisition Euro Notes" and together with the Acquisition USD Notes, the
"Acquisition Notes"). Certain of the Acquisition Notes were issued at a discount to par, which will be amortized to Interest expense in the consolidated statement of operations
over the terms of the applicable Acquisition Notes. Fees and expenses of the offering of the Acquisition Notes, inclusive of underwriting discounts, were $65 million.
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Accounts Receivable Purchasing Facility

In June 2021, the Company entered into an amendment to the amended and restated receivables purchase agreement (the "Amended Receivables Purchase Agreement") under its
U.S. accounts receivable purchasing facility among certain of the Company's subsidiaries, its wholly-owned, "bankruptcy remote" special purpose subsidiary ("SPE") and certain
global financial institutions ("Purchasers"). The Amended Receivables Purchase Agreement extends the term of the accounts receivable purchasing facility such that the SPE may
sell certain receivables until June 18, 2024. Under the Amended Receivables Purchase Agreement, transfers of U.S. accounts receivable from the SPE are treated as sales and are
accounted for as a reduction in accounts receivable because the agreement transfers effective control over and risk related to the U.S. accounts receivable to the SPE. The
Company and related subsidiaries have no continuing involvement in the transferred U.S. accounts receivable, other than collection and administrative responsibilities and, once
sold, the U.S. accounts receivable are no longer available to satisfy creditors of the Company or the related subsidiaries in the event of bankruptcy. subsidiaries. These sales are
transacted at 100% of the face value of the relevant U.S. accounts receivable, resulting in derecognition of the U.S. accounts receivables from the Company's unaudited
consolidated balance sheet. The Company de-recognized $802 $249 million and $1.1 billion of accounts receivable under this agreement for the nine three months ended
September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 and twelve months ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, respectively, and collected $802 $249 million and $1.1 billion of accounts
receivable sold under this agreement during the same periods. Unsold U.S. accounts receivable of $130 $109 million were pledged by the SPE as collateral to the Purchasers as of
September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023.

Factoring and Discounting Agreements

The Company has factoring agreements in Europe and Singapore with financial institutions to sell 100% and 90% of certain accounts receivable, respectively, on a non-recourse
basis. These transactions are treated as sales and are accounted for as reductions in accounts receivable because the agreements transfer effective control over and risk related to
the receivables to the buyer. The Company has no continuing involvement in the transferred receivables, other than collection and administrative responsibilities and, once sold,
the accounts receivable are no longer available to satisfy creditors in the event of bankruptcy. The Company de-recognized $228 $87 million and $230 $320 million of accounts
receivable under these factoring agreements for the nine three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 and twelve months ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022,
respectively, and collected $234 $82 million and $185 $325 million of accounts receivable sold under these factoring agreements during the same periods.

In March 2021, the Company entered into an agreement in Singapore with a financial institution to discount, on a non-recourse basis, documentary credits or other
documents recorded as accounts receivable. These transactions are treated as a sale and are accounted for as a reduction in accounts receivable because the agreement
transfers effective control over and risk related to the receivables to the buyer. The Company has no continuing involvement in the transferred receivables and, once sold, the
accounts receivable are no longer available to satisfy creditors in the event of bankruptcy. The Company de-recognized $41 million and $70 million of accounts receivable
under this agreement for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and twelve months ended December 31, 2021, respectively.

Covenants

The Company's material financing arrangements contain customary covenants, including such as events of default and change of control provisions, and in the case of the U.S.
Credit Agreements the maintenance of certain financial ratios (subject to adjustment following certain qualifying acquisitions and dispositions, as set forth in the U.S. Credit
Agreements), events of default and change of control provisions. Agreements, as amended). Failure to comply with these covenants, or the occurrence of any other event of
default, could result in acceleration of the borrowings and other financial obligations. The Company is in compliance with all of the covenants related toin its debt

agreements material financing arrangements as of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023.
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8. Benefit Obligations

The components of net periodic benefit cost are as follows:

Three Months Ended September 30,

Nine Months Ended September 30,

Three Months Ended March 31,

2022 2021 2022 2021 2023 2022
Post- Post- Post- Post- Post- Post-
Pension retirement Pension retirement Pension retirement Pension retirement Pension retirement Pension retirement
Benefits Benefits Benefits Benefits Benefits Benefits Benefits Benefits Benefits Benefits Benefits  Benefits
(In $ millions) (In $ millions)
Service Service Service
cost cost 3 1 3 — 10 1 10 1 cost 4 — 3 —
Interest Interest Interest
cost cost 17 — 13 1 50 1 40 1 cost 32 — 17 —
Expected Expected Expected
returnon return on return on
plan plan plan
assets assets (42) — (51) — (125) — (154) — assets (33) — (41) —
Total Total (22) 1 (35) 1 (65) 2 (104) 2 Total 3 — (21) =
Benefit obligation funding is as follows:
Total
As of ota As of Total
September 30, Expected March 31, Expected
2022 2022 2023 2023
(In $ millions) (In $ millions)
Cash contributions to Cash contributions to Cash contributions to
defined benefit defined benefit defined benefit
pension plans pension plans 17 24 pension plans 6 27
Benefit paymentsto Benefit payments to Benefit payments to
nonqualified pension nonqualified pension nonqualified pension
plans plans 15 19 plans 5 18
Benefit paymentsto Benefit payments to Benefit payments to
other postretirement other postretirement other postretirement
benefit plans benefit plans 2 4 benefit plans 1 4

The Company's estimates of its U.S. defined benefit pension plan contributions reflect the provisions of the Pension Protection Act of 2006.

Pension and postretirement benefit plan balances recognized in the unaudited consolidated balance sheets consist of:

As of September 30, 2022 As of December 31, 2021 As of March 31, 2023 As of December 31, 2022
Post- Post- Post- Post-
Pension retirement Pension retirement Pension retirement Pension retirement
Benefits Benefits Benefits Benefits Benefits Benefits Benefits Benefits
(In $ millions) (In $ millions)
Noncurrent Noncurrent Noncurrent
Other assets ~ Other assets 288 — 221 —  Other assets 166 — 160 —
Current Other Current Other Current Other
liabilities liabilities (22) (4) (22) (4) liabilities (21) (3) (21) (3)
Benefit Benefit Benefit
obligations obligations (439) (45) (504) (47) obligations (371) (35) (372) (35)
Net amount Net amount Net amount
recognized recognized (173) (49) (305) (51) recognized (226) (38) (233) (38)

9. Environmental

The Company is subject to environmental laws and regulations worldwide that impose limitations on the discharge of pollutants into the air and water, establish standards for the
treatment, storage and disposal of solid and hazardous wastes, and impose record keeping and notification requirements. Failure to timely comply with these laws and regulations
may expose the Company to penalties. The Company believes that it is in substantial compliance with all applicable environmental laws and regulations and engages in an ongoing
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process of updating its controls to mitigate compliance risks. The Company is also subject to retained environmental obligations specified in various contractual agreements arising
from the divestiture of certain businesses by the Company or one of its predecessor companies.
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The components of environmental remediation liabilities are as follows:

As of As of As of As of
September 30, December 31, March 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
(In $ millions) (In $ millions)
Demerger obligations Demerger obligations Demerger obligations
(Note 14) (Note 14) 20 24 (Note 14) 19 20
Divestiture Divestiture Divestiture
obligations (Note 14) obligations (Note 14) 13 14 obligations (Note 14) 14 14
Active sites Active sites 1" 8 Active sites 20 21
U.S. Superfund sites  U.S. Superfund sites 1" 12 U.S. Superfund sites 9 10
Other environmental Other environmental Other environmental
remediation liabilities remediation liabilities 2 2 remediation liabilities 2 2
Total Total 57 60 Total 64 67

Remediation

Due to its industrial history and through retained contractual and legal obligations, the Company has the obligation to remediate specific areas on its own sites as well as on
divested, demerger, orphan or U.S. Superfund sites (as defined (defined below). In addition, as part of the demerger agreement between the Company and Hoechst AG ("Hoechst"),
a specified portion of the responsibility for environmental liabilities from a number of Hoechst divestitures was transferred to the Company (Note 14). Certain of these sites, at
which the Company maintains continuing involvement, were and continue to be designated as discontinued operations when closed. The Company provides for such obligations
when the event of loss is probable and reasonably estimable. The Company believes that environmental remediation costs will not have a material adverse effect on the financial
position of the Company, but may have a material adverse effect on the results of operations or cash flows in any given period.

U.S. Superfund Sites

In the U.S., the Company may be subject to substantial claims brought by U.S. federal or state regulatory agencies or private individuals pursuant to statutory authority or
common law. In particular, the Company has a potential liability under the U.S. Federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as
amended, and related state laws (collectively referred to as "Superfund") for investigation and cleanup costs at certain sites. At most of these sites, numerous companies, including
the Company, or one of its predecessor companies, have been notified that the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA"), state governing bodies or private individuals
consider such companies to be potentially responsible parties ("PRP") under Superfund or related laws. The proceedings relating to these sites are in various stages. The cleanup
process has not been completed at most sites, and the status of the insurance coverage for some of these proceedings is uncertain. Consequently, the Company cannot accurately
determine its ultimate liability for investigation or cleanup costs at these sites.

As events progress at each site for which it has been named a PRP, the Company accrues any probable and reasonably estimable liabilities. In establishing these liabilities, the
Company considers the contaminants of concern, the potential impact thereof, the relationship of the contaminants of concern to its current and historic operations, its shipment
of waste to a site, its percentage of total waste shipped to the site, the types of wastes involved, the conclusions of any studies, the magnitude of any remedial actions that may be
necessary and the number and viability of other PRPs. Often the Company joins with other PRPs to sign joint defense agreements that settle, among PRPs, each party's percentage
allocation of costs at the site. Although the ultimate liability may differ from the estimate, the Company routinely reviews the liabilities and revises the estimate, as appropriate,
based on the most current information available.

One such site is the Diamond Alkali Superfund Site, which is comprised of a number of sub-sites, including the Lower Passaic River Study Area ("LPRSA"), which is the lower 17-mile
stretch of the Passaic River ("Lower Passaic River Site"), and the Newark Bay Study Area. The Company and 70 other companies are parties to a May 2007 Administrative Order on
Consent with the EPA to perform a Remedial Investigation/Feasibility Study ("RI/FS") at the Lower Passaic River Site in order to identify the levels of contaminants and potential
cleanup actions, including the potential migration of contaminants between the LPRSA and the Newark Bay Area.
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In March 2016, the EPA issued its final Record of Decision concerning the remediation of the lower 8.3 miles of the Lower Passaic River Site ("Lower 8.3 Miles"). Pursuant to the EPA's
Record of Decision, the Lower 8.3 Miles must be dredged bank to bank and an engineered cap must be installed at an EPA estimated cost of approximately $1.4 billion. In
September 2021, the EPA issued a Record of Decision selecting an interim remedial plan for the upper 9 miles of the Lower Passaic River ("Upper 9 Miles"). Pursuant to the EPA's
Record of Decision, targeted dredging will be conducted in the Upper 9 Miles to address surface sediments with elevated contamination followed by the installation of an
engineered cap at an EPA estimated cost of $441 million.
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The Company owned and/or operated facilities in the vicinity of the Lower 8.3 Miles, but has found no evidence that it contributed any of the contaminants of concern to the
Passaic River. In June 2018, Occidental Chemical Corporation ("OCC"), the successor to the Diamond Alkali Company, sued a subsidiary of the Company and 119 other parties
alleging claims for joint and several damages, contribution and declaratory relief under Section 107 and 113 of Superfund for costs to clean up the LPRSA portion of the Diamond
Alkali Superfund Site, Occidental Chemical Corporation v. 21st Century Fox America, Inc., et al, No. 2:18-CV-11273-JLL-JAD 18-CV-11273 (MCA) (LDW) (U.S. District Court New Jersey)
(the "2018 OCC Lawsuit"), alleging that each of the defendants owned or operated a facility that contributed contamination to the LPRSA. With respect to the Company, the 2018
OCC lawsuit is limited to the former Celanese facility that Essex County, New Jersey has agreed to indemnify the Company for and does not change the Company's estimated
liability for LPRSA cleanup costs.

Separately, the United States lodged a Consent Decree in U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey on December 16, 2022 that will resolve the Company's liability (and that of
more than 80 other settling defendants) to the EPA for costs to clean up both the Lower 8.3 Miles and Upper 9 Miles of the Lower Passaic River Site in exchange for a collective
payment of $150 million, United States v. Alden Leeds, Inc., No. 2:22-7326 (MCA) (LDW) (U.S. District Court New Jersey) ("Consent Decree Action"). The Consent Decree also will
provide the Company protection from contribution claims by others for costs incurred to clean up both the Lower 8.3 Miles and Upper 9 Miles of the Lower Passaic River Site. The
Company's proposed payment toward the $150 million collective settlement payment is not material to the Company's results of operations, cash flows or financial position. The
Consent Decree is still subject to public comment and court approval.

On March 7, 2023, the U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey entered an order staying and administratively terminating the 2018 OCC Lawsuit, pending resolution of the
request for judicial approval of the Consent Decree in the Consent Decree Action. On March 24, 2023, OCC filed a new lawsuit against 40 parties, including a subsidiary of the
Company, seeking to recover costs for remedial design work the EPA has ordered OCC to undertake for a portion of the LPRSA at an estimated cost of $71 million, Occidental
Chemical Corporation v. Givaudan Fragrances Corporation, No. 2:23-cv-1699 (U.S. District Court New Jersey) (the "2023 OCC Lawsuit"). Like the earlier lawsuit, the 2023 OCC Lawsuit
concerns the facility Essex County, New Jersey purchased and for which Essex County, New Jersey has agreed to defend and indemnify the Company. This new lawsuit does not
change the Company's estimated liability for LPRSA cleanup costs.

The Company is will continue to vigorously defending defend these matters and currently estimates continues to believe that its ultimate allocable share of the cleanup costs with
respect to the Lower Passaic River Site, is previously estimated at less than 1%. In February 2022, the EPA and a subgroup of defendants in the litigation, including Celanese, reached
a settlement in principle with respect to the liability of those defendants for the LPRSA, which, will not be material to the Company's results of operations, cash flows or financial
position. The Company expects the settlement will be memorialized in a Consent Decree lodged with the U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey prior to the end of the
calendar year. material.

Other Environmental Matters

In April 2022, a methanol leak on a pipeline to our Bishop, Texas facility was discovered. The release has been contained, the leak has been repaired and the pipeline has resumed
operation. The Company promptly disclosed the incident to state and federal authorities, including the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality and the EPA, and remediation
activities are cooperating in ongoing remediation activities. now completed. While the Company has not received a notice of violation nor been assessed any fines or penalties to
date, the Company recorded a reserve in Other current liabilities based on anticipated clean-up costs and possible penalties to state or federal authorities. The Company does not
believe that resolution of this matter will have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

10. Stockholders' Shareholders' Equity
Common Stock

The Company's Board of Directors follows a policy of declaring, subject to legally available funds, a quarterly cash dividend on each share of the Company's Common Stock, par
value $0.0001 per share ("Common Stock"), unless the Company's Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, determines otherwise. The amount available to the Company to pay cash
dividends is not currently restricted by its existing senior credit facility Global Credit Agreements and its indentures governing its senior unsecured notes. Any decision to declare
and pay dividends in the future will be made at the discretion of the Company's Board of Directors and will depend on, among other things, the results of operations, cash
requirements, financial condition, contractual restrictions and other factors that the Company's Board of Directors may deem relevant.

The Company declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.70 per share on its Common Stock on October 19, 2022 April 19, 2023, amounting to $76 million. The cash dividend will be
paid on November 14, 2022 May 15, 2023 to holders of record as of October 31, 2022 May 1, 2023.

Treasury Stock

The Company's Board of Directors authorizes repurchases of Common Stock from time to time. These authorizations give management discretion in determining the timing and
conditions under which shares may be repurchased. This repurchase program does not have an expiration date.
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Total From
February 2008
Through
2022 2021 September 30, 2022

Shares repurchased — 5,332,727 69,324,429

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
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Average purchase price per share $ — 3 150.02 $ 83.71
Shares repurchased (in $ millions) $ — 3 800 $ 5,803
Aggregate Board of Directors repurchase authorizations during the period (in $ millions) $ — $ 1,000 $ 6,866
Total From
February 2008
Through

March 31, 2023
Shares repurchased 69,324,429
Average purchase price per share $ 83.71
Shares repurchased (in $ millions) $ 5,803
Aggregate Board of Directors repurchase authorizations during the period (in $ millions) $ 6,866

The purchase of treasury stock reduces the number of shares outstanding. The repurchased shares may be used by the Company for compensation programs utilizing the
Company's stock and other corporate purposes. The Company accounts for treasury stock using the cost method and includes treasury stock as a component of
stockholders' shareholders' equity.

The Company did not repurchase any Common Stock during the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net

Three Months Ended September 30, Three Months Ended March 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
Income Income Income Income
Tax Tax Tax Tax
Gross (Provision) Net Gross  (Provision) Net Gross (Provision) Net Gross  (Provision) Net
Amount Benefit Amount Amount Benefit Amount Amount Benefit Amount Amount Benefit Amount
(In $ millions) (In $ millions)
Foreign Foreign Foreign
currency currency currency
translation gain translation translation gain
(loss) gain (loss) 3 (52) (49) (6) 9) (15) (loss) (4) 17 13 (15) (6) (21)
Gain (loss)

Gain (loss)on on cash Gain (loss) on
cash flow flow cash flow
hedges hedges (15) 4 1) 1 (16) (15) hedges 4 — 4 19 4) 15
Pension and Pension and
postretirement postretirement
benefits gain benefits gain
(loss) (loss) () — () 2 — 2

Total Total (12) (48) (60) (5) (25) (30)  Total (1 17 16 6 (10) (4)

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2022 2021
Income Income
Tax Tax
Gross (Provision) Net Gross (Provision) Net
Amount Benefit Amount Amount Benefit Amount
(In $ millions)

Foreign currency translation gain (loss) (119) (82) (201) 3 (15) (12)
Gain (loss) on cash flow hedges 37 (@) 30 41 (25) 16
Pension and postretirement benefits gain (loss) 2 — 2 (4) — (4)

Total (80) (89) (169) 40 (40) —

Adjustments to Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net, are as follows:
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As of December 31, 2021
As of December 31,
2022
Other Other
comprehensive  comprehensive
income (loss) income (loss)
before before
reclassifications'  reclassifications
Amounts Amounts
reclassified reclassified
from from

accumulated
other
comprehensive
income (loss)

Income tax
(provision)
benefit

accumulated
other
comprehensive
income (loss)

Income tax
(provision)
benefit

As of September 30, 2022

As of March 31,
2023
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11. Income Taxes

Effective income tax rate

Effective income tax rate

Foreign

Gain
(Loss)
on
Cash  pension and
Flow postretirement

Accumulated
Other

Currency Hedges pgenefits Gain COMPrehensive
Translation (Note (Loss) Income
Gain (Loss) 12) (Note 8) (Loss), Net
(In $ millions)
271) (43) (15) (329)

Other
comprehensive
income (loss)
before

(119) 54 2 (63) reclassifications

Amounts
reclassified
from
accumulated
other
comprehensive

— 17) — 17) income (loss)

Income tax

(provision)

(82) (7) — (89) benefit
(472) (13) (13) (498)

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Gain
(Loss)
on Accumulated
. Cash  pension and
Foreign Flow postretirement Other
Currency Hedges Benefits Gain CoMprehensive
Translation (Note (Loss) Income
Gain (Loss) 12) (Note 8) (Loss), Net
(In $ millions)
As of
December
31,2022 (488) (22) 8 (51
4 2 Q)] (3
= 2 — 2
17 — — 17
As of
March
31,
2023 (475) (18) (9) (5C

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2022

2021 2022 2021

40

(In percentages)

16 24 18

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2023 2022

(In percentages)

21 18

The effective income tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023, was higher compared to the same periods period in 2021, 2022, primarily
due to increases in valuation allowances on U.S. foreign tax credit carryforwards due to revised forecasts of foreign sourced income and expenses during the carryforward period,
and increases partially offset by increased earnings in tax reserves related to ongoing income tax examinations, each low taxed jurisdictions during the three months ended
September 30, 2022, and increased year to date earnings in high taxed jurisdictions for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023.

In December 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "TCJA") was enacted and was effective January 1, 2018. The U.S. Treasury has issued various final and proposed regulatory
packages supplementing the TCJA provisions since 2018, which 2018. There have been no material proposed or final regulatory packages during the Company does not expect to
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have a material impact on current or future income tax expense.

In December 2021, the U.S. Treasury and the IRS released final regulations addressing various aspects of the foreign tax credit regime. The regulation was published in the federal
register on January 4, 2022, and became effective in the nine three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023. The final regulations included guidance with respect to the
definition of foreign income taxes, the eligibility of foreign taxes for the foreign tax credit, and the allocation and apportionment of interest expense. The impact of the retroactive
effect of the interest expense apportionment rules for the 2020 and 2021 tax years was not material to the Company's results of operations.

In August of 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act (the "IRA") was enacted and included a 1% excise tax on share repurchases in excess of $1 million, $1 million, and a corporate
minimum tax of 15% on adjusted book earnings. The corporate minimum tax paid is creditable in future years to the extent that regular tax liability exceeds the minimum tax in
any given year. The Company does not expect these provisions will and any newly issued administrative guidance to have a material impact to future income tax expense. The IRA
also provides various beneficial credits for energy efficient related manufacturing, transportation and fuels, hydrogen/carbon recapture and renewable energy, which the Company
is evaluating in regard to planned projects.

The Company will continue to monitor the expected impacts of any new guidance on the Company's filing positions and will record the impacts as discrete income tax expense
adjustments in the period the guidance is finalized or becomes effective.

Due to the TCJA and uncertainty as to future foreign source income, the Company previously recorded a valuation allowance on a substantial portion of its foreign tax credits. credit
carryforwards. The Company is currently evaluating tax planning strategies that would allow utilization to enable the use of the Company's foreign tax credit carryforwards.
Implementation of these strategies in future periods could reduce the level of valuation allowance carryforwards that is needed, thereby decreasing may decrease the Company's
effective tax rate.rate in future periods as the valuation allowance is reversed.

The Company's tax returns are have been under joint audit for the years 2013 through 2015 by the United States, Netherlands and Germany (the "Authorities"). In September 2021,
the Company received a draft joint audit report proposing adjustments to transfer pricing and the reallocation of income between the related jurisdictions. The Authorities also
propose proposed to apply these adjustments to open tax years through 2019. The Company is engaged in and the Authorities were unable to reach an agreement jointly and
therefore the audits continued on a separate jurisdictional basis. In the fourth quarter of 2022, the Company concluded settlement discussions with the Authorities to evaluate the
proposals. During the three months ended September 30, 2022, the Company recorded additional Dutch tax reserves of $25 million for years prior to 2022 based on unilateral
discussions with one of the relevant authorities. The Company is currently evaluating engaged in ongoing discussions with the other authorities regarding the ongoing
examinations and will evaluate all additional potential remedies. remedies as the discussions progress.

In addition, the Company's income tax returns in Mexico are under audit for the years 2017 and 2018, and in Canada for the years 2016 through 2018. In January 2022, the Mexico
tax authorities issued preliminary findings for disallowance of operating expenses on several of the applicable tax returns. The Company has analyzed the preliminary findings,
engaged in preliminary discussions with the Mexico tax authorities and has recorded the appropriate tax reserves as of March 31, 2023. The Company will continue discussions with
the Mexico authorities in 2023. Related to Canada, the Company is discussing preliminary findings with the Canadian authorities and does not expect a material impact to income
tax expense.

As of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023, the Company believes that an adequate provision for income taxes has been made for all open tax years related to the joint

examination. examinations by government authorities. However, the outcome of tax audits cannot be predicted with certainty. If any issues raised by in the Authorities audits
described above are resolved in a manner inconsistent with the Company's expectations or the Company is unsuccessful in defending its position, positions, the Company could be
required to adjust its provision for income taxes in the period such resolution occurs. If required, any such adjustments could be material to the statements of operations and cash
flows in the period(s) recorded.

In addition, the Company's income tax returns in Mexico are under audit for the years 2017 and 2018, and in Canada for the years 2016 through 2018.

On January 14, 2022, the Mexico tax authorities issued preliminary findings for disallowance of operating expenses on several of the applicable tax
returns. The Company has analyzed the preliminary findings and does not
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expect any material impact to income tax expense. Related to Canada, the Company is discussing preliminary findings with the Canadian authorities and does not expect a
material impact to income tax expense.

12. Derivative Financial Instruments
Derivatives Designated As Hedges
Net Investment Hedges

The total notional amount of foreign currency denominated debt and cross-currency swaps designated as net investment hedges are as follows:

As of As of
September 30, December 31,
2022 2021

(In € millions)

Total 6,017 1,653
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As of As of
March 31, December 31,
2023 2022

(In € millions)

Total 5,652 5639

Concurrently with the offering of the Acquisition USD Notes in July 2022 (Note 7), the Company entered into cross-currency swaps to effectively convert $2.0 billion and $500 million
of the Acquisition USD Notes into a euro-denominated borrowing at prevailing euro interest rates, maturing on July 15, 2027 and July 15, 2032, respectively. The swaps and

€1.5 billion of the Acquisition Euro Notes qualify and have been designated as net investment hedges of the Company's foreign currency exchange rate exposure on the net
investments of certain of its euro-denominated subsidiaries.

Derivatives Not Designated As Hedges
Foreign Currency Forwards and Swaps

Gross notional values of the foreign currency forwards and swaps not designated as hedges are as follows:

As of As of
September 30, December 31,
2022 2021

(In $ millions)

Total 686 663
As of As of
March 31, December 31,
2023 2022

(In $ millions)

Total 1,892 1,314
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Information regarding changes in the fair value of the Company's derivative and non-derivative instruments is as follows:

Gain (Loss) Recognized in Other Gain (Loss) Recognized in Earnings
Comprehensive Income (Loss) (Loss)

Three Months Ended September 30,

2022 2021 2022 2021 Statement of Operations Classification

(In $ millions)

Designated as Cash Flow Hedges

Commodity swaps 9) 10 11 (1)  Cost of sales

Interest rate swaps — (7) 1) (1)  Interest expense

Foreign currency forwards 2 — — —  Cost of sales
Total (7) B 10 (2

Designated as Net Investment Hedges

Foreign currency denominated debt (Note 7) 148 37 — — N/A
Cross-currency swaps 90 10 — — N/A
Total 238 47 — —
Not Designated as Hedges
Foreign exchange gain (loss), net; Other income
Foreign currency forwards and swaps — — (8) (2)  (expense), net
Total — — (8) (2
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Designated as
Cash Flow
Hedges
Commodity
swaps
Interest rate
swaps
Foreign currency
forwards
Total
Designated as
Net
Investment
Hedges
Foreign currency
denominated
debt (Note 7)
Cross-currency
swaps
Total
Not Designated
as Hedges

Foreign
currency
forwards and
swaps

Total

Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Other
Comprehensive

Gain (Loss)
Recognized in

Income (Loss) Earnings (Loss)

Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Gain (Loss)

Recognized in
Earnings (Loss)

Nine Months Ended September 30, Sl o Three Months Ended March 31, Eatemen ]
Operations Operations
2022 2021 2022 2021 Classification 2023 2022 2023 2022 Classification
(In $ millions) (In $ millions)
Designated as Designated as
Cash Flow Cash Flow
Hedges Hedges
Commodity Commodity
swaps 50 33 22 (1) Cost of sales  swaps — 17 1 — Cost of sales
Interest rate Interest Interest rate Interest
swaps — 10 (5) (1) expense swaps — — 2) (2) expense
Foreign currency Foreign currency
forwards 2 — — — Cost of sales  forwards 2 — (©) — Cost of sales
Total 52 43 17 2 Total 2 17 2 2
Designated as Designated as
Net Net
Investment Investment
Hedges Hedges
Foreign currency Foreign currency
denominated denominated
debt (Note 7) 269 72 — — N/A debt (Note 7) (56) 28 — — N/A
Cross-currency Cross-currency
swaps 17 21 — — N/A swaps (19) 2 — — N/A
Total 386 93 — — Total (75) 30 — —
Not Designated Not Designated
as Hedges as Hedges
Foreign Foreign
exchange exchange
gain (loss), gain (loss),
Foreign net; Other net; Other
currency income Foreign currency income
forwards and (expense), forwards and (expense),
swaps — — (12) (6) net swaps — — 2 (1) net
Total — — (12) (6) Total — — 2 (1)

See Note 13 for additional information regarding the fair value of the Company's derivative instruments.

Certain of the Company's commaodity swaps, interest rate swaps, cross-currency swaps and foreign currency forwards and swaps permit the Company to net settle all contracts
with the counterparty through a single payment in an agreed upon currency in the event of default or early termination of the contract, similar to a master netting arrangement.
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Information regarding the gross amounts of the Company's derivative instruments and the amounts offset in the unaudited consolidated balance sheets is as follows:

Derivative Assets

Gross amount
recognized

As of As of As of As of
September 30, December 31, March 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
(In $ millions) (In $ millions)
Derivative Assets Derivative Assets
Gross amount Gross amount
recognized 227 40 recognized 139 169
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Gross amount offset
in the consolidated
balance sheets
Net amount
presented in the
consolidated
balance sheets
Gross amount not
offset in the
consolidated balance
sheets

Net amount

Derivative Liabilities

Gross amount offset
in the consolidated
balance sheets

Net amount

presented in the

consolidated

balance sheets
Gross amount not
offset in the
consolidated balance
sheets

Net amount

Gross amount recognized

Gross amount offset in the consolidated balance sheets

227 40
2 2
225 38

Net amount presented in the consolidated balance sheets

Gross amount not offset in the consolidated balance sheets

Net amount

Derivative Liabilities

Gross amount recognized

Gross amount offset in the consolidated balance sheets

Net amount presented in the consolidated balance sheets

Gross amount not offset in the consolidated balance sheets

Net amount

13. Fair Value Measurements

The Company's financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as follows:

Gross amount offset
in the consolidated
balance sheets
Net amount
presented in the
consolidated
balance sheets
Gross amount not
offset in the
consolidated balance
sheets

Net amount

138 169
26 16
112 153
As of As of
September 30, December 31,
2022 2021
(In $ millions)
36 5
36 5
2 2
34 3
As of As of
March 31, December 31,
2023 2022
(In $ millions)
185 189
1 —
184 189
26 16
158 173

Derivative financial instruments include interest rate swaps, commodity swaps, cross-currency swaps and foreign currency forwards and swaps and are valued in the market using
discounted cash flow techniques. These techniques incorporate Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurement inputs such as interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates.
These market inputs are utilized in the discounted cash flow calculation considering the instrument's term, notional amount, discount rate and credit risk. Significant inputs to the
derivative valuation for interest rate swaps, commodity swaps, cross-currency swaps and foreign currency forwards and swaps are observable in the active markets and are

classified as Level 2 in the fair value measurement hierarchy.
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As of September 30, 2022

Derivatives Designated as Cash Flow Hedges
Commodity swaps
Commodity swaps
Foreign currency forwards and swaps

Derivatives Designated as Net Investment Hedges
Cross-currency swaps
Cross-currency swaps

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedges
Foreign currency forwards and swaps

Total assets

Derivatives Designated as Cash Flow Hedges
Commodity swaps

Derivatives Designated as Net Investment Hedges
Cross-currency swaps

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedges

Foreign currency forwards and swaps

Total liabilities

As of March 31,
2023
Derivatives
Designated as
Cash Flow
Hedges
Commodity
swaps
Commodity
swaps
Foreign
currency
forwards and
swaps
Derivatives
Designated as
Net
Investment
Hedges

Cross-currency
swaps

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other
Identical Observable
Assets Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2)

Total

Balance Sheet Classification

(In $ millions)

— 16 16  Current Other assets
— 43 43 Noncurrent Other assets
— 1 1 Current Other assets
— 77 77 Current Other assets
— 84 84 Noncurrent Other assets
— 6 6 Current Other assets
— 227 227
— 3) (3) Current Other liabilities
— 27) (27) Current Other liabilities
— (6) (6) Current Other liabilities
= (36) (36)
Fair Value Measurement
Quoted
Prices
in Active Significant
Markets for Other
Identical Observable
Assets Inputs Balance Sheet
(Level 1) (Level 2) Total Classification
(In $ millions)
As of March 31,
2023
Derivatives
Designated as
Cash Flow
Hedges
Commodity Current Other
swaps — 4 4 assets
Commodity Noncurrent
swaps — 43 43 Other assets
Foreign
currency
forwards and Current Other
swaps — 1 1 assets
Derivatives
Designated as
Net
Investment
Hedges
Cross-currency Current Other
swaps — 67 67 assets
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Cross-currency Cross-currency
swaps swaps — 11 11
Derivatives Not Derivatives Not
Designated as Designated as
Hedges Hedges
Foreign Foreign
currency currency
forwards and forwards and
swaps swaps = 12 12
Total assets Total assets — 138 138
Derivatives Derivatives
Designated as Designated as
Net Net
Investment Investment
Hedges Hedges
Cross-currency Cross-currency
swaps swaps — (29) (29)
Cross-currency Cross-currency
swaps swaps — (145) (145)
Derivatives Not Derivatives Not
Designated as Designated as
Hedges Hedges
Foreign Foreign
currency currency
forwards and forwards and
swaps swaps — (10) (10)
Total Total
liabilities liabilities - (184) (184)

Fair Value Measurement

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other
Identical Observable
Assets Inputs Balance Sheet
(Level 1) (Level 2) Total Classification

(In $ millions)
As of December 31,
2021
Derivatives
Designated as
Cash Flow Hedges

Current Other
Commodity swaps — 8 8 assets
Noncurrent
Commodity swaps — 23 23 Other assets
Derivatives
Designated as
Net Investment
Hedges
Cross-currency Current Other
swaps — 2 2 assets
Cross-currency Noncurrent
swaps — 5 5 Other assets
Derivatives Not
Designated as
Hedges
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Noncurrent
Other assets

Current Other
assets

Current Other
liabilities
Noncurrent
Other liabilities

Current Other
liabilities
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Foreign currency
forwards and Current Other
swaps — 2 2 assets

Total assets — 40 40
Derivatives
Designated as
Net Investment
Hedges

Cross-currency Current Other
swaps — ) 2) liabilities
Derivatives Not
Designated as
Hedges
Foreign currency
forwards and Current Other
swaps — 3) 3) liabilities

Total liabilities — (5) (5)
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Fair Value Measurement

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other
Identical Observable
Assets Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) Total Balance Sheet Classification

(In $ millions)

As of December 31, 2022
Derivatives Designated as Cash Flow Hedges
Commodity swaps — 9 9 Current Other assets
Commodity swaps — 39 39 Noncurrent Other assets
Derivatives Designated as Net Investment Hedges
Cross-currency swaps — 99 99 Current Other assets
Cross-currency swaps — 13 13 Noncurrent Other assets

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedges

Foreign currency forwards and swaps — 9 9 Current Other assets

Total assets = 169 169

Derivatives Designated as Cash Flow Hedges

Commodity swaps — 2 (2) Current Other liabilities
Derivatives Designated as Net Investment Hedges

Cross-currency swaps — (58) (58) Current Other liabilities

Cross-currency swaps — (126) (126) Noncurrent Other liabilities

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedges
Foreign currency forwards and swaps — (3) (3) Current Other liabilities

Total liabilities — (189) (189)

Carrying values and fair values of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value are as follows:

Fair Value Measurement Fair Value Measurement
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Significant Significant

Other Other
Observable Unobservable Observable Unobservable
Carrying Inputs Inputs Carrying Inputs Inputs
Amount (Level 2) (Level 3) Total Amount (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(In $ millions) (In $ millions)
As of September 30, 2022
As of March 31, As of March 31,
2023 2023
Equity Equity Equity
investments investments investments
without without without
readily readily readily
determinable determinable determinable
fair values fair values 170 — — — fair values 170 — — —
Insurance Insurance Insurance
contracts in contracts in contracts in
nonqualified nonqualified nonqualified
trusts trusts 24 24 — 24 trusts 21 21 — 21
Long-term debt, = Long-term debt, Long-term debt,
including including including
current current current
installments of  installments of installments of
long-term long-term long-term
debt debt 12,398 11,467 166 11,633 debt 14,017 13,608 169 13,777
As of December 31, 2021
As of December As of December
31, 2022 31, 2022
Equity Equity Equity
investments investments investments
without without without
readily readily readily
determinable determinable determinable
fair values fair values 170 — — — fair values 170 — — —
Insurance Insurance Insurance
contracts in contracts in contracts in
nonqualified nonqualified nonqualified
trusts trusts 28 28 — 28 trusts 22 23 — 23
Long-term debt, = Long-term debt, Long-term debt,
including including including
current current current
installments of  installments of installments of
long-term long-term long-term
debt debt 3,722 3,639 173 3,812 debt 13,953 13,247 172 13,419

In general, the equity investments included in the table above are not publicly traded and their fair values are not readily determinable. The Company believes the carrying values
approximate fair value. Insurance contracts in nonqualified trusts consist of long-term fixed income securities, which are valued using independent vendor pricing models with
observable inputs in the active market and therefore represent a Level 2 fair value measurement. The fair value of long-term debt is based on valuations from third-party banks
and market quotations and is classified as Level 2 in the fair value measurement hierarchy. The fair value of obligations under finance leases, which are included in long-term debt,
is based on lease payments and discount rates, which are not observable in the market and therefore represents a Level 3 fair value measurement.

As of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023, and December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, marketable securities, trade payables,
short-term borrowings and the current installments of long-term debt approximate carrying values due to the short-term nature of these instruments. Cash and cash equivalents
includes $2.9 billion of U.S. treasury bills purchased during the three months ended September 30, 2022, which will be held to maturity. Unrealized gains and losses on the U.S.
treasury bills were not significant as of September 30, 2022 and therefore, the amortized cost of the U.S. treasury bills approximated their fair value. These items have been
excluded from the table with the exception of the current installments of long-term debt.

14. Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments
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Guarantees

The Company has agreed to guarantee or indemnify third parties for environmental and other liabilities pursuant to a variety of agreements, including asset and business
divestiture agreements, leases, settlement agreements and various agreements with affiliated companies. Although many of these obligations contain monetary and/or time
limitations, others do not provide such limitations.

The Company has accrued for all probable and reasonably estimable losses associated with all known matters or claims. These known obligations include the following:
¢ Demerger Obligations

In connection with the Hoechst demerger, the Company agreed to indemnify Hoechst, and its legal successors, for various liabilities under the demerger agreement, including for
environmental liabilities associated with contamination arising either from environmental damage in general ("Category A") or under 19 divestiture agreements entered into by
Hoechst prior to the demerger ("Category B") (Note 9).
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The Company's obligation to indemnify Hoechst, and its legal successors, is capped under Category B at €250 million. If and to the extent the environmental damage should exceed
€750 million in aggregate, the Company's obligation to indemnify Hoechst and its legal successors applies, but is then limited to 33.33% of the remediation cost without further
limitations. Cumulative payments under the divestiture agreements as of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 are $106 $108 million. Though the Company is significantly under its
obligation cap under Category B, most of the divestiture agreements have become time barred and/or any notified environmental damage claims have been partially settled.

The Company has also undertaken in the demerger agreement to indemnify Hoechst and its legal successors for (i) 33.33% of any and all Category A liabilities that result from
Hoechst being held as the responsible party pursuant to public law or current or future environmental law or by third parties pursuant to private or public law related to
contamination and (ii) liabilities that Hoechst is required to discharge, including tax liabilities, which are associated with businesses that were included in the demerger but were not
demerged due to legal restrictions on the transfers of such items. These indemnities do not provide for any monetary or time limitations. The Company has not been requested by
Hoechst to make any payments in connection with this indemnification. Accordingly, the Company has not made any payments to Hoechst and its legal successors.

Based on the Company's evaluation of currently available information, including the lack of requests for indemnification, the Company cannot estimate the remaining demerger
obligations, if any, in excess of amounts accrued.

e Divestiture Obligations

The Company and its predecessor companies agreed to indemnify third-party purchasers of former businesses and assets for various pre-closing conditions, as well as for breaches
of representations, warranties and covenants. Such liabilities also include environmental liability, product liability, antitrust and other liabilities. These indemnifications and
guarantees represent standard contractual terms associated with typical divestiture agreements and, other than environmental liabilities, the Company does not believe that they
expose the Company to significant risk (Note 9).

The Company has divested numerous businesses, investments and facilities through agreements containing indemnifications or guarantees to the purchasers. Many of the
obligations contain monetary and/or time limitations, which extend through 2037. The aggregate amount of outstanding indemnifications and guarantees provided for under
these agreements is $125 $126 million as of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023. Other agreements do not provide for any monetary or time limitations.

Based on the Company's evaluation of currently available information, including the number of requests for indemnification or other payment received by the Company, the
Company cannot estimate the remaining divestiture obligations, if any, in excess of amounts accrued.

Purchase Obligations

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into various purchase commitments for goods and services. The Company maintains a number of "take-or-pay" contracts
for purchases of raw materials, utilities and other services. Certain of the contracts contain a contract termination buy-out provision that allows for the Company to exit the
contracts for amounts less than the remaining take-or-pay obligations. Additionally, the Company has other outstanding commitments representing maintenance and service
agreements, energy and utility agreements, consulting contracts and software agreements. As of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023, the Company had unconditional purchase
obligations of $4.0 $4.2 billion, of which extend $532 million will be paid in 2023, $675 million in 2024, $549 million in 2025, $419 million in 2026, $341 million in 2027 and the balance
thereafter through 2042.

Contingencies

The Company is involved in legal and regulatory proceedings, lawsuits, claims and investigations incidental to the normal conduct of business, relating to such matters as product
liability, land disputes, insurance coverage disputes, contracts, employment, antitrust or competition, compliance, intellectual property, personal injury and other actions in tort,
workers' compensation, chemical exposure, asbestos exposure, taxes, trade compliance, acquisitions and divestitures, claims of current and legacy stockholders, shareholders, past
waste disposal practices and release of chemicals into the environment. The Company is actively defending those matters where the Company is named as a defendant and, based
on the current facts, does not believe the outcomes from these matters would be material to the Company's results of operations, cash flows or financial position.
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15. Segment Information

Engineered Acetate Acetyl Other
Materials Tow Chain Activities Eliminations Consolidated
(In $ millions)
Three Months Ended September 30, 2022

Net sales Net sales 929 135 1,274 — 37) o 2,301
Other (charges) Other (charges)
gains, net (Note gains, net (Note
18) 18) (14) — — (1 — (15)
Operating Operating
profit (loss) profit (loss) 114 3) 315 (118) — 308
Equity innet  Equity in net

earnings (loss) earnings (loss)

of affiliates of affiliates 69 — 1 3 — 73
Depreciation  Depreciation
and and
amortization ~ amortization 43 10 43 4 = 100
Capital Capital
expenditures  expenditures 34 9 65 15 — 123

Three Months Ended September 30, 2021

Goodwill and

intangible

assets, net
Total assets
Net sales Net sales 684 128 1,489 — (35) o 2,266
Other (charges) Other (charges)
gains, net (Note gains, net (Note
18) 18) = = 1 (1) = =
Operating profit Operating profit

(loss) (loss) 91 12 517 (84) — 536
Equity innet  Equity in net

earnings (loss) earnings (loss)

of affiliates of affiliates 39 — 1 4 — 44
Depreciation  Depreciation

and and

amortization = amortization 35 10 44 4 — 93
Capital Capital

expenditures  expenditures 36 10 73 4 — 123

Goodwill and
intangible
assets, net

Total assets

™ Includes intersegment sales primarily related to the Acetyl Chain.

@

@)

Engineered Acetyl Other
Materials Chain Activities Eliminations Consolidated
(In $ millions)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2023

Net sales 1,630 1,250 — 27) 2,853
Other (charges)
gains, net (Note
18) (21) Q) (1 — (23)
Operating
profit (loss) 112 278 (139) — 251
Equity in net

earnings (loss)

of affiliates " 1 3 — 15
Depreciation
and
amortization 112 54 6 — 172
Capital
expenditures 45 51 12 — 108

As of March 31, 2023

Goodwill and

intangible

assets, net 10,800 425 — — 11,225
Total assets 18,522 5,730 1,838 — 26,090

Three Months Ended March 31, 2022

Net sales 910 1,652 — (24) 2,538
Other (charges)
gains, net (Note
18) M = = = (M
Operating profit

(loss) 124 503 (96) — 531
Equity in net

earnings (loss)

of affiliates 49 4 3 — 56
Depreciation

and

amortization 46 56 4 — 106
Capital

expenditures 30 70 14 — 114

As of December 31, 2022

Goodwill and

intangible

assets, net 10,826 421 — — 11,247
Total assets 20,611 5471 190 — 26,272

2 Includes a decrease in accrued capital expenditures of $16 $56 million and an increase of $21 $23 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 and

2021, 2022, respectively.
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Engineered Acetyl Other

Materials Acetate Tow Chain Activities liminati C

(In $ millions)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022

Net sales 2,787 379 4,268 — (109) ) 7,325
Other (charges) gains, net (Note 18) (14) — — (1) — (15)
Operating profit (loss) 404 — 1,243 (325) — 1,322
Equity in net earnings (loss) of affiliates 171 — 8 10 — 189
Depreciation and amortization 134 31 130 14 — 309
Capital expenditures 29 26 205 39 — 369 @
As of September 30, 2022
Goodwill and intangible assets, net 1,544 152 243 — — 1,939
Total assets 5672 1,202 4,307 10,156 — 21,337
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2021
Net sales 2,01 385 3,954 — (88) 1) 6,262
Other (charges) gains, net (Note 18) 6 — 1 (4) — 3
Operating profit (loss) 344 52 1,284 (251) — 1,429
Equity in net earnings (loss) of affiliates 96 — 5 9 — 110
Depreciation and amortization 105 29 128 12 — 274
Capital expenditures 92 31 171 15 — 309 @
As of December 31, 2021
Goodwill and intangible assets, net 1,714 154 279 — — 2,147
Total assets 5363 1,098 4,428 1,086 — 11,975

() Includes intersegment sales primarily related to the Acetyl Chain.

@ Includes a decrease in accrued capital expenditures of $31 million and an increase of $5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

16. Revenue Recognition

The Company has certain contracts that represent take-or-pay revenue arrangements in which the Company's performance obligations extend over multiple years. As of
September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023, the Company had $1.3 $1.4 billion of remaining performance obligations related to take-or-pay contracts. The Company expects to recognize
approximately $86 $378 million of its remaining performance obligations as Net sales in 2022, $348 2023, $460 million in 2023, $351 2024, $319 million in 2024 2025 and the balance
thereafter.

Contract Balances

Contract liabilities primarily relate to advances or deposits received from the Company's customers before revenue is recognized. These amounts are recorded as deferred revenue
and are included in Current and Noncurrent Other liabilities in the unaudited consolidated balance sheets.

The Company does not have any material contract assets as of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023.
Disaggregated Revenue

In general, the Company's business segmentation is aligned according to the nature and economic characteristics of its products and customer relationships and provides
meaningful disaggregation of each business segment's results of operations.

The Company manages its Engineered Materials business segment through its project management pipeline, which is comprised of a broad range of projects which are solutions-
based and are tailored to each customers' customer's unique needs. Projects are identified and selected based on success rate and may involve a number of different polymers per
project for use in multiple end-use applications. Therefore, the Company is agnostic toward products and end-use markets for the Engineered Materials business segment.
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Within the Acetate Tow business segment, the Company's primary product is acetate tow, which is managed through contracts with a few major tobacco companies and accounts
for a significant amount of filters used in cigarette production worldwide.
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The Company manages its Acetyl Chain business segment by leveraging its ability to sell chemicals externally to end-use markets or downstream to its acetate tow, intermediate
chemistry, emulsion polymers, redispersible powders and ethylene vinyl acetate ("EVA") polymers businesses. Decisions to sell externally and geographically or downstream and
along the Acetyl Chain are based on market demand, trade flows and maximizing the value of its chemicals. Therefore, the Company's strategic focus is on executing within this

integrated chain model and less on driving product-specific revenue.

Further disaggregation of Net sales by business segment and geographic destination is as follows:

Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

Three Months Ended

September 30, September 30, March 31,
2022 2021 2022 2021 2023 2022
(In $ millions) (In $ millions)
Engineered Engineered Engineered
Materials Materials Materials
North America = North America 292 194 865 546 North America 479 289
Europe and Europe and Europe and
Africa Africa 355 282 1,112 882 Africa 560 377
Asia-Pacific Asia-Pacific 256 185 733 518 Asia-Pacific 548 221
South America ~ South America 26 23 77 65 South America 43 23
Total Total 929 684 2,787 2,011 Total 1,630 910
Acetate Tow
North America 24 24 75 77
Europe and Africa 65 64 181 204
Asia-Pacific 44 39 118 99
South America 2 1 5 5
Total 135 128 379 385
Acetyl Chain Acetyl Chain Acetyl Chain
North America =~ North America 437 405 1,262 1,046 North America 365 425
Europe and Europe and Europe and
Africa Africa 396 458 1,417 1,188 Africa 460 592
Asia-Pacific Asia-Pacific 357 540 1,354 1,530 Asia-Pacific 367 561
South America  South America 47 51 126 102 South America 31 50
Totalm) Totalm 1,237 1,454 4,159 3,866 Total) 1,223 1,628

() Excludes intersegment sales of $37 $27 million and $35 $24 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 and 2021, respectively. Excludes
intersegment sales of $109 million and $88 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, 2022, respectively.
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17. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

Three Months Ended

September 30, September 30, March 31,
2022 2021 2022 2021 2023 2022
(In $ millions, except share data) (In $ millions, except share data)
Amounts Amounts Amounts
attributable to attributable to attributable to
Celanese Celanese Celanese
Corporation Corporation Corporation
Earnings (loss)

Earnings (loss) ~ Earnings (loss) from

from continuing  from continuing continuing

operations operations 192 519 1,134 1,384 operations 94 502

Earnings (loss) Earnings (loss) Earnings (loss)

from from from

discontinued discontinued discontinued

operations operations (1 (13) (7) (18) operations 3) —
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Net earnings

Net earnings

Net earnings

(loss) (loss) 191 506 1,127 1,366 (loss) 91 502
Weighted Weighted Weighted
average shares - average shares - average shares -
basic basic 108,428,982 110,532,051 108,336,574 112,101,651 basic 108,634,068 108,185,912
Incremental Incremental Incremental
shares shares shares
attributableto  attributable to attributable to
equity awards() equity awards(i) 636,988 512,507 822,258 597,646  equity awards() 554,198 731,665
Weighted Weighted Weighted
average shares  average shares average shares
- diluted - diluted 109,065,970 111,044,558 109,158,832 112,699,297 _diluted 109,188,266 108,917,577

(1) Excludes 181,027 options to purchase 86,194 and 0 equity award shares of Common Stock for the three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 and 2021,
respectfully, as their effect would have been antidilutive. Excludes 149,272 2022, respectively; and 67 equity award 72,574 and 61,297 shares of Common Stock for the nine three
months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 and 2021, respectfully, 2022, respectively, as their effect would have been antidilutive.

18. Other (Charges) Gains, Net

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended Three Months Ended

September 30, September 30, March 31,
2022 2021 2022 2021 2023 2022
(In $ millions) (In $ millions)
Restructuring Restructuring 3) 1) 3) (5) Restructuring (23) 1)
Asset impairments (12) — (12) (2
Plant/office closures — 1 — 10
Total Total (15) - (15) 3 Total (23) (1)

19. Subsequent Events

On November 1, 2022 During the three months ended March 31, 2023, the Company completed the M&M Acquisition pursuant recorded $23 million of employee termination
benefits primarily related to a definitive agreement entered into on February 17, 2022 between the Company and DuPont de Nemours, Inc. Company-wide business optimization
projects.

The M&M Acquisition was completed for $11.0 billion in cash, subject to transaction adjustments (the "Purchase Price"). The acquired operations will be included changes in the
Engineered Materials restructuring liabilities by business segment (Note 3). The Company has not presented a purchase price allocation related to the fair values of assets acquired
and liabilities assumed because the initial accounting for the acquisition was incomplete are as of the issuance date of the financial statements. The Purchase Price was funded
using net proceeds from the sale of the Acquisition Notes, the Term Loan Facility and cash on hand.follows:

Engineered Acetyl
Materials Chain Other Total
(In $ millions)
Employee Termination Benefits
As of December 31, 2022 4 1 1 6
Additions 21 1 1 23
Cash payments (4) (1) (1) (6)
As of March 31, 2023 21 1 1 23
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Item 2. Manag t's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

In this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q ("Quarterly Report”), the term "Celanese" refers to Celanese Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and not its subsidiaries. The terms the "Company,”
"we," "our" and "us," refer to Celanese and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. The term "Celanese U.S." refers to the Company's subsidiary, Celanese US Holdings LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company, and not its subsidiaries.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Celanese Corporation and Subsidiaries consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December
31, 2021 December 31, 2022 filed on February 10, 2022 February 24, 2023 with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") as part of the Company's Annual Reporting Report on Form
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10-K (2021 2022 Form 10-K") and the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements and notes to the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements herein, which are prepared
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP").

Investors are cautioned that the forward-looking statements contained in this section and other parts of this Quarterly Report involve both risk and uncertainty. Several important factors
could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated by these statements. Many of these statements are macroeconomic in nature and are, therefore, beyond the control of
management. See "Forward-Looking Statements” below and at the beginning of our 20212022 Form 10-K.

Forward-Looking Statements

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A") and other parts of this Quarterly Report contain certain forward-looking
statements and information relating to us that are based on the beliefs of our management as well as assumptions made by, and information currently available to, us. Generally,
words such as "believe," "expect," "intend," "estimate," "anticipate," "project," "plan," "may," "can," "could," "might," and "will," and similar expressions, as they relate to us are
intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements reflect our current views and beliefs with respect to future events at the time that the statements are made, are
not historical facts or guarantees of future performance and involve risks and uncertainties that are difficult to predict and many of which are outside of our control. Further,
certain forward-looking statements are based upon assumptions as to future events that may not prove to be accurate. All forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly
Report are made as of the date hereof, and the risk that actual results will differ materially from expectations expressed in this Quarterly Report will increase with the passage of
time. We undertake no obligation, and disclaim any duty, to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events,
changes in our expectations or otherwise.

Risk Factors

See Part | - ltem 1A. Risk Factors of our 2021 2022 Form 10-K for a description of certain risk factors that you should consider which could significantly affect our financial results. In
addition, the following factors, among others, could cause our actual results to differ materially from those results, performance or achievements that may be expressed or implied
by such forward-looking statements:

changes in general economic, business, political and regulatory conditions in the countries or regions in which we operate;

volatility or changes in the price and availability of raw materials and energy, particularly changes in the demand for, supply of, and market prices of ethylene, methanol,
natural gas, wood pulp and fuel oil and the prices for electricity and other energy sources;

the length and depth of product and industry business cycles particularly in the automotive, electrical, textiles, electronics and construction industries;
the ability to pass increases in raw material prices, logistics costs and other costs on to customers or otherwise improve margins through price increases;

the accuracy or inaccuracy of our beliefs or assumptions regarding anticipated benefits of the acquisition (the "M&M Acquisition") by us of the majority of the Mobility &
Materials business (the "M&M Business") of DuPont de Nemours, Inc. ("DuPont"), including as a result of the performance of the M&W Business between signing and closing of
the M&M Acquisition;;

the possibility that we will not be able to realize all of the anticipated improvements in the M&M Business's financial performance - including optimizing pricing, currency mix
and inventory - or realize all of the anticipated benefits of the M&M Acquisition, including synergies and growth opportunities, within the anticipated timeframe or at all,
whether as a result of difficulties

Table result of Contents

difficulties arising from the operation or integration of the M&M Business or other unanticipated delays, costs, inefficiencies or liabilities;
increased commercial, legal or regulatory complexity of entering into, or expanding our exposure to, certain end markets and geographies;

risks in the global economy and equity and credit markets and their potential impact on our ability to pay down debt in the future and/or refinance at suitable rates, in a timely
manner, or at all;

diversion of management's attention from ongoing business operations and opportunities and other disruption caused by the M&M Acquisition and the integration processes
and their impact on our existing business and relationships;

risks and costs associated with increased leverage from the M&M Acquisition, including increased interest expense and potential reduction of business and strategic flexibility;
the ability to maintain plant utilization rates and to implement planned capacity additions, expansions and maintenance;

the ability to reduce or maintain current levels of production costs and to improve productivity by implementing technological improvements to existing plants;

increased price competition and the introduction of competing products by other companies;

the ability to identify desirable potential acquisition targets or divestiture opportunities and to complete and integrate acquisition or investment such transactions, including
obtaining regulatory approvals, consistent with our strategy;

market acceptance of our products and technology;

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 40/130
©2023 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited REFI N ITIV I ‘

without the prior written consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated
companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

+ compliance and other costs and potential disruption or interruption of production or operations due to accidents, interruptions in sources of raw materials, transportation,
logistics or supply chain disruptions, cybersecurity incidents, terrorism or political unrest, public health crises (including, but not limited to, the COVID-19 pandemic), or other
unforeseen events or delays in construction or operation of facilities, including as a result of geopolitical conditions, the occurrence of acts of war (such as the Russia-Ukraine
conflict) or terrorist incidents or as a result of weather, natural disasters, or other crises;

+ the ability to obtain governmental approvals and to construct facilities on terms and schedules acceptable to us;

+ changes in applicable tariffs, duties and trade agreements, tax rates or legislation throughout the world including, but not limited to, adjustments, changes in estimates or
interpretations or the resolution of tax examinations or audits that may impact recorded or future tax impacts and potential regulatory and legislative tax developments in the
United States and other jurisdictions;

+ changes in the degree of intellectual property and other legal protection afforded to our products or technologies, or the theft of such intellectual property;
+ potential liability for remedial actions and increased costs under existing or future environmental, health and safety regulations, including those relating to climate change;

+ theextent to which resurgences change or variants of COVID-19 may adversely impact the economic environment, market demand, our operations, availability and cost of
transportation and materials, the labor supply and pace of economic recovery; other sustainability matters;

+ potential liability resulting from pending or future claims or litigation, including investigations or enforcement actions, or from changes in the laws, regulations or policies of
governments or other governmental activities, in the countries in which we operate;

+ changes in currency exchange rates and interest rates; and

+ various other factors, both referenced and not referenced in this Quarterly Report.
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Many of these factors are macroeconomic in nature and are, therefore, beyond our control. COVID-19 and responses to the pandemic by governments and businesses, have
significantly increased financial, economic and cost volatility and uncertainty, exacerbating the risks and potential impact of these factors. Should one or more of these risks or
uncertainties materialize, affect us in ways or to an extent that we currently do not expect or consider to be significant, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, our
actual results, performance or achievements may vary materially from those described in this Quarterly Report as anticipated, believed, estimated, expected, intended, planned or
projected. We neither intend nor assume any obligation to update these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of their dates.

Overview

We are a global chemical and specialty materials company. We are a leading global producer of high performance engineered polymers that are used in a variety of high-value
applications, as well as one of the world's largest producers of acetyl products, which are intermediate chemicals, for nearly all major industries. As a recognized innovator in the
chemicals industry, we engineer and manufacture a wide variety of products essential to everyday living. Our broad product portfolio serves a diverse set of end-use applications
including automotive, chemical additives, construction, consumer and industrial adhesives, medical, consumer and medical, electronics, energy storage, filtration, food and
beverage, paints and coatings, paper and packaging, performance industrial and textiles. Our products enjoy leading global positions due to our differentiated business models,
large global production capacity, operating efficiencies, proprietary technology and competitive cost structures.

Our large and diverse global customer base primarily consists of major companies across a broad array of industries. We hold geographically balanced global positions and
participate in diversified end-use applications. We combine a demonstrated track record of execution, strong performance built on differentiated business models and a clear focus
on growth and value creation. Known for operational excellence, reliability and execution of our business strategies, we partner with our customers around the globe to deliver
best-in-class technologies and solutions.

On February 17, 2022, we signed a definitive agreement to acquire a majority of the Mobility & Materials business of DuPont de Nemours, Inc. See Note 3 - Acquisitions,
Dispositions and Plant Closures in the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for further information. We closed on the M&M Acquisition on
November 1, 2022. See Note 19 - Subsequent Events in the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for further information.
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Results of Operations
Financial Highlights
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended Three Months Ended
September 30, September 30, March 31,
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Statement of
Operations Data
Net sales
Gross profit
Selling, general
and
administrative
("SG&A")
expenses
Other (charges)
gains, net
Operating profit
(loss)
Equity in net
earnings (loss) of
affiliates
Non-operating
pension and
other
postretirement
employee
benefit
(expense)
income
Interest expense
Interest income
Dividend income -
equity investments
Earnings (loss)
from continuing
operations before
tax
Earnings (loss)
from continuing
operations
Earnings (loss)
from discontinued
operations
Net earnings (loss)
Net earnings (loss)
attributable to
Celanese
Corporation

Other Data

Depreciation and
amortization

SG&A expenses as a
percentage of Net
sales

Operating margin)
Other (charges)
gains, net

Restructuring

Statement of
Operations Data
Net sales
Gross profit
Selling, general
and
administrative
("SG8A")
expenses
Other (charges)
gains, net
Operating profit
(loss)
Equity in net
earnings (loss) of
affiliates
Non-operating
pension and
other
postretirement
employee
benefit
(expense)
income
Interest expense
Interest income

Dividend income -

equity investments
Earnings (loss)
from continuing
operations before
tax
Earnings (loss)
from continuing
operations
Earnings (loss)
from discontinued
operations

Net earnings (loss)
Net earnings (loss)
attributable to
Celanese
Corporation
Other Data
Depreciation and
amortization
SG&A expenses as a
percentage of Net
sales
Operating margin()
Other (charges)
gains, net

Restructuring

2022 2021 Change 2022 2021 Change
(unaudited)
(In $ millions, except percentages)

2,301 2,266 35 7,325 6,262 1,063
546 715 (169) 1,99 1,961 35
(184) (165) (19) (555) (463) (92)
(15) = (15) (15) 3 (18)
308 536 (228) 1,322 1,429 (107)
73 44 29 189 110 79
25 37 (12) 74 113 (39)
(154) (21) (133) (237) (70) (167)
34 2 32 36 7 29
30 35 (5) 103 114 (11)
321 622 (301) 1,491 1,691 (200)
194 520 (326) 1,140 1,388 (248)

(1) (13) 12 (7) (18) 11
193 507 (314) 1,133 1,370 (237)
191 506 (315) 1127 1,366 (239)
100 93 7 309 274 35

80 % 73 % 76 % 74 %
134 % 237 % 180 % 228 %

3 (1) ) (©) (©) 2
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2023

2022 Change

(unaudited)

(In $ millions, except percentages)

Statement of
Operations Data

Net sales 2,853

Gross profit 631

Selling, general
and
administrative
("SGRA")
expenses (285)

Other (charges)

gains, net (23)

Operating profit

(loss) 251

Equity in net
earnings (loss) of
affiliates 15
Non-operating
pension and
other
postretirement
employee
benefit
(expense)
income 1
(182)

Interest income 8

Interest expense

Dividend income -

equity investments 34
Earnings (loss)
from continuing
operations before

tax 121

Earnings (loss)
from continuing
operations 96
Earnings (loss)
from discontinued
operations 3)
Net earnings (loss) 93
Net earnings (loss)
attributable to
Celanese
Corporation 91

Other Data

Depreciation and

amortization 172

SG&A expenses as a
percentage of Net

sales 10.0

Operating margin() 8.8
Other (charges)
gains, net

Restructuring (23)

2,538 315
745 (114)
(174) (111)
(1) (22)
531 (280)
56 (1)
24 (23)
(35) (147)
1 7
37 ©)
616 (495)
504 (408)
= (3)
504 (411)
502 (411)
106 66
69 %
209 %
(1 (22)
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Asset impairments (12) (12) (12) 2) (10)
Plant/office closures — (©) — 10 (10)
Total Other Total Other Total Other
(charges) (charges) (charges)
gains, net gains, net (15 (15 (15) 3 (18) gains, net (23) (M (22)
() Defined as Operating profit (loss) divided by Net sales.
As of As of
September 30, December 31,
2022 2021
(unaudited)
(In $ millions)
Balance Sheet Data
Cash and cash equivalents 9,671 536
Short-term borrowings and current installments of long-term debt - third party and affiliates 977 791
Long-term debt, net of unamortized deferred financing costs 11,360 3,176
Total debt 12,337 3,967
Table of Contents
As of As of
March 31, December 31,
2023 2022
(unaudited)
(In $ millions)
Balance Sheet Data
Cash and cash equivalents 1,167 1,508
Short-term borrowings and current installments of long-term debt - third party and affiliates 1,386 1,306
Long-term debt, net of unamortized deferred financing costs 13,396 13,373
Total debt 14,782 14,679
Factors Affecting Business Segment Net Sales
The percentage increase (decrease) in Net sales attributable to each of the factors indicated for each of our business segments is as follows:
Three Months Ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2021 March 31, 2022
Volume Price Currency Other Total
(unaudited)
(In percentages)
Engineered Materials 23 25 (12) — 36
Acetate Tow (3) 8 — = 5
Acetyl Chain (13) 2 3) — (14)
Total Company 2 9 (5) — 2
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2021
Volume Price Currency Other Total Volume Price Currency Total
(unaudited) (unaudited)
(In percentages) (In percentages)
Engineered Engineered Engineered
Materials Materials 22 25 (8) — 39 Materials 80 2 3) 79
Acetate Tow (7) 5 — — 2)
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Acetyl Chain  Acetyl Chain (4) 14 2 — 8  Acetyl Chain 9) (13) 2 (24)

Total Total Total
Company Company 4 17 (4) — 17 Company 23 (8) 3) 12

Consolidated Results

Three Months Ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2021 March 31, 2022

Net sales increased $35 $315 miillion, or 2% 12%, for the three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 compared to the same period in 2021, 2022, primarily due to:
+ higher pricing in all of our segments, primarily driven by our Engineered Materials segment due to higher raw material costs, higher energy costs and product mix; and

+ highervolume in our Engineered Materials segment, primarily in elastomers related to our acquisition of the Santoprene™ thermoplastic vulcanizates elastomers majority
of the Mobility & Materials business of Exxon Mobil Corporation (the "M&M Business") and the Korea Engineering Plastics Co., Ltd. ("Santoprene" KEPCO") restructuring (see
Note 3 - Acquisitions, Dispositions and Plant Closures in the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for further information); and

+  higher pricing in our Engineered Materials segment, due to product mix and pricing actions to address higher raw material costs;
partially offset by:

+ lower pricing in our Acetyl Chain segment due to weaker economic conditions particularly in Asia;

+ lower volume in our Acetyl Chain segment, primarily due to decreased demand, primarily in Asia and Europe; and

+ anunfavorable currency impact resulting from a weaker euro relative to the U.S. dollar.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $19$111 million, or 12% 64%, for the three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 compared to the same period
in 2021, 2022, primarily due to:

+ higher functional and project an increase in spending of $51 approximately $114 million in our Engineered Materials segment and Other Activities; Activities primarily related
to our acquisition of the M&M Business.
partially offset by:
+ lower incentive compensation cost.

Operating profit decreased $228 $280 million, or 43% 53%, for the three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 compared to the same period in 2021, 2022, primarily
dueto:

+ higher raw material and energy costs across all of our segments;
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+ lower Net sales in our Acetyl Chain segment; and

¢ higher spending in our Engineered Materials segment as a result of our acquisition of Santoprene, as well as plant operating the M&M Business; and administrative
expenses;

+ lower Net sales in our Acetyl Chain segment;
partially offset by:
+ higher Net sales in our Engineered Materials segment; and
+ lower raw material and sourcing costs in our Acetyl Chain segment.

Equity in net earnings (loss) of affiliates increased $29 decreased $41 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 compared to the same period in
2021, 2022, primarily due to:

+ anincrease a decrease in equity investment in earnings of $39 $15 million from our Ibn Sina strategic affiliate, primarily as a result of tighter market conditions our KEPCO
strategic affiliate restructuring; and stronger demand.

+ losses from our DuPont Teijin Films Luxembourg S.A., DuPont Teijin Films UK Ltd. and DuPont Teijin Films US Limited Partnership (collectively "DuPont Teijin Films")
strategic affiliates due to restructuring.

Our effective income tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 was 40% 21% compared to 16% 18% for the same period in 2021.2022. The higher
effective income tax rate was primarily due to increases in valuation allowances on U.S. foreign tax credit carryforwards due to revised forecasts of foreign sourced income and
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expenses during the carryforward period, and increases partially offset by increased earnings in tax reserves related to ongoing income tax examinations. See low taxed
jurisdictions during the three months ended March 31, 2023 (see Note11 - Income Taxes in the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for further
information. information).

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2021

Net sales increased $1.1 billion, or 17%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021, primarily due to:

+ higher pricing in all of our segments, primarily driven by our Acetyl Chain segment due to tighter market conditions as a result of increased customer demand in the
Western Hemisphere and supply constraints across most regions, as well as our Engineered Materials segment due to higher raw material costs, energy costs and product
mix; and

+ higher volume in our Engineered Materials segment, primarily in elastomers related to our acquisition of Santoprene;
partially offset by:
+ anunfavorable currency impact resulting from a weaker euro relative to the U.S. dollar; and
+ lower volume in our other segments, primarily driven by our Acetyl Chain segment due to decreased demand predominantly in Asia.
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $92 million, or 20%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021, primarily due to:
+ higher functional and project spending of $117 million in Other Activities.
Operating profit decreased $107 million, or 7%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021, primarily due to:
+ higher raw material and energy costs across all of our segments; and

¢ higher spending across most of our segments, primarily driven by our Engineered Materials segment as a result of our acquisition of Santoprene, as well as plant operating
and administrative expenses;

partially offset by:

+ higher Net sales across most of our segments.

Non-operating pension and other postretirement employee benefit income decreased $39 million, or 35%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the same
period in 2021, primarily due to:

+ lower expected return on plan assets and higher interest cost.
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Equity in net earnings (loss) of affiliates increased $79 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021, primarily due to:
+ anincrease in equity investment in earnings of $76 million from our Ibn Sina strategic affiliate, primarily as a result of tighter market conditions and stronger demand.

Our effective income tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 was 24% compared to 18% for the same period in 2021. The higher effective income tax rate was
primarily due to increases in valuation allowances on U.S. foreign tax credit carryforwards due to revised forecasts of foreign sourced income and expenses during the carryforward
period and increases in tax reserves related to ongoing income tax examinations and increased earnings in high tax jurisdictions. See Note11 - Income Taxes in the accompanying
unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for further information.
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Business Segments

Engineered Materials

Three Months

Ended Nine Months Ended Three Months
September 30, % Septiber 30, % Ended March 31, %
2022 2021 Change Change 2022 2021 Change fimmnge 2022 Change Change
(unaudited) (unaudited)
(In $ millions, except percentages) (In $ millions, except percentages)
Net sales Net sales 929 684 245 358 % 2,787 2,011 776 38.6 % Net sales 1,630 910 720 79.1 %
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Net Sales Net Sales Net Sales

Variance Variance Variance
Volume Volume 23 % 22 % Volume 80 %
Price Price 25 % 25 % Price 2%
Currency Currency 12) % (8) % Currency 3) %
Other Other — % — % Other — %
Other Other Other
(charges) gains, (charges) gains, (charges) gains,
net net (14) = (14)  (100.0) % (14) 6 (20)  (333.3) % net 1 (1) (20) (2,000.0) %
Operating Operating Operating
profit (loss) profit (loss) 114 91 23 253 % 404 344 60 17.4 % profit (loss) 112 124 (12) (9.7) %
Operating Operating Operating
margin margin 123 % 133 % 145 % 171 % margin 69 % 136 %
Equity innet  Equity in net Equity in net
earnings earnings earnings
(loss) of (loss) of (loss) of
affiliates affiliates 69 39 30 76.9 % 17 9% 75 781 % affiliates 1" 49 (38) (77.6) %
Depreciation  Depreciation Depreciation
and and and
amortization amortization 43 35 8 229 % 134 105 29 27.6 % amortization 112 46 66 143.5 %

Our Engineered Materials segment includes our engineered materials business, our food ingredients business and certain strategic affiliates. Our engineered materials business
develops, produces and supplies a broad portfolio of high performance specialty polymers for automotive and medical applications, as well as industrial products and consumer
electronics. Together with our strategic affiliates, our engineered materials business is a leading participant in the global specialty polymers industry. Our food ingredients business
is a leading global supplier of acesulfame potassium for the food and beverage industry and is a leading producer of food protection ingredients, such as potassium sorbate and
sorbic acid.

The pricing of products within the Engineered Materials segment is primarily based on the value of the material we produce and is generally independent of changes in the cost of
raw materials, but may be impacted during periods of inflation and increased costs. Therefore, in general, margins may expand or contract in response to changes in raw material
costs. We attempt to address increases in raw material costs through appropriate pricing actions.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2021 March 31, 2022

Net sales increased for the three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 compared to the same period in 2021, 2022, primarily due to:

+ higher volume, primarily related to our acquisition of the M&M Business and the KEPCO restructuring (see Note 3 - Acquisitions, Dispositions and Plant Closures in the
accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for further information); and

higher pricing for most of our products, primarily due to product mix and pricing actions to address higher raw material costs, higher energy costs and product mix; and
+ highervolume, primarily in elastomers related to our acquisition of Santoprene; costs;
partially offset by:
+ anunfavorable currency impact resulting from a weaker euro relative to the U.S. dollar.
Operating profit increased decreased for the three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 compared to the same period in 2021, 2022, primarily due to:
+ higher Net sales;
largely offset by:
+ higher raw material costs for most of our products and increased sourcing costs as a result of higher logistical costs and global shipping constraints;

+ higher energy costs of $66 million, primarily for steam;
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+ higher spending of $37 million, primarily as a result of our acquisition of Santoprene, as well as plant operating and administrative expenses; and

¢ anunfavorable impact of $14 million to Other (charges) gains, net. During the three months ended September 30, 2022, we recorded an $8 million long-lived asset
impairment loss related to certain fixed and intangible assets used in manufacturing operations in Silao, Mexico in the current year. See Note 3 - Acquisitions, Dispositions
and Plant Closures in the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for further information.
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Equity in net earnings (loss) of affiliates increased for the three months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021, primarily due to:
+ anincrease in equity investment in earnings of $39 million from our Ibn Sina strategic affiliate, primarily as a result of tighter market conditions and stronger demand.
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2021
Net sales increased for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021, primarily due to:
+ higher pricing for most of our products, primarily due to higher raw material costs, higher energy costs and product mix; and
+ higher volume, primarily in elastomers related to our acquisition of Santoprene;
partially offset by:
+ anunfavorable currency impact resulting from a weaker euro relative to the U.S. dollar.
Operating profit increased for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021, primarily due to:
* higher Net sales;
largely offset by:
+  higher raw material costs for all of our products and increased sourcing costs as a result of higher logistical costs and global shipping constraints;
* higher energy costs of $146 million, primarily for steam; M&M Business;
+ higher spending of $113 $187 million primarily as a result of our acquisition of Santoprene, as well as plant operating and administrative expenses; the M&M Business; and

¢ anunfavorable impact of $20 million to Other (charges) gains, net. During the nine three months ended September 30, 2021 March 31, 2023, we recorded a $9 $21 million
gain on the of employee termination of our Ferrara Marconi, Italy office lease, which did not recur benefits primarily related to Company-wide business optimization
projects in the current year. During the nine months ended September 30, 2022, we recorded an $8 million long-lived asset impairment loss related to certain fixed and
intangible assets used in manufacturing operations in Silao, Mexico year (see Note 18 - Other (Charges) Gains, Net in the current year. accompanying unaudited interim
consolidated financial statements for further information);

largely offset by:
* higher Net sales.

Equity in net earnings (loss) of affiliates increased decreased for the nine three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 compared to the same period in 2021, 2022,
primarily due to:

+ anincreasea decrease in equity investment in earnings of $76 million from our Ibn Sina strategic affiliate, primarily as a result of tighter market conditions and stronger
demand.
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Acetate Tow
Three Months Ended September Nine Months Ended September
30, % 30, %
2022 2021 Change Change 2022 2021 Change Change
(unaudited)
(In $ millions, except percentages)

Net sales 135 128 7 55% 379 385 (6) (1.6)%
Net Sales Variance

Volume 3)% (7)%

Price 8% 5%

Currency —% —%

Other —% —%
Operating profit (loss) (3) 12 (15) (125.0)% — 52 (52) (100.0)%
Operating margin (2.2)% 9.4 % —% 13.5%
Dividend income - equity investments 30 34 (4) (11.8)% 102 112 (10) (8.9)%
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Depreciation and amortization 10 10 — —% 31 29 2 6.9 %

Our Acetate Tow segment serves consumer-driven applications. We are a leading global producer and supplier of acetate tow and acetate flake, primarily used in filter products
applications.

The pricing of products within the Acetate Tow segment is sensitive to demand and is primarily based on the value of the product we produce. Many sales in this business are
conducted under contracts with pricing for one or more years. As a result, margins may expand or contract in response to changes in market conditions over these similar periods,
and we may be unable to adjust pricing due to other factors, such as the intense level of competition in the industry.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2022 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2021
Net sales increased for the three months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021, primarily due to:
+ higher pricing, primarily due to higher raw material and energy costs.
Operating profit decreased for the three months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021, primarily due to:
+ higher energy costs of $10 million, primarily related to natural gas pricing; and
+ higher raw material costs of $7 $15 million as a result of cost inflation and global shipping constraints;
partially offset by:
* higher Net sales.
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2021
Net sales decreased for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021, primarily due to:
+ lower acetate tow volume primarily related to dynamic market conditions, as well as supply constraints and shipping vessel disruptions;
partially offset by:

+ higher pricing, primarily due to higher raw material and energy costs.
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Operating profit decreased for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021, primarily due to:
+ higher energy costs of $34 million, primarily related to natural gas pricing;
* higher raw material costs of $20 million as a result of cost inflation and global shipping constraints; our KEPCO strategic affiliate restructuring; and

+ lower Net sales. losses from our DuPont Teijin Films strategic affiliates due to restructuring.
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Acetyl Chain
Three Months
Ended September Nine Months Ended Three Months
30, % September 30, % Ended March 31, %
2022 2021 Change Change 2022 2021 Change Zfzange 2022 Change Change
(unaudited) (unaudited)
(In $ millions, except percentages) (In $ millions, except percentages)
Net sales Net sales 1,274 1,489 (215) (144) % 4,268 3,954 314 7.9 % Net sales 1,250 1,652 (402) (24.3) %
Net Sales Net Sales Net Sales
Variance Variance Variance
Volume Volume 13) % (4) % Volume 9 %
Price Price 2% 14 % Price 13) %
Currency Currency (3) % (2) % Currency (2) %
Other Other — % — % Other — %
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Operating Operating Operating

profit (loss) profit (loss) 315 517 (202) (39.1) % 1,243 1,284 (41) (3.2) % profit (loss) 278 503 (225) (447 %
Operating Operating Operating
margin margin 247 % 347 % 291 % 325 % margin 222 % 304 %
Dividend

Dividend income -
income - equity equity
investments investments 33 36 3) ((B83)%
Depreciation  Depreciation Depreciation

and and and

amortization  amortization 43 44 1) (2.3) % 130 128 2 1.6 % amortization 54 56 (2) (3.6) %

Our Acetyl Chain segment, which includes the integrated chain of our intermediate chemistry, emulsion polymers, ethylene vinyl acetate ("EVA") polymers, and redispersible
powders ("RDP") businesses. Our intermediate chemistry business produces and supplies acetyl products, including acetic acid, vinyl acetate monomer ("VAM"), acetic anhydride
and acetate esters. tow businesses, is active in every major global industrial sector and serves diverse consumer end-use applications. These products are generally used as starting
materials for colorants, paints, adhesives, coatings and pharmaceuticals. It also produces organic solvents and intermediates for pharmaceutical, agricultural and chemical
products. Our emulsion polymers business is a leading global producer of vinyl acetate-based emulsions and develops products and application technologies to improve
performance, create value and drive innovation in applications include conventional uses, such as paints, and coatings, adhesives, construction, glass fiber, textiles and paper. Our
EVA polymers business is a leading North American manufacturer of a full range of specialty EVA resins and compounds, filter products, as well as select grades of low-density
polyethylene. Our EVA polymers products are used in many applications, other unique, high-value end uses including flexible packaging, films, lamination film products, hot melt
adhesives, automotive parts thermal laminations, pharmaceuticals, wire and carpeting. Our RDP business is a cable, and compounds. Together with our strategic affiliates, our
Acety| Chain businesses are leading manufacturer of redispersible polymer powders, sold under the Elotexe brand. The business produces polymer emulsions which are converted
into powdered thermoplastic resin materials. RDP products are used producers and suppliers in a variety of applications in the mortar industry, including decorative mortar,
exterior insulation and finish systems, gypsum-based materials, plaster and render, self-leveling floor systems, skim coat and tile adhesives.multiple global industrial sectors.

The pricing of products within the Acetyl Chain is influenced by industry utilization rates and changes in the cost of raw materials. Therefore, in general, there is a directional
correlation between these factors and our Net sales for most Acetyl Chain products. This impact to pricing typically lags changes in raw material costs over months or quarters.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2021 March 31, 2022
Net sales decreased for the three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 compared to the same period in 2021, 2022, primarily due to:

+ lower pricing for most of our products, primarily vinyl acetate monomer ("VAM") and acid due to weaker economic conditions particularly in Asia, partially offset by acetate
tow;

+  lower volume for most of our products due to decreased demand, primarily in Asia and Europe;

+ lower pricing for acid, primarily due to weaker economic conditions particularly in China; and

+ anunfavorable currency impact resulting from a weaker euro relative to the U.S. dollar;
partially offset by:

+ higher pricing for most of our other products, primarily due to tighter market conditions as a result of increased customer demand in the Western Hemisphere and supply
constraints across most regions.

Operating profit decreased for the three months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021, primarily due to:

* lower Net sales;
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+ higher raw material and sourcing costs, primarily for methanol and carbon monoxide due to stronger demand and tighter market conditions, as well as higher distribution
costs due to global shipping constraints; and

+ higher energy costs of $27 million, primarily due to price increases for natural gas and electricity.
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2021
Net sales increased for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021, primarily due to:

+ higher pricing for most of our products, primarily due to tighter market conditions as a result of increased customer demand in the Western Hemisphere and supply
constraints across most regions; and

+ higher volume, primarily for VAM due to lower competitor utilization in the Western Hemisphere;
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partially offset by:
+ lower volume for most of our other products due to decreased demand, primarily in Asia; and
+ anunfavorable currency impact resulting from a weaker euro relative to the U.S. dollar.

Operating profit decreased for the nine three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 compared to the same period in 2021, 2022, primarily due to:
+  higherlower Net sales;

partially offset by:

+ lower raw material and sourcing costs, primarily for methanol, carbon monoxide ethylene, acid and ethylene due to stronger demand and tighter market conditions, as
well as higher distribution costs due to global shipping constraints;

+ higher energy costs of $62 million, primarily due to price increases for natural gas and electricity; and
+ higher spending of $49 million, primarily as a result of increased plant operating and maintenance expenses;
largely offset by:

+ higher Net sales. VAM.
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Other Activities
Three Months Nine Months
Ended Ended September Three Months
September 30, % 30, % Ended March 31, %
2022 2021 Change Change 2022 2021 Change 2mange 2022 Change Change
(unaudited) (unaudited)
(In $ millions, except percentages) (In $ millions, except percentages)
Operating profit Operating profit Operating profit
(loss) (loss) (118) (84) (34)  (40.5) % (325) (251) (74) (29.5) % (loss) (139)  (96) (43) (448) %
Non-operating  Non-operating Non-operating
pension and pension and pension and
other other other
postretirement = postretirement postretirement
employee employee employee
benefit benefit benefit
(expense) (expense) (expense)
income income 25 37 12) (324) % 74 113 (39) (34.5) % income 1 24 (23) (95.8) %

Other Activities primarily consists of corporate center costs, including administrative activities such as finance, information technology and human resource functions, interest
income and expense associated with financing activities and results of our captive insurance companies. Other Activities also includes the components of net periodic benefit cost
(interest cost, expected return on assets and net actuarial gains and losses) for our defined benefit pension plans and other postretirement plans not allocated to our business
segments.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2021 March 31, 2022

Operating loss increased for the three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 compared to the same period in 2021, 2022, primarily due to:
+ higher functional and project spending of $51 million;

partially offset by:
+ lower incentive compensation cost. $46 million, primarily related to our acquisition of the M&M Business.

Non-operating pension and other postretirement employee benefit income decreased for the three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 compared to the same
period in 2021, primarily due to:

+ lower expected return on plan assets and higher interest cost.
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2021

Operating loss increased for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021,2022, primarily due to:
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+ higher functionalinterest cost and project spending of $117 million;
partially offset by:
+ lower incentive compensation cost.

Non-operating pension and other postretirement employee benefit income decreased for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021,
primarily due to:

+ lower expected return on plan assets and higher interest cost. assets.

Table of Contents

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash generated from operations, available cash and cash equivalents, dividends from our portfolio of strategic investments and available
borrowings under our senior U.S. unsecured revolving credit facility. As of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023, we have $1.75 billion available for borrowing under our senior U.S.
unsecured revolving credit facility, and $37 million available for borrowing under our separate China Revolving Credit Facility (defined below), if required, in meeting our working
capital needs and other contractual obligations. In addition, we held cash and cash equivalents of $9.7 $1.2 billion as of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023. We are actively
managing our business to maintain and improve cash flow, and we believe that liquidity from the above-referenced sources will be sufficient to meet our operational and capital
investment needs and financial obligations for the foreseeable future.

On February 17, 2022, In November 2022, we signed a definitive agreement to acquire acquired a majority of the Mobility & Materials business of DuPont de Nemours, Inc. (the
"M M&M Acquisition") Business for a purchase price of $11.0 billion, subject to certain transaction adjustments, in an all-cash transaction. For further information regarding the
acquisition, and related financing transactions, see Debt and Other Obligations in this Liquidity and Capital Resources and Note3 - Acquisitions, Dispositions and Plant Closures in
the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements. We closed on the M&M Acquisition on November 1, 2022. See Note19 - Subsequent Events in the
accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for further information.

Our incurrence of debt to finance the purchase price for the M&M Acquisition has increased our leverage and will increase, as of the closing of the M&M Acquisition, our ratio of
indebtedness to consolidated EBITDA as set forth in our senior unsecured credit facilities. We believe that cash flows from our operations, together with cash generation, synergy
opportunities from the M&M Acquisition and cost reduction initiatives, will support our deleveraging efforts over the next few years. In furtherance of these deleveraging efforts,
we have paused our share repurchase program reevaluated and reduced our anticipated 2022 capital expenditures by approximately $50 million and are in the process of
evaluating additional cash generation opportunities which may include the opportunistic disposition or monetization of product or business lines or other assets. We are
committed to rapid deleveraging and to maintaining our investment grade debt rating.

While our contractual obligations, commitments and debt service requirements over the next several years are significant, we continue to believe we will have available resources
to meet our liquidity requirements, including debt service, for the next twelve months. If our cash flow from operations is insufficient to fund our debt service and other
obligations, we may be required to use other means available to us such as increasing our borrowings, reducing or delaying capital expenditures, seeking additional capital or
seeking to restructure or refinance our indebtedness. There can be no assurance, however, that we will continue to generate cash flows at or above current levels.

We continue to prioritize those projects expected to drive productivity in the near term and expect capital expenditures to be approximately $550 $500 million in 2022, 2023,
primarily due to associated with certain investments in growth opportunities and productivity improvements. In Engineered Materials, at our planned expansion Nanjing, China
facility, our expansions of (1) the compounding capacity plant is in construction and (2) the new liquid crystal polymer ("LCP") plant is in detailed engineering design. Our energy
optimization productivity project at our facilities polyoxymethylene ("POM") unit in China Frankfurt, Germany is experiencing some delays due to certain permitting issues. in front
end engineering design. In the Acetyl Chain, our planned expansion of (1) our acetic acid unit at Clear Lake, Texas is on track to be mechanically complete in the capacity second
quarter with start-up scheduled for the third quarter. The other major projects that support the Acetyl Chain are in various stages of construction and on schedule, which include
our planned expansions of (1) our vinyl acetate ethylene ("VAE") and emulsions plants units in Nanjing, China, (2) the capacity of our VAE emulsion plant in Frankfurt, Germany, (3)
our vinyl acetate monomer ("VAM") plant in Bay City, Texas, and (3) (4) the sustainable production of methanol ("MeOH") at our Fairway joint venture MeOH unit in Clear Lake,
Texas using captured carbon dioxide as feedstock, are on schedule. Lastly, our planned acetic acid expansion in Clear Lake, Texas and our VAE emulsion plant expansion in
Frankfurt, Germany, are still in construction and on schedule. feedstock. We continue to see the incremental capacity from investments made in recent years strengthen our
manufacturing network reliability to best serve our customers.

On a stand-alone basis, Celanese and its immediate 100% owned subsidiary, Celanese U.S., have no independent external operations of their own. Accordingly, they generally
depend on the cash flow of their subsidiaries and their ability to pay dividends and make other distributions to Celanese and Celanese U.S. in order to meet their obligations,
including their obligations under senior credit facilities and senior notes, and to pay dividends on our Common Stock.

We are subject to capital controls and exchange restrictions imposed by the local governments in certain jurisdictions where we operate, such as China, India and Indonesia. Capital
controls impose limitations on our ability to exchange currencies, repatriate earnings or capital, lend via intercompany loans or create cross-border cash pooling arrangements. Our
largest exposure to a country with capital controls is in China. Pursuant to applicable regulations, foreign-invested enterprises in China may pay dividends only out of their
accumulated profits, if any, determined in accordance with Chinese accounting standards and regulations. In addition, the Chinese government imposes certain currency exchange
controls on cash transfers out of China, puts certain limitations on duration, purpose and amount of intercompany loans, and restricts cross-border cash pooling. While it is
possible that future tightening of these restrictions or application of new similar restrictions could impact us, these limitations do not currently restrict our operations.
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We remain in compliance with the financial covenants under our senior unsecured credit facilities in the Global Credit Agreements (defined below, and as amended to date) and
expect to remain in compliance based on our current expectation of future results of operations. If our actual future results of operations differ materially from these expectations,
we may be required to seek an amendment to or waiver of such any impacted covenants, which may increase our borrowing costs under those debt instruments. the Global Credit
Agreements.

Cash Flows

Cash and cash equivalents increased $9.1 billion decreased $341 million to $9.7 $1.2 billion as of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 compared to December 31, 2021 December

31, 2022. As of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023, $825 million $1.0 billion of the $9.7 $1.2 billion of cash and cash equivalents was held by our foreign subsidiaries. Under the TCJA,
we have incurred a prior year charge associated with the deemed repatriation of previously unremitted foreign earnings, including foreign held cash. These funds are largely
accessible without additional material tax consequences, if needed in the U.S,, to fund operations.

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities increased $412 million to $96 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023 compared to cash provided by operating activities increased
$105 of $316 million to $1.3 billion for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021, 2022, primarily due to:

¢ adecrease in VAT taxes receivable primarily due to the receipt of refunds during the nine months ended September 30, 2022; Net earnings; and
+ apayment for the European Commission settlement an increase in cash interest paid of $100 million, which did not recur in the current year; and $243 million;
partially offset by:

e favorable trade working capital of $65 $30 million, primarily due to a decrease in trade receivables and trade payables, partially offset by an increase in inventory. Trade
receivables decreased primarily as a result of the timing of collections of trade receivable collections during the nine months ended September 30, 2022 receivables,
inventory builds and trade payables decreased as a result of the timing of settlement of trade payables. Inventory increased primarily as a result of higher costs for raw
materials payables during the nine three months ended September 30, 2022;

partially offset by:
+ adecrease in Net earnings. March 31, 2023.
e Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities increased $595 $29 million to $428 $178 million for the nine three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 compared to net cash
provided by investing activities of $167 million for the same period in 2021, 2022; primarily due to:

e proceeds from the sale of marketable securities of $500 million, which did not recur in the current year; and
+ anincrease of $96 $27 million in capital expenditures during the nine three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023.
¢ Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities increased $9.3 billion to $8.3 billion for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 compared to net cash used in financing activities of
$943 decreased $26 million to $69 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023 compared to the same period in 2021, 2022, primarily due to:

* anincrease in net proceedsa payment of long-term debt of $8.8 billion, primarily due to the issuance of senior unsecured notes consisting of $2.0 billion in principal
amount of 5.900% notes due July 5, 2024, $1.75 billion in principal amount of 6.050% notes due March 15, 2025, $2.0 billion in principal amount of 6.165% notes due July
15, 2027, $750 million in principal amount of 6.330% notes due July 15,2029 and $1.0 billion in principal amount of 6.379% notes due July 15, 2032 (collectively, the
"Acquisition USD Notes"), as well as senior unsecured notes consisting of €1.0 billion in principal amount of 4.777% notes due July 19, 2026 and €500 million in principal
amount of 5.337% notes due January 19, 2029 (collectively, the "Acquisition Euro Notes" and, together with the Acquisition USD Notes, the "Acquisition Notes"), partially
offset by the maturity of the 5.875% senior unsecured notes ("5.875% Notes") which were repaid during the nine months ended September 30, 2021;

+ adecrease in share repurchases of our Common Stock of $786 $44 million during the nine three months ended September 30, 2022; and

Table of Contents

+ settlement of a forward-starting interest rate swap of $72 million, which did not recur in the current year;
partially offset by:

+ adecrease in net borrowings on short-term debt of $260 million, primarily due to borrowing under the senior unsecured revolving credit facility to repay the 5.875% Notes
which matured during the nine months ended September 30, 2021; and

¢ apayment of $63 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2022 for fees related to a bridge facility commitment letter with Bank of America,
N.A. ("Bank of America") pursuant to which Bank of America has committed to provide, subject to the terms and conditions set therein, a 364-day $11.0 billion senior
unsecured bridge term loan facility (the "Bridge Facility")., which did not recur in the current year;
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partially offset by:

+ adecrease in net borrowings on short-term debt of $36 million, primarily as a result of higher borrowings under our revolving credit facilities, which did not recur in the
current year.

Debt and Other Obligations

On March 18, 2022, In March 2022, we entered into a term loan credit agreement (the "March 2022 U.S. Term Loan Credit Agreement"), pursuant to which lenders have committed
to provide a tranche of delayed-draw term loans due 364 days from issuance in an amount equal to $500 million and a tranche of delayed-draw term loans due 5 years from
issuance in an amount equal to $1.0 billion. On September 16, 2022, Celanese, Celanese U.S. and certain subsidiaries In September 2022, we entered into an additional term loan
credit agreement (the "September 2022 U.S. Term Loan Credit Agreement" and, together with the March 2022 U.S. Term Loan Credit Agreement, the "Term "U.S. Term Loan Credit
Agreements"), pursuant to which lenders have committed to provide delayed-draw term loans due 3 years from issuance in an amount equal to $750 million (the term loans
represented by the U.S. Term Loan Credit Agreements collectively, the "Term "U.S. Term Loan Facility"). The Term Loan Facility is guaranteed by Celanese and domestic subsidiaries
representing substantially all of our U.S. assets and business operations.

On March 18, 2022,

Also in March 2022, we entered into a new revolving credit agreement (the "New "U.S. Revolving Credit Agreement" and, together with the U.S. Term Loan Credit Agreements the
"Credit "U.S. Credit Agreements") consisting of a $1.75 billion senior unsecured revolving credit facility (with a letter of credit sublimit), maturing in 2027. The proceeds of a
$365 million borrowing under the new senior unsecured revolving credit facility were used to repay and terminate our existing then-existing revolving credit facility.

On July 14, 2022 February 21, 2023, we amended certain covenants in the U.S. Credit Agreements, including financial ratio maintenance covenants. The U.S. Credit Agreements are
guaranteed by Celanese, Celanese U.S. and July 19, 2022 domestic subsidiaries together representing substantially all of the Company's U.S. assets and business operations.

On January 4, 2023, Celanese U.S. completed (Shanghai) International Trading Co., Ltd ("CSIT"), a fully consolidated subsidiary, entered into a restatement of an existing credit facility
agreement (the "China Revolving Credit Agreement") to upsize and modify the offerings facility thereunder to consist of the Acquisition USD Notes an aggregate CNY1.75 billion
uncommitted senior unsecured revolving credit facility available under two tranches (with overdraft, bank guarantee and Acquisition Euro Notes, respectively. Fees and expenses
of the offering of the Acquisition Notes, inclusive of underwriting discounts, were $65 million. documentary credit sublimits) (the "China Revolving Credit Facility"). Obligations bear
interest at certain fixed floating rates. The China Revolving Credit Agreement is guaranteed by Celanese U.S.

The entry Also on January 6, 2023, CSIT entered into the a senior unsecured working capital loan contract for CNY800 million (the "China Working Capital Term Loan Agreement”,
together with the China Revolving Credit Agreement, the "China Credit Agreements," and the offerings of the Acquisition Notes reduced availability under the Bridge Facility to zero,
and we terminated the Bridge Facility. During the nine months ended September 30, 2022, the Company paid $66 million in fees related to the Bridge Facility commitment,
amortizing these fees to interest expense.

The Term Loan Facility, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Term Loan China Credit Agreements together with the Acquisition Notes U.S. Credit Agreements, the
"Global Credit Agreements"), payable 12 months from withdrawal date and additional debt financing, will be available to finance the M&M Acquisition, and to pay fees and
expenses related thereto.

On November 1, 2022, we borrowed $300 million under our senior unsecured revolving credit facility for general corporate purposes, reducing availability of borrowings bearing
interest at 0.5% less than certain interbank rates. The loan under the facility China Working Capital Term Loan Agreement was fully drawn on January 10, 2023 and is supported by a
letter of comfort from us. We expect the China Credit Agreements will facilitate our efficient repatriation of cash to $1.45 billion.

See Note3 - Acquisitions, Dispositions the U.S. to repay. debt and Plant Closures and Note7 - Debt in the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for
further information.effectively redomicile a portion of our U.S. debt to China at a lower average interest rate.

There have been no material changes to our debt or other obligations described in our 20212022 Form 10-K other than those disclosed above and in Note 7 - Debt in the
accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements.

Accounts Receivable Purchasing Facility

In June 2021, we entered into an amendment to the amended and restated receivables purchase agreement under our U.S. accounts receivable purchasing facility among certain of
our subsidiaries, our wholly-owned, "bankruptcy remote" special purpose subsidiary ("SPE") and certain global financial institutions ("Purchasers"). We de-recognized

$802 $249 million and $1.1 billion of accounts receivable under this agreement for the nine three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 and twelve months ended
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, respectively, and collected $802 $249 million and $1.1 billion of accounts receivable sold under this agreement during the same periods.
Unsold U.S. accounts receivable of $130 $109 million were pledged by the SPE as collateral to the Purchasers as of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023.

Table of Contents

Factoring and Discounting Agreements

We have factoring agreements in Europe and Singapore with financial institutions to sell 100% and 90% of certain accounts receivable, respectively, on a non-recourse basis. We de-
recognized $228 $87 million and $230 $320 million of accounts receivable under these factoring agreements for the nine three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023
and twelve months ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022, respectively, and collected $234 $82 million and $185 $325 million of accounts receivable sold under these
factoring agreements during the same periods.
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In March 2021, we entered into an agreement Covenants

We are in Singapore compliance with a financial institution to discount, on a non-recourse basis, documentary credits or other documents recorded the covenants in our material
financing arrangements as accounts receivable. We de-recognized $41 million and $70 million of accounts receivable under this agreement for the nine months ended September
30, 2022 and twelve months ended December 31, 2021, respectively. March 31, 2023.

See Note 7 - Debt in the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for further information.

Guarantor Financial Information

We have outstanding senior unsecured notes, issued in public offerings registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (collectively, the "Senior Notes"). The Senior Notes
were issued by Celanese U.S. ("Issuer") and are guaranteed by Celanese Corporation ("Parent Guarantor") and the Subsidiary Guarantors (collectively the "Obligor Group"). See
Note7 - Debt in the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for further information. The Issuer and Subsidiary Guarantors are 100% owned subsidiaries
of the Parent Guarantor. The Subsidiary Guarantors are listed in Exhibit 22.1 to this Quarterly Report.

The Parent Guarantor and the Subsidiary Guarantors have guaranteed the Senior Notes on a full and unconditional, joint and several, senior unsecured basis. The guarantees are
subject to certain customary release provisions, including that a Subsidiary Guarantor will be released from its respective guarantee in specified circumstances, including (i) the sale
or transfer of all of its assets or capital stock; (ii) its merger or consolidation with, or transfer of all or substantially all of its assets to, another person; or (iii) its ceasing to be a
majority-owned subsidiary of the Issuer in connection with any sale of its capital stock or other transaction. Additionally, a Subsidiary Guarantor will be released from its guarantee
of the Senior Notes at such time that it ceases to guarantee the Issuer's obligations under the U.S Credit Agreements (subject to the satisfaction of customary document delivery
requirements). The obligations of the Subsidiary Guarantors under their guarantees are limited as necessary to prevent such guarantees from constituting a fraudulent conveyance
or fraudulent transfer under applicable law.

The Parent Guarantor and the Issuer are holding companies that conduct substantially all of their operations through their subsidiaries, which own substantially all of our
consolidated assets. The Parent Guarantor has no material assets other than the stock of its immediate 100% owned subsidiary, the Issuer. The principal source of cash to pay the
Parent Guarantor's and the Issuer's obligations, including obligations under the Senior Notes and the guarantee of the Issuer's obligations under the U.S Credit

Agreement, Agreements, is the cash that our subsidiaries generate from their operations. Each of the Subsidiary Guarantors and our non-guarantor subsidiaries is a distinct legal
entity and, under certain circumstances, applicable country or state laws, regulatory limitations and terms of other debt instruments may limit our subsidiaries' ability to distribute
cash to the Issuer and the Parent Guarantor.

For cash management purposes, we transfer cash among the Parent Guarantor, Issuer, Subsidiary Guarantors and non-guarantors through intercompany financing arrangements,
contributions or declaration of dividends between the respective parent and its subsidiaries. While the non-guarantor subsidiaries do not guarantee the Issuer's obligations under
our outstanding debt, the transfer of cash under these activities facilitates the ability of the recipient to make specified third-party payments for principal and interest on the Senior
Notes, U.S. Credit Agreement, Agreements, other outstanding debt, Common Stock dividends and Common Stock repurchases.

The summarized financial information of the Obligor Group is presented below on a combined basis after the elimination of: (i) intercompany transactions among such entities and
(ii) equity in earnings from and investments in the non-guarantor subsidiaries. Transactions with, and amounts due to or from, non-guarantor subsidiaries and affiliates are
separately disclosed.
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Nine Three Months Ended
September 30, 2022 March 31,
2023

(In $ millions)

(unaudited)

Net sales to third parties 1,550476
Net sales to non-guarantor subsidiaries 743291
Total net sales 2,293767
Gross profit 379143
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations (218) (153)
Net earnings (loss) (222) (155)
Net earnings (loss) attributable to the Obligor Group (222) (155)
As of As of
September 30, December 31,
2022 2021
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(In $ millions)

(unaudited)

Receivables from non-guarantor subsidiaries 511 624
Other current assets 10,139 1,236
Total current assets 10,650 1,860
Goodwill 578 578
Other noncurrent assets 2,892 2,584
Total noncurrent assets 3,470 3,162
Current liabilities due to non-guarantor subsidiaries 3,097 2,493
Current liabilities due to affiliates 15 64
Other current liabilities 1,721 1,347
Total current liabilities 4,833 3,904
Noncurrent liabilities due to non-guarantor subsidiaries 2,316 2,348
Other noncurrent liabilities 11,902 3,610
Total noncurrent liabilities 14,218 5958

As of As of

March 31, December 31,
2023 2022

(In $ millions)

(unaudited)

Receivables from non-guarantor subsidiaries 708 754
Other current assets 1,608 1,588
Total current assets 2,316 2,342
Goodwill 526 567
Other noncurrent assets 2,729 2,718
Total noncurrent assets 3,255 3,285
Current liabilities due to non-guarantor subsidiaries 2,772 2,100
Current liabilities due to affiliates 2 2
Other current liabilities 1,756 2,201
Total current liabilities 4,530 4,303
Noncurrent liabilities due to non-guarantor subsidiaries 3,391 3,400
Other noncurrent liabilities 13,860 13,842
Total noncurrent liabilities 17,251 17,242
Share Capital

We declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.70 per share on our Common Stock on October 19, 2022 April 19, 2023, amounting to $76 million.

There have been no material changes to our share capital described in our 20212022 Form 10-K other than those disclosed above and in Note10 - Stockholders' Shareholders'
Equity in the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements.

Contractual Obligations
We have not entered into any material off-balance sheet arrangements.

Except as otherwise described in this report, there have been no material revisions outside the ordinary course of business to our contractual obligations as described in our
20212022 Form 10-K.

Tax Return Audits

Our tax returns are under joint audit for the years 2013 through 2015 by the United States, Netherlands and Germany (the "Authorities"). In September 2021, addition, our income
tax returns in Mexico are under audit for the years 2017 and 2018, and in Canada for the years 2016 through 2018. As of March 31, 2023, we received a draft joint audit report
proposing adjustments to transfer pricing and the reallocation of believe that an adequate provision for income between the related jurisdictions. The Authorities also propose to
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apply these adjustments to taxes has been made for all open tax years through 2019. We are engaged in discussions with related to the examinations by the Authorities to evaluate
the proposals. During the three months ended September 30, 2022, we recorded additional and Mexico tax reserves of $25 million for years prior to 2022 based on unilateral
discussions with one of the relevant authorities. We are currently evaluating all additional potential remedies. discussing preliminary findings with the Canadian authorities and do
not expect a material impact to income tax expense. However, the outcome of tax audits cannot be predicted with certainty. If any issues raised by the government authorities are
resolved in a manner inconsistent with our expectations or we are unsuccessful in defending its positions, we could be required to adjust our provision for income taxes in the
period such resolution occurs. If required, any such adjustments could be material to the statements of operations and cash flows in the period(s) recorded. See Note11 - Income
Taxes in the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for further information.
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Business Environment

We continue started to experience significant demand recovery, partially offset by normalized pricing across many products that exceeded a reduction in cost inflation, inflationary
pressure and supply disruptions related to the sourcing of on raw materials, energy, logistics and labor in 2022. material inputs. We continue to closely monitor the impact of, and
responses to, COVID-19 variants, including government imposed lockdowns in China and elsewhere, and geopolitical effects on demand conditions and the supply chain. Demand
conditions improved across certain regions in the Western Hemisphere Europe and China have deteriorated, creating uncertainty, impacting Asia, offset by continued destocking
and decreased consumer activity and driving customer destocking. in the Americas. Average prices of energy feedstocks, particularly natural gas, which are a significant input and
source of energy for our manufacturing operations, have continued begun to increase in the Western Hemisphere and particularly in Europe. We also experienced cost pressure on
raw material inputs. We have continued pricing actions intended to offset these inflationary headwinds. Continued moderation of acetyls pricing is expected to trend to more
normalized levels through the end of 2022. normalize. We expect that demand to continue to recover, reduction in our inventory levels and improvement in sourcing costs and
inflationary pressures will continue to be significant across the business throughout the rest of the year.

We continue to monitor and respond to the situation in Ukraine. While the conflict has not had a material impact on our business, financial condition or
results of operations to date, we have experienced shortages in materials and increased costs for transportation, energy and raw materials as well as other
supply chain challenges, particularly in Europe, due in part to the effects of the conflict, and government responses thereto, including sanctions, on the
global economy. We continue to monitor these developments.

Following Russia's invasion of Ukraine, we have suspended sales into Russia, Belarus and the sanctioned regions of Ukraine. Revenue from these countries and regions constituted
less than 1% 0.1% of our consolidated Net sales in fiscal year 2021 2022 and we have no manufacturing assets in these countries or regions.

We do not currently expect the situation conflict to result in a material impact on our business or financial results, but the full impact of the conflict and international responses
thereto remains uncertain and will depend on future geopolitical and economic developments that are impossible to predict. Potential risks we may face include increased volatility
in capital and commodity markets, rapid changes to sanctions, continued supply chain and transportation disruptions, exacerbation of inflationary conditions, impacts to
consumer or business sentiment and an increased risk of cyber security incidents as well as the impacts referenced above. incidents.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our unaudited interim consolidated financial statements are based on the selection and application of significant accounting policies. The preparation of unaudited interim
consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of Net sales, expenses and
allocated charges during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. However, we are not currently aware of any reasonably likely events or
circumstances that would result in materially different results.

We describe our significant accounting policies in Note 2 - Summary of Accounting Policies, of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in our 2021 2022 Form
10-K. We discuss our critical accounting policies and estimates in MD&A in our 2021 2022 Form 10-K.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note? - Recent Accounting Pronouncements in the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report for information
regarding recent accounting pronouncements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market risk for the Company has not changed materially from the foreign exchange, interest rate and commodity risks disclosed in Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Market Risk in our 2021 2022 Form 10-K. See also Note12 - Derivative Financial Instruments in the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial
statements for further discussion of our market risk management and the related impact on the Company's financial position and results of operations.
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Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we have evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on
that evaluation, as of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are
effective.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the period covered by this report, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART Il — OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

The Company is involved in legal and regulatory proceedings, lawsuits, claims and investigations incidental to the normal conduct of its business, relating to such matters as
product liability, land disputes, insurance coverage disputes, contracts, employment, antitrust and competition, intellectual property, personal injury and other actions in tort,
workers' compensation, chemical exposure, asbestos exposure, taxes, trade compliance, acquisitions and divestitures, claims of current and legacy stockholders, shareholders, past
waste disposal practices and release of chemicals into the environment. The Company is actively defending those matters where it is named as a defendant. Due to the inherent
subjectivity of assessments and unpredictability of outcomes of legal proceedings, the Company's litigation accruals and estimates of possible loss or range of possible loss may
not represent the ultimate loss to the Company from legal proceedings. See Note9-Environmental and Note14-CommitmentsandContingencies in the accompanying unaudited
interim consolidated financial statements for a discussion of material environmental matters and material commitments and contingencies related to legal and regulatory
proceedings. There have been no significant developments in the "Legal Proceedings" described in our 20212022 Form 10-K other than those disclosed in Note9 - Environmental
and Note14 - Commitments and Contingencies in the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements. See Part [ - ltem 1A. Risk Factors of our 20212022 Form 10-
K for certain risk factors relating to these legal proceedings.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Additional risk factors are described below andin addition to the information in this Quarterly Report, readers should be read carefully consider the information in
conjunction with Part I, Item 1A TA. Risk Factors of our 2021 2022 Form 10-K.

Risks Relating to the acquisition of the majority of the Mobility & Materials business (the "M&M Acquisition" and such business being acquired, the "M&M
Business") of DuPont de Nemours, Inc. ("DuPont")

We have made certain assumptions relating to the M&M Acquisition which may prove to be materially inaccurate and we may fail to realize all of the anticipated benefits of
the acquisition.

We have made certain assumptions relating to the M&M Acquisition, which may prove to be inaccurate. Our failure to identify or understand the magnitude of the problems,
liabilities or other challenges associated with the M&M Acquisition could result in incorrect expectations of future results and increased risk of unanticipated or unknown issues or
liabilities. Our mitigation strategies for such risks that are identified may be ineffective. These assumptions relate to numerous matters, including:

+ general economic and business conditions, and performance of the M&M Business against this backdrop;

+  potential unknown liabilities and unforeseen delays or regulatory conditions associated with the M&M Acquisition;

+ faulty assumptions or incorrect expectations regarding the process of integrating the M&M Business with ours, including unanticipated delays, costs or inefficiencies;

+ the anticipated benefits and synergies, including timing for when such benefits and synergies may be realized through combining the M&M Business with ours;

+ the amount of attention and resources needed to successfully align our and the M&M Business's practices and operations which may disrupt our business, including
challenges relating to integrating commercial activities, technologies, procedures, policies, retaining key personnel and addressing differences in the business cultures of
our business and the M&M Business;

+ the complexities associated with managing the combined businesses;

+ potential increases in the challenges and risks, including commercial and financial risks, associated with our broader international business footprint, and increased
exposure to certain end markets and geographies, as a result of the M&M Acquisition which will expand our presence to markets in which we may not have previously
done business; and

+ other financial and strategic risks of the M&M Acquisition.

Table of Contents

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 57/130
©2023 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited REFI N ITIV I ‘

without the prior written consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated
companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

We cannot guarantee that we will achieve our goals or meet our expectations with respect to the M&M Acquisition. Through our review to-date since the November 1, 2022 closing,
we have learned that for the remainder of 2022 the M&M Business is expected to underperform prior expectations, and its financial performance from signing through the closing
has been lower than anticipated. We cannot be certain when we will be able to realize improvements in the underlying M&M Business performance and as we proceed with
integration, we may identify additional risks and challenges. The benefits of the M&M Acquisition, including the anticipated financial benefits and the synergies and growth
opportunities, may not be realized as expected or may not be achieved within the anticipated timeframe, or at all. If our assumptions are inaccurate or we are unable to meet our
expectations (including our expectations regarding financial targets), our business, financial performance and operating results could be materially and adversely affected.

Financing the M&M Acquisition has resulted in an increase in our indebtedness, which could adversely affect us, including by decreasing our business flexibility and increasing
our interest expense.

The increase in our indebtedness to finance the M&M Acquisition may, among other things, reduce our flexibility to respond to changing business and economic conditions or to
fund capital expenditures or working capital needs. In addition, the amount of cash required to pay interest on our increased indebtedness, and thus the demands on our cash
resources, has materially increased as a result of the indebtedness to finance the M&M Acquisition.

We will incur direct and indirect costs as a result of the M&M Acquisition.

We have incurred and expect to continue to incur a number of non-recurring costs associated with negotiating and completing the M&M Acquisition, combining the operations of
our business and the M&M Business and achieving desired synergies. These fees and costs have been, and will continue to be, substantial. Non-recurring expenses include, among
others, employee retention costs, fees paid to financial, legal, integration and accounting advisors, severance and benefit costs. We will also incur transaction fees and costs related
to formulating and implementing integration plans, including facilities and systems consolidation costs and employment-related costs. We will continue to assess the magnitude of
these costs, and additional unanticipated costs may be incurred in the M&M Acquisition and the integration of the M&M Business into our business. Although we expect that the
elimination of duplicative costs, as well as the realization of other efficiencies related to the integration of the M&M Business, should allow us to offset integration-related costs
over time, this net benefit may not be achieved in the near term, or at all. The costs described above, as well as other unanticipated costs and expenses, could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations following the completion of the M&M Acquisition. Factors beyond our control could affect the total amount or
timing of these expenses, many of which, by their nature, are difficult to estimate accurately.

The risk of non-compliance with non-U.S. laws, regulations and policies could adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition or strategic objectives.

The M&M Acquisition will introduce us into a number of new geographic markets, subjecting us to additional non-U.S. laws, regulations and policies which do not currently apply to
us, and will increase our exposure to certain other geographic markets as well as their laws and regulations. These laws and regulations are complex, change frequently, have
become more stringent over time, could increase our cost of doing business, and could result in conflicting legal requirements. These laws and regulations include international
labor and employment laws, environmental regulations and reporting requirements, data privacy requirements, and local laws prohibiting corrupt payments to government
officials, antitrust and other regulatory laws. We will be subject to the risk that we, our employees, our agents, or our affiliated entities, or their respective officers, directors,
employees and agents, may take actions determined to be in violation of any of these laws, regulations or policies, for which we might be held responsible. Actual or alleged
violations could result in substantial fines, sanctions, civil or criminal penalties, debarment from government contracts, curtailment of operations in certain jurisdictions,
competitive or reputational harm, litigation or regulatory action and other consequences that might adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition or strategic
objectives.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

We did not repurchase any Common Stock during the three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023. As of September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023, our Board of Directors
had authorized the repurchase of $6.9 billion of our Common Stock since February 2008, with approximately $1.1 billion value of shares remaining that may be purchased under
the program. See Note 10 - Share10-Stockholders' holders' Equity in the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for further information.
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Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.

Item 5. Other Information

On November 2, 2022, the Company's Board of Directors adopted and approved, effective immediately, amended and restated by-laws (as amended and restated, the "Seventh
Amended and Restated By-laws") of the Company. The Seventh Amended and Restated By-laws, among other things:

+ revise procedures and disclosure requirements for stockholders to provide notice of the nomination of directors (outside of "proxy access") and the submission of
proposals for consideration at meetings of the stockholders of the Company;

+  clarify the power of the Board to set rules and procedures for, postpone, reschedule or cancel any meeting of stockholders previously scheduled, and clarify the power of
the chair of a stockholder meeting to adjourn any meeting of stockholders,

+  clarify the powers of the Board and the chair of a stockholder meeting to establish rules for the conduct of any meeting of stockholders;
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+  revise the majority voting provision to clarify when an election will be deemed contested; and

+ make certain other administrative, modernizing, clarifying and conforming changes, including making updates to reflect recent amendments to the Delaware General
Corporation Law.

The foregoing description of the Seventh Amended and Restated By-laws is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete text of the Seventh Amended
and Restated By-laws, which is filed as Exhibit 3.2 hereto and are incorporated herein by reference.None.
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Exhibit
Number Description

2121t Transaction Agreement, dated as of February 17, 2022, by and among DuPont De Nemours, Inc., DuPont E& Holding, Inc. and Celanese Corporation
(incorporated by, reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 18, 2022).

3.1 Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by, reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC
on October 18, 2016).

3.1(a) Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Celanese Corporation dated as of April 21, 2016 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8K filed with the SEC on April 22, 2016).

3.1(b) Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Celanese Corporation dated as of September 17,2018
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 17, 2018).

3.1(c) Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Celanese Corporation dated April 18, 2019 (incorporated by,
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 23, 2019).

3.2%3.2 Seventh Amended and Restated By-laws, amended effective November 2, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Quarterly report on Form 10-Q
filed with the SEC on November 4, 2022).

4.110.1 Twelfth Supplemental Indenture, First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of July 14, 2022 February 21, 2023, by and among Celanese Corporation,
Celanese US Holdings LLC, Celanese Corporation, Europe B.V., the subsidiary guarantors party thereto, U.S. each lender party thereto, and Bank Trust
Company, National Association, as series trustee and Computershare Trust Company, of America, N.A. (as successor trustee to Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association), as base trustee Administrative Agent, amending that certain Credit Agreement dated as of March 18, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit

4.210.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 14, 2022 February 23, 2023).

4.210.2 Thirteenth Supplemental Indenture, First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of July 19, 2022 February 21, 2023, by and among Celanese Corporation,
Celanese US Holdings LLC, Celanese Corporation, the subsidiary guarantors party thereto, U.S. each lender party. thereto, and Bank Trust Company, National
Association, as series trustee, registrar and transfer agent, Computershare Trust Company, of America, N.A. (as successor trustee to Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association), as base trustee, and Elavon Financial Services DAC, UK Branch, Administrative Agent, amending that certain Term Loan Credit Agreement dated as
paying agent of March 18, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.210.2 to the current report Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July. 19,
2022 February 23, 2023).

22.1*10.3 Eirst Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February 21, 2023, by and among Celanese Corporation, Celanese US Holdings LLC, the subsidiary.
guarantors party thereto, each lender party thereto, and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, amending that certain Term Loan Credit Agreement
dated as of September 16, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 23, 2023).

104%f Form of 2023 Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement.

10.5%F Form of 2023 Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for Chief Executive Officer.

10.6%% Form of 2023 Time-Based Stock Option Award Agreement.

10.7*%% Form of 2023 Time-Based Stock Option Award Agreement for Chief Executive Officer.

22.1 List of Guarantor Subsidiaries. Subsidiaries (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 22.1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February, 24,
2023).

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1% Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley, Act of 2002.

101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline
XBRL document.

101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1306830/000110465922024956/tm227030d1_ex2-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1306830/000130683016000410/ex313q16.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1306830/000130683016000275/ex318k20160421.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1306830/000130683018000200/ex318k2018917.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1306830/000130683019000094/ex3120194188k.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1306830/000130683022000184/ex3293022by-laws.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1306830/000130683022000184/ex3293022by-laws.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1306830/000130683022000184/ex3293022by-laws.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1306830/000130683022000184/ex3293022by-laws.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1306830/000110465923024766/tm237617d1_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1306830/000110465923024766/tm237617d1_ex10-2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1306830/000110465923024766/tm237617d1_ex10-3.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1306830/000130683023000023/ex221-10k123122.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1306830/000130683023000023/ex221-10k123122.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1306830/000130683023000023/ex221-10k123122.htm

101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

104 The cover page from the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 has been formatted in Inline
XBRL.
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*  Filed herewith.
f Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Tt The Company has omitted certain schedules and similar attachments to such agreements pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. The Company will furnish a copy of such

omitted documents to the SEC upon request.

) The Company and its subsidiaries have in the past issued, and may in the future issue from time to time, long-term debt. The Company may not file with the applicable report
copies of the instruments defining the rights of holders of long-term debt to the extent that the aggregate principal amount of the debt instruments of any one series of such
debt instruments for which the instruments have not been filed has not exceeded or will not exceed 10% of the assets of the Company at any pertinent time. The Company

hereby agrees to furnish a copy of any such instrument(s) to the SEC upon request.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly

authorized.

5845

CELANESE CORPORATION

By:

By:

/s/ LORI J. RYERKERK

Lori ). Ryerkerk
Chairman Chair of the Board of Directors,

Chief Executive Officer and President

Date: November 4, 2022 May 10, 2023

/s/ SCOTT A. RICHARDSON

Scott A. Richardson
Executive Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

Date: November 4, 2022 May 10, 2023

[Form of 2023 Performance-Based RSU Agreement]
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CELANESE CORPORATION
SEVENTH AMENDED AND RESTATED BY-LAWS 2018 GLOBAL INCENTIVE PLAN
Effective as of November 2, 2022
ARTICLE |
OFFICES PERFORMANCE-BASED RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

Section 1.01 DATED Registered Office [Grant Date]

. The registered office Pursuant to the terms and registered agentconditions of the Celanese Corporation 2018 Global Incentive Plan, you have been
awarded Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units, subject to the restrictions described in this Agreement.In addition to the information included in this
Award Agreement, the Participant's name and the number of Restricted Stock Units awarded can be found in the State of Delaware shall be as designated
from time to timeGrant Summary located in the electronic stock plan award administration system maintained by the appropriate filing by the
Corporation Company or its designee that contains a link to this Agreement (which summary information is set forth in the officeappropriate records of
the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware. The Corporation may also have offices in Company authorizing such other places in the United States or
elsewhere as the Board of Directors may, from time to time, appoint or as the business of the Corporation may require.
ARTICLE Il

MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS

Section 2.01  Annual Meetings. Annual meetings of stockholders may be held at such place, either within or without the State of
Delaware, and at such time and date as the Board of Directors shall determine. The Board of Directors may, in its sole discretion, determine
that the meeting shall not be held at any place, but may instead be held in whole or in part by means of remote communication as described
in Section 2.11 of these By-laws in accordance with Section 211(a)(2) of the Delaware General Corporation Law (as it may be amended, the
"DGCL"). The Board of Directors may postpone, reschedule or cancel any annual meeting of stockholders previously scheduled.

Section 2.02  Special Meetings. Subject to the Corporation's Certificate of Incorporation (the "Certificate of Incorporation"), special
meetings of stockholders, unless otherwise prescribed by statute, may be called at any time by the Chair of the Board of Directors, the Board
of Directors or a committee of the Board of Directors which has been duly designated by the Board of Directors and whose powers and
authority, as provided in a resolution of the Board of Directors, include the power to call special meetings of stockholders and no special
meetings of stockholders shall be called by any other person or persons. The Board of Directors may, in its sole discretion, determine that
the meeting shall not be held at any place, but may instead be held in whole or in part by means of remote communication as described in
Section 2.11 of these By-laws in accordance with Section 211(a)(2) of the DGCL. The Board of Directors may postpone, reschedule or cancel
any special meeting of stockholders previously scheduled.

Section 2.03 Notice of Stockholder Nominations and Other Businessaward).

(A) Annual Meetings
2023 Performance RSU Award
Target Award: [Number of Stockholders.Shares Granted] Units

(1) Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors and the proposal of business other than nominations to be considered
by the stockholders may beThis grant is made at an annual meeting of stockholders only: (a) pursuant to the Corporation's
notice Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement dated as of meeting (or[Grant Date], between Celanese and [Participant
Name], covering a performance period from January 1, 2023 through December 31, 2025, which Agreement is attached hereto and made a part hereof.

Page 1 of 14
© 2023 Celanese Corporation

any supplement thereto); (b) CELANESE CORPORATION
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2018 GLOBAL INCENTIVE PLAN

PERFORMANCE-BASED RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

This Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (the "Agreement") is made and entered into as of [Grant Date] (the "Grant
Date"), by or atand between Celanese Corporation, a Delaware corporation ("Celanese" and together with the direction participating subsidiaries that are
employers of the Chair Participants, the "Company"), and [Participant Name] (the "Participant"). Capitalized terms used, but not otherwise defined,
herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Celanese Corporation 2018 Global Incentive Plan (as amended from time to time, the "2018
Plan").

1. Performance RSU Award: In order to encourage the Participant's contribution to the successful performance of the Board of Directors
or Company, Celanese hereby grants to the Board of Directors; (c) by any stockholder Participant as of the Corporation who (x) is entitled Grant Date,
pursuant to vote at the meeting, who complied with terms of the notice procedures 2018 Plan and this Agreement, an award (the "Award") of [Number of
Shares Granted] performance-based Restricted Stock Units ("Performance RSUs") representing the right to receive, subject to the attainment of the
performance goals set forth in paragraphs (A)2)Appendix A, the number of Common Shares to be determined in accordance with the formula set forth in
Appendix A. The Participant hereby acknowledges and (A)(3)accepts such Award upon the terms and subject to the performance requirements and other
conditions, restrictions and limitations contained in this Agreement and the 2018 Plan.

2. Performance-Based Adjustment and Vesting:

(@) Subject to Section 3 and Section 6 of this Agreement, the Performance RSUs are subject to adjustment for performance during the
Performance Period in accordance with the performance measures, targets and methodology set forth in Appendix A. The number of Performance
RSUs determined after the Performance Period based on such performance is referred to as the "Performance-Adjusted RSUs."

(b) Subject to Section 3 and Section 6 of this Agreement, the Performance-Adjusted RSUs shall vest on February 15, 2026 (the "Vesting
Date"). The period between the Grant Date and the Vesting Date shall be referred to as the "Vesting Period."

3. Effects of Certain Events:

(@) If the Participant's employment with the Company is terminated by the Company without Cause or due to the Participant's Retirement
prior to the Vesting Date (other than as provided in Section 3(b)), then:

(i) in all such cases the Performance RSUs shall remain subject to adjustment for performance as provided in Section 2(a) above,
including if such termination of employment occurs during the Performance Period; and

(i) a prorated number of the Performance-Adjusted RSUs will vest on the Vesting Date in an amount equal to (x) the unvested
Performance-Adjusted RSUs in the Vesting Period multiplied by (y) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of complete and partial
calendar months from the Grant Date to the date of termination, and the denominator of which is the number of complete and partial
calendar months in the Vesting Period, such product to be rounded up to the nearest whole number.
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Such prorated Performance-Adjusted RSUs will be settled following the Vesting Date in accordance with the provisions of Section 4, subject to any
applicable taxes under Section 7 upon such vesting and settlement. The remaining portion of the Award shall be immediately forfeited and
cancelled without consideration as of the date of the Participant's termination of employment. To the extent permitted by applicable country, state
or province law, as consideration for the vesting provisions upon Retirement contained in this Section 3(a), upon Retirement, the Participant shall
enter into a departure and general release of claims agreement with the Company that includes two-year noncompetition and non-solicitation
covenants in a form acceptable to the Company.

(b) Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, if the Participant's employment with the Company is terminated by the
Company in connection with a Qualifying Disposition, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion, other than for Cause, and regardless of
whether the Participant is then eligible for Retirement or is offered employment with the acquiror or successor, then:

(i) a prorated number of the unvested Performance RSUs determined in accordance with the provisions of Section 3(a) had those
provisions applied shall remain subject to adjustment for performance as provided in Section 2(a) above, including if such termination of

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 63/130
©2023 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited REFI N ITIV I ‘

without the prior written consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated
companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

employment occurs during the Performance Period, and shall be settled in accordance with the provisions of Section 3(a); and

(ii) the remaining number of the unvested Performance RSUs that would have otherwise been forfeited had the provisions of Section
3(a) applied shall remain subject to adjustment for performance as provided in Section 2(a) above, including if such termination of
employment occurs during the Performance Period, and any such Performance-Adjusted RSUs will vest and be settled in accordance with
the provisions of Section 4, subject to any applicable taxes under Section 7 upon such vesting and settlement.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in case of a termination of employment covered by this Section 3(b), if the Company determines that the Participant
has been offered employment with the acquiror or successor and in connection with that employment will receive a substitute award from the
acquiror or successor with an equivalent (or greater) economic value and no less favorable vesting conditions as this Award, the Company, in its
sole discretion, may determine not to provide for the additional vesting under clause (ii) of this Section 2.03 and who was a stockholder of record
at3(b).

(c) If the time such notice Participant's employment with the Company is delivered terminated due to the Secretary Participant's death or
Disability prior to the Vesting Date, then a prorated number of Performance RSUs will vest in an amount equal to:

(i) the Corporation Target number of Performance RSUs granted hereby multiplied by

(ii) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of complete and atpartial calendar months from the time Grant Date to the date
of termination, and the annual meeting; or (d) by one or more Eligible Holders (as defined below) pursuant to denominator of which is the
number of complete and partial calendar months in accordance with Section 2.03(B).

(2) For nominations or other business the Vesting Period, such product to be properly brought before an annual meeting by
a stockholder of record pursuant to clause (c) of paragraph (A)(1) of this Section 2.03, the stockholder of record bringing the notice ("Noticing
Stockholder") must have delivered timely notice thereof in proper written formrounded up to the Secretary nearest whole number.

The prorated number of the Corporation at the principal executive offices Performance RSUs shall immediately vest and a number
of the Corporation, and any Common Shares equal to such proposed business other than nominations prorated number of persons
for election to the Board of Directors must constitute a proper matter for stockholder action. To be timely, the Noticing Stockholder's
notice mustPerformance RSUs described above shall be delivered to the Secretary Participant or beneficiary within thirty (30) days
following the date of termination, subject to the provisions of Section 7. The remaining portion of the Corporation at the principal
executive offices Award shall be immediately forfeited
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and cancelled without consideration as of Business on the ninetieth (90th) day nor earlier than the Close of Business on the one
hundred twentieth (120th) day prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year's annual meeting; provided, however, that in the
event that the date of the annual meeting is changed by more than thirty (30) days from Participant's termination of employment for
death or Disability.

(d) Upon the anniversary datetermination of a Participant's employment with the previous year's meeting, notice by the Noticing
Stockholder to be timely must be so delivered not earlier than the Close of Business on the one hundred twentieth (120th) day Company for any
other reason prior to such annual meetingthe Vesting Date, the Award shall be immediately forfeited and not later than the Close of Business on
the later of the ninetieth (90th) day prior to such annual meeting or the tenth (10th) day following the day on which public announcement (as
defined below)cancelled without consideration as of the date of the Participant's termination of employment.

A Participant's employment will be considered to have been terminated for Cause, and the Award forfeited and cancelled without
consideration, if the Company determines, in its sole discretion, that the Participant engaged in an act constituting Cause at any time
prior to the Vesting Date, regardless of whether the Participant's termination initially was considered to have been without Cause. In
such meeting case, the provisions of Section 3(a), 3(b) or 3(c) are inapplicable.

4. Settlement of Performance RSUs: The Committee shall determine the Performance-Adjusted RSUs as soon as administratively
practicable following the computation of the Company's performance for the Performance Period (but not later than 2 % months after the end of the
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Performance Period (i.e., March 15, 2026)). The date of such determination is first madereferred to as the "Performance Certification Date." Subject to
Sections 2, 3, 5, 6 and 7 of this Agreement, the Company shall deliver to the Participant (or to a Company-designated brokerage firm or plan
administrator) as soon as administratively practicable after the Performance Certification Date (but not later than 2 % months after the end of the
Performance Period (i.e., March 15, 2026)), in complete settlement of the Performance-Adjusted RSUs vesting on such Vesting Date, a number of Common
Shares equal to the Performance-Adjusted RSUs determined in accordance with this Agreement.

5. Rights as a Stockholder: The Participant shall have no voting, dividend or other rights as a stockholder with respect to the Award until
the Performance RSUs have vested and Common Shares have been delivered pursuant to this Agreement.

6. Change in Control; Dissolution:

@ Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, in connection with the occurrence of a Change in Control,
with respect to any unvested Performance RSUs granted pursuant to this Agreement that have not previously been forfeited:

(i) If (A) a Participant's rights to the unvested portion of the Award are not adversely affected in connection with the Change in
Control, or, if adversely affected, a substitute award with an equivalent (or greater) economic value and no less favorable vesting conditions
is granted to the Participant in connection with the occurrence of a Change in Control, and (B) the Participant's employment is terminated by
the Corporation. Public announcement Company (or its successor) without Cause within two years following the Change in Control, then
Performance RSUs in an amount equal to the higher of an adjournment, recess, rescheduling(x) the Target number of Performance RSUs
granted hereby (or, as applicable, the substitute award) or postponement(y) the number of an annual meeting Performance RSUs payable
based on estimated Company performance during the Performance Period through the Change in Control as determined by the Committee
in accordance with this Agreement, shall immediately vest and a number of Common Shares equal to the number of Performance RSUs so
determined shall be delivered to the Participant within 30 days following the date of termination, subject to the provisions of Section 7.

(i) If a Participant's right to the unvested portion of the Award is adversely affected in connection with the Change in Control
and a substitute award is not commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for made pursuant to Section 6(a)(i) above, then upon
the giving occurrence of a Noticing Stockholder's notice. Change in Control, a
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number of Performance RSUs equal to the higher of (A) the Target number of Performance RSUs granted hereby or (B) the
number of Performance RSUs payable based on estimated Company performance during the Performance Period through the
Change in Control as determined by the Committee in accordance with this Agreement, shall immediately vest and a number of
Common Shares equal to the number of Performance RSUs so determined shall be delivered to the Participant within 30 days
following the occurrence of the Change in Control, subject to the provisions of Section 7.

(b) Notwithstanding anything in this paragraph (A)(2)any other provision of this Section 2.03 Agreement to the contrary, in the event
that the number of directors to be elected to the Board of Directors is increased and there is no public announcement by the Corporation naming
alla corporate dissolution of the nominees for director proposed by the Board of Directors or specifying the size Company that is taxed under
Section 331 of the increased Board of Directors at least ten (10) days prior to the last day a Noticing Stockholder may deliver a notice of
nominations Code, then in accordance with the second sentence ofTreasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(j)(4)(ix)(A), this paragraph (A)2)
of Agreement shall terminate and any Performance RSUs granted pursuant to this Section 2.03, a Noticing Stockholder's notice required by this
Section 2.03(A)Agreement that have not previously been forfeited shall also be considered timely, but only with respect to proposed nominees for
any new positions created by such increase, if itimmediately become Common Shares and shall be delivered to the Secretary atParticipant within
30 days following such dissolution.

7 Income and Other Taxes: The Company shall not deliver Common Shares in respect of any vested Performance RSUs unless and until
the principal executive offices Participant has made arrangements satisfactory to the Company to satisfy applicable withholding tax obligations for U.S.
federal, state, and local income taxes (or the foreign counterpart thereof) and applicable employment taxes. Unless otherwise permitted by the Committee,
withholding shall be effectuated by withholding Common Shares in connection with the vesting and/or settlement of Performance-Adjusted RSUs.
Withholding shall be effected using a rate or method chosen by the Company consistent with ASC Topic 718 (or any successor applicable equity
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accounting standard applicable to this Award) and the U.S. Internal Revenue Service withholding regulations or other applicable tax requirements, not to
exceed maximum statutory rates. The Participant acknowledges that the Company shall have the right to deduct any taxes required to be withheld by law
in connection with the vesting or settlement of Performance-Adjusted RSUs from any amounts payable by it to the Participant (including, without
limitation, future cash wages). The Participant acknowledges and agrees that amounts withheld by the Company for taxes may be less than amounts
actually owed for taxes by the Participant in respect of the Corporation Award. Any vested Performance-Adjusted RSUs shall be reflected in the Company's
records as issued on the respective dates of issuance set forth in this Agreement, irrespective of whether delivery of such Common Shares is pending the
Participant's satisfaction of his or her withholding tax obligations.

8. Securities Laws: The Company may impose such restrictions, conditions or limitations as it determines appropriate as to the timing
and manner of any resales by the Participant or other subsequent transfers by the Participant of any Common Shares issued as a result of the vesting or
settlement of the Performance RSUs, including without limitation (a) restrictions under an insider trading policy, and (b) restrictions as to the use of a
specified brokerage firm for such resales or other transfers. Upon the acquisition of any Common Shares pursuant to the vesting or settlement of the
Performance-Adjusted RSUs, the Participant will make or enter into such written representations, warranties and agreements as the Company may
reasonably request in order to comply with applicable securities laws or with this Agreement and the 2018 Plan. All accounts in which such Common
Shares are held or any certificates for Common Shares shall be subject to such stop transfer orders and other restrictions as the Company may deem
advisable under the rules, regulations and other requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, any stock exchange or quotation system upon
which the Common Shares are then listed or quoted, and any applicable federal or state securities law, and the Company may cause a legend or legends to
be put on any such certificates (or other appropriate restrictions and/or notations to be associated with any accounts in which such Common Shares are
held) to make appropriate reference to such restrictions.

9. Non-Transferability of Award: The Performance RSUs may not laterbe assigned, alienated, pledged, attached, sold or otherwise
transferred or encumbered by the Participant other than by will or by
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the laws of descent and distribution, and any such purported assignment, alienation, pledge, attachment, sale, transfer or encumbrance
shall be void and unenforceable against the Company; provided, that the Participant may designate a beneficiary, on a form provided by the
Company, to receive any portion of the Award payable hereunder following the Participant's death.

10. Other Agreements; Release of Claims: Subject to Sections 10(a), 10(b) and 10(c) of this Agreement, this Agreement and the 2018 Plan
constitute the entire understanding between the Participant and the Company regarding the Award, and any prior and/or contemporaneous agreements,
understandings, representations, discussions, commitments or negotiations concerning the Award, whether written or oral, are superseded. No oral

statements or other prior written material not specifically incorporated into this Agreement, other than the Close2018 Plan, shall be of Business on the
tenth (10th) day following the day on which a public announcement of such increase is first made by the Corporation.

(3) To bein proper written form, such Noticing Stockholder's notice also shall set forth:any force or effect.

@ as to each person whom the Noticing Stockholder proposes to nominate for election or re-election The Participant acknowledges
that as a director: condition to the receipt of the Award, the Participant:

(1) shall have delivered to the Company an executed copy of this Agreement;
(2) shall be subject to the Company's stock ownership guidelines, to the extent applicable to the Participant;

(3) shall be subject to policies and agreements adopted by the Company from time to time, and applicable laws and
regulations, requiring the repayment by the Participant of incentive compensation under certain circumstances, including that
certain Celanese Corporation Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy adopted by the Committee on October 16, 2019
(collectively, "Clawback Policies"), without any further act or deed or consent of the Participant; and

(4) shall have delivered to the Company an executed copy of the current form of Long-Term Incentive Claw-Back
Agreement, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion. For purposes hereof, "Long-Term Incentive Claw-Back
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Agreement" means an agreement between the Company and the Participant associated with the grant of long-term incentives
of the Company, which contains terms, conditions, restrictions and provisions regarding one or more of (i) noncompetition by
the name, age Participant with the Company, and address (businessits customers and residential) clients; (ii) non-solicitation
and non-hiring by the Participant of the Company's employees, former employees or consultants; (i) maintenance of
confidentiality of the Company's and/or clients' information, including intellectual property; (iv) nondisparagement of the
Company; and (v) such person, (ii) a complete biography and statement of such person's qualifications, including other matters
deemed necessary, desirable or appropriate by the principal occupation or employment of such person (at present and for the
past five (5) years), (iii) the Specified Information (as defined below) Company for such person and any member an agreement in
view of the immediate family rights and benefits conveyed in connection with an award.

(b) The Participant acknowledges that if the Participant violates any of such person,the terms or provisions of the
Clawback Policies or the Long-Term Incentive Claw-Back Agreement, whether before or after termination of employment, then the
Company will, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, (i) terminate the Participant's rights in any Affiliate or Associate (as
such terms are defined below) of such person, or any person acting in concert therewith, (iv) (A) a completeunvested Performance
RSUs under this Award, and (ii) claw back (i.e., recover) all Common Shares previously issued under this Award.

(c) If the Participant is a non-resident of the U.S., there may be an addendum containing special terms and conditions applicable to
awards in the Participant's country. The issuance of the Award to any such Participant is contingent upon the Participant executing and returning
any such addendum in the manner directed by the Company.
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11. Not a Contract for Employment; No Acquired Rights; Agreement Changes: This Agreement and accurate descriptionthe Award
evidenced hereby are not an employment agreement, and nothing in this Agreement, the International Supplement, if applicable, or the 2018 Plan shall
alter the Participant's status as an "at-will" employee of all agreements, arrangements and understandings (whether writtenthe Company or oral, and
including promises) between each Holder andyour employment status at the Company. None of this Agreement, the International Supplement, if
applicable, or the 2018 Plan shall be construed as guaranteeing your employment by the Company, or as giving you any Stockholder Associated Person
(as such terms are defined below), onright to continue in the one hand, and such person, onemploy of the other hand, including, without limitation, (x) to
consult or advise on Company, during any investment or potential investment in a publicly listed company (including the Corporation), (y) to nominate,
submit or otherwise recommend period (including without limitation supporting, advocatingthe period between the Date of the Agreement and the
Vesting Date, or any portion of such period), nor shall they be construed as giving you any right to be reemployed by the Company following any
termination of employment. This Agreement and the Award evidenced hereby, and all other long-term incentive awards and other equity-based awards,
are discretionary. This Award does not confer on the Participant any right or entitlement to receive another Award or any other equity-based award at any
time in the future or in respect of any future period. The Company has made this Award to you in its sole discretion. This Award does not confer on you
any right or entitlement to receive compensation in any specific amount for any future year, and does not diminish in any way the Company's discretion to
determine the amount, if any, of your compensation. This Award is not part of your base salary or wages and will not be taken into account in determining
any other employment-related rights you may have, such as rights to pension or severance pay. The Company has the right, at any time and for any
reason, to amend, suspend or terminate the 2018 Plan; provided, however, that no such amendment, suspension, or termination shall adversely affect the
Participant's rights hereunder.

12. Severability: Should any provision of this Agreement be declared or held to be illegal, invalid or otherwise taking unenforceable, (a)
such provision shall either be reformed, if possible, to the extent necessary to render it legal, valid and enforceable, or otherwise severed, (b) the
remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected except to the extent necessary to reform or sever such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision, and (c)
in no event should such partial invalidity affect the remainder of this Agreement, which shall still be enforced.

13. Further Assurances: Each party shall cooperate and take such action as may be reasonably requested by either party hereto in order
to further carry out the consideration of) such person for appointment (or, provisions and purposes of this Agreement.

14. Binding Effect: The Award and this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective
permitted heirs, beneficiaries, successors and assigns.
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15. Electronic Delivery: By executing this Agreement, the Participant hereby consents to the delivery of any and all information (including,
without limitation, information required to be delivered to the Participant pursuant to applicable securities laws), in whole or in part, regarding the
Company and its subsidiaries, the 2018 Plan, and the Award via electronic mail, the Company's or a plan administrator's web site, or other means of
electronic delivery.

16. Personal Data: By accepting the Award under this Agreement, the Participant hereby consents to the Company's use, dissemination
and disclosure of any information pertaining to the Participant that the Company determines to be necessary or desirable for the
avoidanceimplementation, administration and management of doubt, the 2018 Plan.

17. Miscellaneous:

@ Governing Law. Notwithstanding the place where this Agreement may be executed by any of the parties hereto, the parties
expressly agree that all the terms and provisions hereof shall be governed by, construed under and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the
State of Delaware, without regard to its conflicts of laws rules.
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(b) Notice. The Participant is reminded to read the following carefully and after consulting with counsel of their choice:

The Participant agrees that the following provisions requiring arbitration, prohibiting recovery of attorneys' fees, waiving
class actions and mass actions, waiving the right to a jury trial, waiving any right to seek punitive damages, limiting actual
damages, and limiting remedies by waiving any right to injunctive or other equitable or legal relief are and were an important
part of the Company's decision to adopt the Operative Documents and for Participant to be offered this Agreement. The
Participant understands and agrees that absent the foregoing provisions, the Operative Documents would not have been
offered or entered into or would have materially changed. The Participant acknowledges the benefits of receiving potential
incentive awards. In reliance on the Participant's intent to abide by and enter into the following provisions, the parties have
entered into the Operative Documents.

() MANDATORY ARBITRATION. All disputes arising out of or related in any manner to the Operative Documents shall be resolved
exclusively by arbitration to be conducted only in the county and state of Dallas, Texas in accordance with the rules of the International Institute for

Conflict Prevention and Resolution Rules for Non-Administered Arbitration ("CPR") applying the laws of Delaware and by a sole arbitrator. Within 45
days of the service of any demand for arbitration, the parties shall attempt to mutually agree on the appointment of an arbitrator and may seek
names of potential arbitrators from CPR for their consideration. Failing agreement on selection of an agreed arbitrator, upon written request of
either party, CPR shall appoint a single arbitrator in accordance with its rules, with the parties expressing a contractual preference for the selection
of a retired judge with at least 10 years of judicial experience. Discovery shall be as provided by the CPR rules. The arbitration award shall be in
writing and shall include a reasoned opinion by the Arbitrator. Consistent with the waiver of all claims to punitive or exemplary damages, the
Arbitrator shall have no authority to award such damages. The parties understand that their right to appeal or to seek modification of any ruling or
award of the arbitrator is severely limited, if any. Awards issued by the arbitrator shall be final and binding, and judgment may be entered on it in
any court of competent jurisdiction. All parties shall keep confidential the fact of the arbitration, the dispute being arbitrated, and the decision of
the arbitrator. Any and all disputes regarding this arbitration provision and its enforceability shall be exclusively submitted to the United States
District Court for the District of Delaware, if it has jurisdiction, and failing that, to the Delaware state court in Wilmington, Delaware.

(d) NO RECOVERY OF ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS. Each party agrees that in any litigation or proceeding between the parties
arising out of, connected with, related to, or incidental to the relationship between them in connection with the Operative Documents, each party
shall bear all of its own attorneys' fees and costs regardless of which party prevails, except when prohibited by applicable law.

(e) CLASS ACTION AND MASS ACTION WAIVER. As part of this provision of arbitration as the contracted method of all dispute
resolution under this Agreement, any claim, whether brought in a court of law or in arbitration, must be brought in the Participant's individual
capacity, and not as a candidate for appointment)representative of any purported class or as a "mass action" (involving multiple plaintiffs)
("Class/Mass Action"). The parties expressly waive any ability to maintain any Class/Mass Action in any forum. The arbitrator shall not have
authority to combine or aggregate similar claims or conduct any Class/Mass Action nor make an award to any officer, executive officer person or
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director role entity not a party to the arbitration. Any claim that all or part of this Class/Mass Action waiver is unenforceable, unconscionable, void,
or voidable may be determined only by a court of competent jurisdiction and not by an arbitrator. The Participant understands that but for this
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Agreement, he or she would have had a right to litigate through a court, to have a judge or jury decide the case and to be party to
a Class/Mass Action. However, in exchange for the potential incentive awards provided herein and the receipt of the benefit of
arbitration, the Participant understands and chooses to have only his or her individual claims decided, each in a separate case, by an
arbitrator.

) WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW AND EXPRESSLY BECAUSE OF THE COMPLEXITY OF
THE MATTERS IN THE OPERATIVE DOCUMENTS, EACH PARTY WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO HAVE A JURY PARTICIPATE IN RESOLVING ANY DISPUTE
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THE OPERATIVE DOCUMENTS.

(8) WAIVER OF PUNITIVE AND EXEMPLARY DAMAGE CLAIMS. The Participant waives, to the fullest extent allowed by law, any
claims or rights to recover punitive, exemplary or similar damages.

(h) LIMIT ON ACTUAL DAMAGES. In no event may the actual damages awarded to the Participant in a dispute arising out of or
relating to the Operative Documents exceed the Fair Market Value of the Performance RSU Target Award set forth on the first page of this
Agreement as of the vesting date, reduced by the value of any publicly listed company (includingshares or payments previously received under this
Agreement (the "Damages Limit"). The Participant knowingly, voluntarily and irrevocably waives and releases any claim to damages in excess of
this Damages Limit.

(i) LIMITATION OF REMEDIES. Except when prohibited by applicable law, the Corporation) duringprocedures and remedies set
forth in this Agreement shall constitute the past ten (10) years, sole remedies available to the Participant. In no event shall the Participant seek

equitable relief, injunctive relief, or otherwise bring claims directly or derivatively for ultra vires, corporate waste, breach of fiduciary duty, or any
other claim or cause of action, whether legal or equitable, sounding in contract or tort. Nothing in this clause is intended to waive or limit any claim
brought pursuant to any federal or state statute related to the protection of civil rights. Should any provision in this Agreement be found by a court
of competent jurisdiction, after all appellate rights are exhausted, to be unenforceable or void, the Parties expressly agree to sever such provision
and (B)to otherwise proceed to dispute resolution with the remaining provisions in the Mandatory Arbitration provisions.

18. Performance RSUs Subject to Plan: By entering into this Agreement the Participant agrees and acknowledges that the Participant has
received and read a complete and accurate description copy of the outcome2018 Plan and the 2018 Plan's prospectus. The Performance RSUs and the
Common Shares issued upon settlement of such Performance RSUs are subject to the 2018 Plan, which is hereby incorporated by reference. In the event
of any situations described conflict between any term or provision of this Agreement and a term or provision of the 2018 Plan, the applicable terms and
provisions of the 2018 Plan shall govern and prevail.

19.  Validity of Agreement: This Agreement shall be valid, binding and effective upon the Company on the Grant Date. The Participant
must accept this Agreement electronically pursuant to the foregoing clause (A), (v) whether such person has (A) notified online acceptance procedure
established by the board Company within 90 days; otherwise the Company may, in its sole discretion, rescind the Award in its entirety.

20. Headings:The headings preceding the text of directorsthe sections hereof are inserted solely for convenience of each publicly listed
company at which such person serves as an officer, executive officer reference, and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement, nor shall they affect its
meaning, construction or director effect.
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21. Compliance with respect to such person's proposed nomination for electionSection 409A of the Internal Revenue Code:
Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the Board contrary, this Agreement will be interpreted and applied so that the Agreement does not fail
to meet, and is operated in accordance with, the requirements of Directors, Section 409A of the Code. The Company reserves the right to change the terms
of this Agreement and (B) as applicable, received all necessary consents to serve on the Board of Directors if so nominated and elected or otherwise
appointed (or, if any such consents have not been received, how such person intends to address such failure to receive such necessary consents), (vi)

whether such person's nomination, election or appointment, as applicable, would violate or contravene a corporate governance policy, including, 2018
Plan without limitation, a conflicts of interest or "overboarding" policy of any publicly listed company at which such person serves as an officer, executive
officer or director, and, if so, a description of how such person intends to address such violation or contravention, (vii) the first date of contact between
any Holder and/or Stockholder Associated Person, on the one hand, and such person, on the other hand, with respectParticipant's consent to the
Corporation, (viii)extent necessary or desirable to comply with the amount and nature requirements of Code Section 409A. Further, in accordance with the
restrictions provided by Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(j)(2), any direct or indirect economic or financial interest, if any, of such person, or of any
immediate family member of such person, in any funds or vehicles managed by, under common management with or affiliated with any Holder or
Stockholder Associated Person, (ix) a complete and accurate description of all direct and indirect compensation and other monetary or non-monetary
agreements, arrangements and understandings (whether written or oral) existing presently, that existed during the past three (3) years or were offered
during the past three (3) years (whether accepted or declined), and any other material relationships, between or among the Holders or any Stockholder
Associated Person, on the one hand, and such person, and any member of the immediate family of such person, and such person's respective Affiliates
and Associates, or others acting in concert therewith, subsequent amendments to this Agreement or any other person agreement, or persons, on the other
hand (including the names entering into or termination of such persons) and all biographical, related party transaction and other information that would
be required to be disclosed pursuant to the federal and state securities laws, including Rule 404 promulgated under Regulation S-K ("Regulation S-K")
under the Securities Act of 1933 (the "Securities Act") (or any successor provision), if any Holder or any Stockholder Associated Person were the
"registrant" for purposes of such rule and such person were a director or executive officer of such registrant, (x) information relevant to a determination of
whether such person can be considered an independent director, (xi) any other information relating to such person that would be required to be
disclosed agreement, affecting the Performance RSUs provided by this Agreement shall not modify the time or form of issuance of the Performance RSUs
set forth in this Agreement. In addition, if the Participant is a proxy statement or"specified employee" within the meaning of Code Section 409A, as
determined by the Company, any other filings required to be payment made in connection with solicitation the Participant's separation from service shall
not be made earlier than six months and one day after the date of proxies such separation from service to the extent required by Code Section 409A.

22. Definitions: The following terms shall have the following meanings for purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding any contrary
definition in the 2018 Plan:

(@ "Adjusted Earnings Per Share" or "Adjusted EPS" means a measure used by the Company's management to measure performance,
defined as earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Celanese Corporation, adjusted for income tax (provision) benefit, certain
items, refinancing and related expenses, divided by the number of basic common shares and dilutive restricted stock units and stock options
calculated using the treasury method and further adjusted for certain items as determined by the Company (consistent with the provisions of
Section 13(b) of the 2018 Plan) and as approved by the Committee.

Note: The income tax rate used for adjusted earnings per share approximates the midpoint in a range of forecasted tax rates for
the electionyear. This range may include certain partial or full-year forecasted tax opportunities, where applicable, and specifically
excludes changes in uncertain tax positions, discrete items and other material items adjusted out of directors our GAAP earnings for
adjusted earnings per share purposes, and changes in management's assessments regarding the ability to realize deferred tax assets.
In determining the adjusted earnings per share tax rate, we reflect the impact of foreign tax credits when utilized, or expected to be
utilized, absent discrete events impacting the timing of foreign tax credit utilization. We analyze this rate quarterly and adjust if there is
a material change in the range of forecasted tax rates; an updated forecast would not necessarily result in a contested election change
to our tax rate used for adjusted earnings per share. The adjusted tax rate is an estimate and may differ from the actual tax rate used
for GAAP reporting in any given reporting period. It is not practical to reconcile our prospective adjusted tax rate to the actual GAAP
tax rate in any given future period.

(b) "Adjusted EBIT" means net earnings (loss) attributable to Celanese Corporation, plus (earnings) loss from discontinued operations,
less interest income, plus interest expense, refinancing expense and taxes, and further adjusted for certain items attributable to Celanese
Corporation as determined by the Company (consistent with the provisions of Section 13(b) of the 2018 Plan) and as approved by the Committee.

(c) "Cause” means, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion, (i) the Participant's willful failure to perform the Participant's
duties to the Company (other than as a result of total or partial incapacity due to physical or mental illness) for a period of 30 days following written
notice by the Company to the Participant of such failure, (ii) the Participant's conviction of, or a plea of nolo contendere to, (x) a felony under the
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laws of the United States or any state thereof or any similar criminal act in a jurisdiction outside the United States or (y) a crime involving moral
turpitude, (iii) the Participant's willful malfeasance or willful misconduct
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which is demonstrably injurious to the Company or its affiliates, (iv) any act of fraud by the Participant, (v) any violation of the
Company's business conduct policy, (vi) any violation of the Company's policies concerning harassment or discrimination by the
Participant, (vii) the Participant's conduct that is otherwise required pursuant causes harm to the business reputation of the Company
or its affiliates, or (viii) the Participant's breach of any confidentiality, intellectual property, noncompetition or non-solicitation
provisions applicable to the Participant under the Long-Term Incentive Claw-Back Agreement or any other agreement between the
Participant and the Company. "Cause" shall be determined by the Company in accordance withits sole discretion, and such
determination shall be final, binding, and conclusive on the Participant.

(d) "Change in Control" means:

(i) any individual, entity or group (within the meaning of Section 1413(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (including such person's
written consent to being named in proxy statements as a proposed nominee of the Noticing Stockholder and to serving as a
director if elected), and (xii) a completed and signed questionnaire, representation and agreement and any and all other
information required by paragraph (A)(3)(e) of this Section 2.03;

(b) as to any other business that the Noticing Stockholder proposes to bring before the meeting: (i) a brief
description of the business desired to be brought before the meeting, (ii) the reasons for conducting such business at the meeting, (iii) any
material interest of each Holder and each Stockholder Associated Person, if any, in such business, (iv) the text of the proposal or business
(including the text of any resolutions proposed for consideration and, in the event that such business includes a proposal to amend the By-
laws of the Corporation, the text of the proposed amendment), and (v) a description of all agreements, arrangements and understandings
between each Holder and any Stockholder Associated Person and any other person or persons (including their names) in connection with
the proposal of such business by the Noticing Stockholder;

(c) as to the Noticing Stockholder and) (a "Person") becomes the beneficial owner if any, on whose behalf(within
the nomination is made or the other business is being proposed (collectively with the Noticing Stockholder, the "Holders" and each a
"Holder"): (i) the name and address meaning of each Holder, as the name and address appear on the Corporation's books, and the name and
address of each Stockholder Associated Person, if any, (ii) as of the date of the notice (which information, for the avoidance of doubt, shall be
updated and supplemented pursuant to paragraph (D)(3) of this Section 2.03), (A) the class or series and number of shares of capital stock of
the Corporation which are, directly or indirectly, held of record or owned beneficially by each Holder and any Stockholder Associated Person
(provided that, for the purposes of this Section 2.03(A), any such person shall in all events be deemed to beneficially own any shares of stock
of the Corporation as to which such person has a right to acquire beneficial ownership at any time in the future (whether such right is
exercisable immediately or only after the passage of time or the fulfilment of a condition or both)), (B) any short position, profits interest,
option, warrant, convertible security, stock appreciation right or similar right with an exercise or conversion privilege or a settlement
payment or mechanism at a price related to any class or series of shares of the Corporation or with a value derived in whole or in part from
the value of any class or series of shares of the Corporation, or any derivative or synthetic arrangement having the characteristics of a long
position in any class or series of shares of the Corporation, or any contract, derivative, swap or other transaction or series of transactions
designed to produce economic benefits and risks that correspond substantially to the ownership of any class or series of shares of the
Corporation, including due to the fact that the value of such contract, derivative, swap or other transaction or series of transactions is
determined by reference to the price, value or volatility of any class or series of shares of the Corporation, whether or not such instrument,
contract or right shall be subject to settlement in the underlying class or series of shares of the Corporation, through the delivery of cash or
other property, or otherwise, and without regard to whether the Holder and any Stockholder Associated Person may have entered into
transactions that hedge or mitigate the economic effect of such instrument, contract or right, or any other direct or indirect opportunity to
profit or share in any profit derived from any increase or decrease in the value of shares of the Corporation (any of the foregoing, a
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"Derivative Instrument") directly or indirectly owned or held, including beneficially, by each Holder and any Stockholder Associated Person,
(C) a description of any proxy, contract, arrangement, understanding or relationship pursuant to which each Holder and any Stockholder
Associated Person has any right to vote or has granted a right to vote any shares of stock or any other security of the Corporation, (D) any
agreement, arrangement, understanding, relationship or otherwise, including any repurchase or similar so-called "stock borrowing"
agreement or arrangement, involving any Holder or any Stockholder Associated Person, on the one hand, and any person acting in concert
therewith, on the other hand, directly or indirectly, the purpose or effect of which is to mitigate loss to, reduce the

economic risk (of ownership or otherwise) of any class or series of the shares of the Corporation by, manage the risk of share price
changes for, or increase or decrease the voting power of, such Holder or any Stockholder Associated Person with respect to any class or
series of the shares or other securities of the Corporation, or which provides, directly or indirectly, the opportunity to profit or share in any
profit derived from any decrease in the price or value of any class or series of the shares or other securities of the Corporation (any of the
foregoing, a "Short Interest"), and any Short Interest held by each Holder or any Stockholder Associated Person within the last twelve (12)
months in any class or series of the shares or other securities of the Corporation, (E) any rights to dividends or payments in lieu of dividends
on the shares of the Corporation owned beneficially by each Holder or any Stockholder Associated Person that are separated or separable
from the underlying shares of stock or other security of the Corporation, (F) any proportionate interest in shares of stock or other securities
of the Corporation or Derivative Instruments held, directly or indirectly, by a general or limited partnership or limited liability company or
other entity in which any Holder or any Stockholder Associated Person is a general partner or directly or indirectly beneficially owns an
interest in a general partner, is the manager, managing member or directly or indirectly beneficially owns an interest in the manager or
managing member of a limited liability company or other entity, (G) any performance-related fees (other than an asset-based fee) that each
Holder or any Stockholder Associated Person is or may be entitled to based on any increase or decrease in the value of stock or other
securities of the Corporation or Derivative Instruments, if any, including without limitation, any such interests held by members of the
immediate family sharing the same household of such Holder or any Stockholder Associated Person, (H) any direct or indirect legal,
economic or financial interest (including Short Interest) of each Holder and each Stockholder Associated Person, if any, in the outcome of
any (x) vote to be taken at any annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation or (y) any meeting of stockholders of any other
entity with respect to any matter that is related, directly or indirectly, to any nomination or business proposed by any Holder under these By-
laws, (I) any direct or indirect legal, economic or financial interest or any Derivative Instruments or Short Interests in any principal competitor
of the Corporation held by each Holder or any Stockholder Associated Person, (J) any direct or indirect interest of each Holder or any
Stockholder Associated Person in any contract with the Corporation, any affiliate of the Corporation or any principal competitor of the
Corporation (including, in any such case, any employment agreement, collective bargaining agreement or consulting agreement); and (K) any
material pending or threatened action, suit or proceeding (whether civil, criminal, investigative, administrative or otherwise) in which any
Holder or any Stockholder Associated Person is, or is reasonably expected to be made, a party or material participant involving the
Corporation or any of its officers, directors or employees, or any Affiliate of the Corporation, or any officer, director or employee of such
Affiliate (subclause (A)(3)(c)(ii) of this Section 2.03 shall be referred to as the "Specified Information"), (iii) a representation by the Noticing
Stockholder that such stockholder is a holder of record of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote at such meeting, will continue to be a
stockholder of record of the Corporation entitled to vote at such meeting through the date of such meeting and intends to appear in person
or by proxy at the meeting to propose such nomination or other business, (iv) all information that would be required to be set forth in a
Schedule 13D filed pursuant to Rule 13d-1(a) or an amendment pursuant to Rule 13d-2(a) if such a statement were required to be filed under
the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder by each Holder and each Stockholder Associated Person, if any, (v)
any other information relating to each Holder and each Stockholder Associated Person, if any, that would be required to be disclosed in a
proxy statement and form of proxy or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for, as applicable, the
proposal and/or for the election of directors in a contested election pursuant to Section 14 of the Exchange Act and the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder, (vi) a representation by the Noticing Stockholder as to whether any Holder and/or any Stockholder
Associated Person intends or is part of a group which intends: (A) to deliver a proxy statement and/or form of proxy to holders of at least the
percentage of the Corporation's outstanding capital stock required to elect the proposed nominee or approve or adopt the other business
being proposed and/or (B) otherwise to solicit proxies from stockholders in support of such nomination or other business, (vii) a certification
by the Noticing Stockholder that each Holder and any Stockholder Associated Person has complied with all applicable federal, state and
other legal requirements in connection with its acquisition of shares of capital stock or other securities of the Corporation and/or such
person's acts or omissions as a stockholder of the Corporation, (viii) the statement required by Rule 14a-19(b)(3) of the Exchange Act (or any
successor provision), (ix) the names and addresses of other stockholders (including beneficial owners) known by any of the Holder or
Stockholder Associated Person to support such proposal(s) or nomination(s), and to the extent known the class or series and number of all
shares of the Corporation's capital stock owned beneficially or of record by such other stockholder(s) or other beneficial owner(s), and (x) a
representation by the Noticing Stockholder as to the accuracy of the information set forth in the notice.

(d) The Corporation may also, as a condition to any such nomination or business being deemed properly brought
before a meeting of stockholders, require any Holder or any proposed nominee to deliver to the Secretary, within five (5) Business Days of
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any such request, such other information as may reasonably be requested by the Corporation, including (i) such other information as may
be reasonably required by the Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, to determine (x) the eligibility of such proposed nominee to serve as
a director of the Corporation, and (y) whether such proposed nominee qualifies as an "independent director" or "audit committee financial
expert" under applicable law, securities exchange rule or regulation or any publicly disclosed corporate governance guideline or committee
charter of the Corporation and (ii) such other information that the Board of Directors determines, in its sole discretion, could be material to
a reasonable stockholder's understanding of the independence, or lack thereof, of such proposed nominee.

(e) In addition to the other requirements of this Section 2.03, each person who a Noticing Stockholder proposes to
nominate for election or re-election as a director of the Corporation must deliver in writing (in accordance with the time periods prescribed
for delivery of notice under this Section 2.03) to the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation (i) a written questionnaire
with respect to the background and qualification of such person and the background of any other person or entity on whose behalf the
nomination is being made (which questionnaire shall be provided by the Secretary upon written request of any stockholder of record
identified by name within five (5) Business Days of such written request) and (ii) a written representation and agreement (in the form
provided by the Secretary upon written request of any stockholder of record identified by name within five (5) Business Days of such written
request) that such person (A) is not and will not become a party to (x) any agreement, arrangement or understanding (whether written or
oral) with, and has not given any commitment or assurance to, any person or entity as to how such person, if elected as a director of the
Corporation, will act or vote on any issue or question (for purposes of paragraphs (A) and (C) of Section 2.03, a "Voting Commitment") that
has not been disclosed to the Corporation or (y) any Voting Commitment that could limit or interfere with such person's ability to comply, if

elected as a director of the Corporation, with such person's fiduciary duties under applicable law, (B) is not and will not become a party
to any agreement, arrangement or understanding with any person or entity other than the Corporation with respect to any direct or indirect
compensation, reimbursement or indemnification in connection with service or action as a director that has not been disclosed to the
Corporation, (C) in such person's individual capacity and on behalf of any person or entity on whose behalf the nomination is being made,
would be in compliance, if elected as a director of the Corporation, and will comply with all applicable rules of the exchanges upon which the
securities of the Corporation are listed and all applicable publicly disclosed corporate governance, conflict of interest, confidentiality and
stock ownership and trading policies and guidelines of the Corporation, and (D) in such person's individual capacity and on behalf of any
Holder on whose behalf the nomination is being made, intends to serve a full term if elected as a director of the Corporation.

(B)  Stockholder Nominations Included in the Corporation's Proxy Materials.

(1)  Subject to the provisions of paragraph (B) of this Section 2.03, if expressly requested in the relevant Nomination
Notice (as defined below), the Corporation shall include in its proxy statement for an annual meeting of stockholders: (a) the name of each
person nominated for election (the "Nominee"), which shall also be included on the Corporation's form of proxy for the applicable annual
meeting, by any Eligible Holder or group of up to 20 Eligible Holders that has (individually and collectively, in the case of a qualifying group)
satisfied, as determined by the Board of Directors or its designee, acting in good faith, all applicable conditions and complied with all
applicable procedures set forth in paragraph (B) of this Section 2.03 (such Eligible Holder or group of Eligible Holders being a "Nominating
Stockholder"); (b) disclosure about the Nominee and the Nominating Stockholder required under the rules of the Securities and Exchange
Commission ("SEC") or other applicable law to be included in the proxy statement; (c) a statement included by the Nominating Stockholder in
the Nomination Notice for inclusion in the proxy statement in support of the Nominee's election to the Board of Directors (subject, without
limitation, to clause (b) of paragraph (B)(5) of this Section 2.03), if such statement does not exceed 500 words; and (d) any other information
that the Corporation or the Board of Directors determines, in its discretion, to include in the proxy statement relating to the nomination of
the Nominee, including, without limitation, any statement in opposition to the nomination and any of the information provided pursuant to
paragraph (B) of this Section 2.03. For the avoidance of doubt, and any other provision of these By-laws notwithstanding, the Corporation
may in its sole discretion solicit against, and include in the proxy statement its own statements or other information relating to, any
Nominating Stockholder and/or Nominee, including any information provided to the Corporation with respect to the foregoing.

(2) (a) The Corporation shall not be required to include in any proxy statement for an annual meeting of stockholders
more Nominees than that number of directors constituting, the greater of (A) two directors and (B) such whole number not exceeding 20% of
the total number of directors of the Corporation on the last day on which a Nomination Notice may be submitted pursuant to paragraph (B)
of this Section 2.03 (such number of Nominees, subject to the following provisos, the "Maximum Number"); provided, however, that in the
event that one or more vacancies for any reason occurs on the Board of Directors after the deadline set forth in paragraph (B)(4) of this
Section 2.03, but before the date of the annual meeting, and the Board of Directors resolves to reduce the size of the Board of Directors in
connection therewith, the Maximum Number shall be calculated based on the number of directors in office as so

reduced. (b) The Maximum Number for a particular annual meeting shall be reduced by: (i) the number of Nominees who are
subsequently withdrawn or that the Board of Directors itself decides to nominate for election at such annual meeting, (ii) the number of such
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director candidates for which the Corporation has received one or more valid stockholder notices nominating director candidates pursuant
to paragraph (A) of this Section 2.03 of these By-laws, (iii) the number of directors in office or director candidates that in either case will be
included in the Corporation's proxy materials with respect to such annual meeting as an unopposed (by the Corporation) nominee pursuant
to any agreement, arrangement or other understanding with any stockholder or group of stockholders (other than any such agreement,
arrangement or understanding entered into in connection with an acquisition of common stock of the Corporation by such stockholder or
group of stockholders from the Corporation), other than any such director referred to in this clause (iii) who at the time of such annual
meeting will have served as a director continuously, as a nominee of the Board of Directors of the Corporation, for the preceding three
annual meetings, but only to the extent the Maximum Number after such reduction with respect to this clause (iii) equals or exceeds one and
(iv) the number of incumbent directors who had been Nominees with respect to any of the preceding three annual meetings of stockholders
and whose re-election at the upcoming annual meeting is being recommended by the Board of Directors. (c) If, pursuant to paragraph (B) of
this Section 2.03, the number of Nominees for any annual meeting of stockholders exceeds the Maximum Number then, promptly upon
notice from the Corporation, each Nominating Stockholder will select one Nominee for inclusion in the proxy statement until the Maximum
Number is reached, going in order of the amount (largest to smallest) of the ownership position of each Nominating Stockholders, as
disclosed in each Nominating Stockholder's Nomination Notice, with the process repeated if the Maximum Number is not reached after each
Nominating Stockholder has selected one Nominee. If, after the deadline for submitting a Nomination Notice as set forth in paragraph (B)(4)
of this Section 2.03, a Nominating Stockholder becomes ineligible or withdraws its nomination or a Nominee becomes unwilling to serve on
the Board of Directors, whether before or after the mailing of the definitive proxy statement, then the nomination shall be disregarded, and
the Corporation: (i) shall not be required to include in its proxy statement or form of proxy or other filings required to be made in connection
with solicitations of proxies the disregarded Nominee or any successor or replacement nominee proposed by the Nominating Stockholder
or by any other Nominating Stockholder; and (ii) may otherwise communicate to its stockholders, including without limitation by amending
or supplementing its proxy statement or form of proxy or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies, that
the Nominee will not be included as a Nominee in the proxy statement or on any or form of proxy or other filings required to be made in
connection with solicitations of proxies and will not be voted on at the annual meeting.

3) (a) An "Eligible Holder" is a person who has either (i) been a record holder of the shares of common stock used to
satisfy the eligibility requirements in this Section 2.03(B) continuously for the three-year period specified in clause (b) of this paragraph or (ii)
provides to the Secretary of the Corporation, within the time period referred to in paragraph (B)(4), evidence of continuous ownership of
such shares for such three-year period from one or more securities intermediaries in a form that the Board of Directors or its designee,
acting in good faith, determines would be deemed acceptable for purposes of a shareholder proposal under Rule 14a-8(b)(2) (or any
successor thereof) 13d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act.

(b)  An Eligible HolderAct) of 30% or groupmore of up to 20 Eligible Holders may submit a nomination in
accordance with paragraph (B) of this Section 2.03 only ifeither (A) the person or group has continuously owned at least the Minimum
Number (as defined below) of shares of the Corporation's common stock throughout the three-year period preceding and including the date
of submission of the Nomination Notice, and continues to own at least the Minimum Number through the date of the annual meeting. A
group of funds under common management and investment control shall be treated as one Eligible Holder if such Eligible Holder shall
provide together with the Nomination Notice documentation reasonably satisfactory to the Corporation that demonstrates that the funds
are under common management and investment control. For the avoidance of doubt, in the event of a nomination by a group of Eligible
Holders, any and all requirements and obligations for an individual Eligible Holder that are set forth in paragraph (B) of this Section 2.03,
including the minimum holding period, shall apply to each member of such group; provided, however, that the Minimum Number shall apply
to the ownership of the group in the aggregate. Should any stockholder withdraw from a group of Eligible Holders at any time prior to the
annual meeting of stockholders, the group of Eligible Holders shall only be deemed to own the shares held by the remaining members of the

group.

(@) The "Minimum Number" of shares of the Corporation's common stock means 3% of the total number of
outstanding shares of the Corporation's common stock as of the most recent date for which such amount is given in any filing by the
Corporation with the SEC prior to the submission of the Nomination Notice.

(d)  For purposes of paragraph (B) of this Section 2.03, an Eligible Holder "owns" only those outstandingthen-
outstanding shares of common stock of the Corporation as to which Company (the "Outstanding Company Common Stock") or (B) the
Eligible Holder possesses both: (i) the full voting and investment rights pertaining to the shares; and (ii) the full economic interest in
(including the opportunity for profit and risk of loss on) such shares; provided that the number of shares calculated in accordance with
clauses (i) and (ii) of this clause (d) shall not include any shares: (A) sold by such Eligible Holder or any of its affiliates in any transaction that
has not been settled or closed, (B) borrowed by such Eligible Holder or any of its affiliates for any purpose or purchased by such Eligible
Holder or any of its affiliates pursuant to an agreement to resell, or (C) subject to any option, warrant, forward contract, swap, contract of
sale, other derivative or similar agreement entered into by such Eligible Holder or any of its affiliates, whether any such instrument or
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agreement is to be settled with shares or with cash based on the notional amount or value of outstanding shares of common stock of the
Corporation, in any such case which instrument or agreement has, or is intended to have, the purpose or effect of: (x) reducing in any
manner, to any extent or at any time in the future, such Eligible Holder's or any of its affiliates' full right to vote or direct the voting of any
such shares, and/or (y) hedging, offsetting, or altering to any degree, gain or loss arising from the full economic ownership of such shares by
such Eligible Holder or any of its affiliates. An Eligible Holder "owns" shares held in the name of a nominee or other intermediary so long as
the Eligible Holder retains the right to instruct how the shares are voted with respect to the election of directors and possesses the full
economic interest in the shares. An Eligible Holder's ownership of shares shall be deemed to continue during any period in which the Eligible
Holder has delegated any voting power by means of a proxy, power of attorney, or other similar instrument or arrangement that is
revocable at any time by the Eligible Holder. An Eligible Holder's ownership of shares shall be deemed to continue during any period in which
the Eligible Holder has loaned such shares provided that the Eligible Holder has the power to recall such loaned shares on five Business
Days' notice and has recalled such loaned shares as of the date of

the Nomination Notice and holds such shares through the date of the annual meeting. The terms "owned," "owning" and other variations
of the word "own" shall have correlative meanings. Whether outstanding shares of the Corporation are "owned" for these purposes shall be
determined by the Board of Directors.

(e)  No person shall be permitted to be in more than one group constituting a Nominating Stockholder, and if any
person appears as a member of more than one group, it shall be deemed to be a member of the group that has the largest ownership
position as reflected in the Nomination Notice.

(4) To nominate a Nominee pursuant to this Section 2.03, the Nominating Stockholder must, no earlier than 150 calendar
days and no later than 120 calendar days before the anniversary of the date that the Corporation mailed its proxy statement for the prior
year's annual meeting of stockholders, submit to the Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive office of the Corporation all of
the following information and documents (collectively, the "Nomination Notice"): (a) a Schedule 14N (or any successor form) relating to the
Nominee, completed and filed with the SEC by the Nominating Stockholder as applicable, in accordance with SEC's rules; (b) a written notice
of the nomination of such Nominee that includes the following additional information, agreements, representations and warranties by the
Nominating Stockholder (including each group member): (i) the information required with respect to the nomination of directors pursuant
to paragraph (A)(3) of this Section 2.03; (ii) the details of any relationship that existed within the past three years and that would have been
described pursuant to Item 6(e) of Schedule 14N (or any successor item) if it existed on the date of submission of the Schedule 14N; (iii) a
representation and warranty that the Nominating Stockholder did not acquire, and is not holding, securities of the Corporation for the
purpose or with the effect of influencing or changing control of the Corporation; (iv) a representation and warranty that the Nominee's
candidacy or, if elected, Board of Directors membership would not violate applicable state or federal law or the rules of any stock exchange
on which the Corporation's securities are traded; (v) a representation and warranty that the Nominee: (A) does not have any direct or
indirect relationship with the Corporation other than those relationships that have been deemed categorically immaterial pursuant to the
Corporation's Director Independence Standards, as most recently published on the Corporation's website, and otherwise qualifies as
independent under the rules of the primary stock exchange on which the Corporation's securities are traded; (B) meets the audit committee
independence requirements under the rules of any stock exchange on which the Corporation's securities are traded; (C) is a "non-employee
director"” for the purposes of Rule 16b-3 (or any successor thereof) under the Exchange Act; (D) is an "outside director" for the purposes of
Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code (or any successor provision); and (E) is not and has not been subject to any event specified in
Rule 506(d)(1) (or any successor thereof) of Regulation D under the Securities Act or Item 401(f) (or any successor thereof) of Regulation S-K,
without reference to whether the event is material to an evaluation of the ability or integrity of the Nominee; (vi) a representation and
warranty that the Nominating Stockholder satisfies the eligibility requirements set forth in paragraph (B)(3) of this Section 2.03 and has
provided evidence of ownership to the extent required by clause (a) of paragraph (B)(3) of this Section 2.03; (vii) a representation and
warranty that the Nominating Stockholder intends to continue to satisfy the eligibility requirements described in paragraph (B)(3) of this
Section 2.03 through the date of the annual meeting; (viii) details of any position of the Nominee as an officer or director of any competitor
(that is, any entity that produces products or provides services that compete with or are alternatives to the products produced or services
provided by the

Corporation or its affiliates) of the Corporation, within the three years preceding the submission of the Nomination Notice; (ix) a
representation and warranty that the Nominating Stockholder will not engage in a "solicitation" within the meaning of Rule 14a-1(l) (without
reference to the exception in Section 14a-(I)(2)(iv)) (or any successors thereof) with respect to the annual meeting, other than with respect to
the Nominee or any nominee of the Board of Directors; (x) a representation and warranty that the Nominating Stockholder will not use any
proxy card other than the Corporation's proxy card in soliciting stockholders in connection with the election of a Nominee at the annual
meeting; (xi) if desired, a statement for inclusion in the proxy statement in support of the Nominee's election to the Board of Directors,
provided that such statement shall not exceed 500 words and shall fully comply with Section 14 of the Exchange Act and the rules and
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regulations thereunder, including Rule 14a-9 (or any successors thereof); and (xii) in the case of a nomination by a group, the designation by
all group members of one group member that is authorized to act on behalf of all group members with respect to matters relating to the
nomination, including withdrawal of the nomination; (c) an executed agreement, in a form deemed satisfactory by the Board of Directors or
its designee, acting in good faith, pursuant to which the Nominating Stockholder (including each group member) agrees: (i) to comply with all
applicable laws, rules and regulations in connection with the nomination, solicitation and election; (ii) to file any written solicitation or other
communication with the Corporation's stockholders relating to one or more of the Corporation's directors or director nominees or any
Nominee with the SEC, regardless of whether any such filing is required under rule or regulation or whether any exemption from filing is
available for such materials under any rule or regulation; (iii) to assume all liability stemming from an action, suit or proceeding concerning
any actual or alleged legal or regulatory violation arising out of any communication by the Nominating Stockholder with the Corporation, its
stockholders or any other person in connection with the nomination or election of directors, including, without limitation, the Nomination
Notice; (iv) to indemnify and hold harmless (jointly with all other group members, in the case of a group member) the Corporation and its
affiliates and each of its directors, officers and employees individually against any liability, loss, damages, expenses or other costs (including
attorneys' fees) incurred in connection with any threatened or pending action, suit or proceeding, whether legal, administrative or
investigative, against the Corporation or any of its directors, officers or employees arising out of or relating to a failure or alleged failure of
the Nominating Stockholder to comply with, or any breach or alleged breach of, its obligations, agreements or representations under
paragraph (B) of this Section 2.03; and (v) in the event that any information included in the Nomination Notice, or any other communication
by the Nominating Stockholder (including with respect to any group member), with the Corporation, its stockholders or any other person in
connection with the nomination or election ceases to be true and accurate in all material respects (or due to a subsequent development
omits a material fact necessary to make the statements made not misleading), or that the Nominating Stockholder (including any group
member) has failed to continue to satisfy the eligibility requirements described in paragraph (B)(3) of this Section 2.03, to promptly (and in
any event within 48 hours of discovering such misstatement or omission) notify the Corporation and any other recipient of such
communication of the misstatement or omission in such previously provided information and of the information that is required to correct
the misstatement or omission; and (d) an executed agreement, in a form deemed satisfactory by the Board of Directors or its designee,
acting in good faith, by the Nominee: (i) to provide to the Corporation such other information, including completion of the Corporation's
director questionnaire, as it may reasonably request; (ii) that the Nominee has read and agrees, if elected, to serve as a member of the Board
of Directors, to adhere to the Corporation's Corporate Governance Guidelines and Business Conduct Policy and any other

Corporation policies and guidelines applicable to directors; and (iii) that the Nominee is not and will not become a party to (A) any
compensatory, payment or other financial agreement, arrangement or understanding with any person or entity in connection with service
or action as a director of the Corporation that has not been disclosed to the Corporation, (B) any agreement, arrangement or understanding
with any person or entity as to how the Nominee would vote or act on any issue or question as a director (for purposes of this paragraph (B)
of Section 2.03, a "Voting Commitment") that has not been disclosed to the Corporation or (C) any Voting Commitment that could limit or
interfere with the Nominee's ability to comply, if elected as a director of the Corporation, with its fiduciary duties under applicable law. The
information and documents required by this paragraph shall be: (x) provided with respect to and executed by each group member, in the
case of information applicable to group members; and (y) provided with respect to the persons specified in Instruction 1 to ltems 6(c) and (d)
(or any successors thereof) of Schedule 14N in the case of a Nominating Stockholder or group member that is an entity. The Nomination
Notice shall be deemed submitted on the date on which all the information and documents referred to in this paragraph (other than such
information and documents contemplated to be provided after the date the Nomination Notice is provided) have been delivered to or, if
sent by mail, received by the Secretary of the Corporation.

(5) (a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in paragraph (B) of this Section 2.03, the Corporation may
omit from its proxy statement any Nominee and any information concerning such Nominee (including a Nominating Stockholder's statement
in support) and no vote on such Nominee will occur (notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been received by the
Corporation), and the Nominating Stockholder may not, after the last day on which a Nomination Notice would be timely, cure in any way any
defect preventing the nomination of the Nominee, if: (i) the Nominating Stockholder or the designated lead group member, as applicable, or
any qualified representative thereof, does not appear at the meeting of stockholders to present the nomination submitted pursuant to
paragraph (B) of this Section 2.03 or the Nominating Stockholder withdraws its nomination; (ii) the Board of Directors, acting in good faith,
determines that such Nominee's nomination or election to the Board of Directors would result in the Corporation violating or failing to be in
compliance with these By-laws or the Certificate of Incorporation or any applicable law, rule or regulation to which the Corporation is subject,
including any rules or regulations of any stock exchange on which the Corporation's securities are traded; (iii) the Nominee was nominated
for election to the Board of Directors pursuant to paragraph (B) of this Section 2.03 at one of the Corporation's two preceding annual
meetings of stockholders and either withdrew or became ineligible or received a vote of less than 25% of the votes cast for such Nominee;
(iv) the Nominee has been, within the past three years, an officer or director of a competitor, as defined for purposes of Section 8 of the
Clayton Antitrust Act of 1914, as amended; or (v) the Corporation is notified, or the Board of Directors acting in good faith determines, that a
Nominating Stockholder has failed to continue to satisfy the eligibility requirements described in paragraph (B)(3) of this Section 2.03, any of
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the representations and warranties made in the Nomination Notice ceases to be true and accurate in all material respects (or omits a
material fact necessary to make the statement not misleading), the Nominee becomes unwilling or unable to serve on the Board of Directors
or any material violation or breach occurs of the obligations, agreements, representations or warranties of the Nominating Stockholder or
the Nominee under paragraph (B) of this Section 2.03.

(b)  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in paragraph (B) of this Section 2.03, the Corporation may
omit from its proxy statement, or may supplement

or correct, any information, including all or any portion of the statement in support of the Nominee included in the Nomination Notice, if
the Board of Directors in good faith determines that: (i) such information is not true in all material respects or omits a material statement
necessary to make the statements made not misleading; (ii) such information directly or indirectly impugns character, integrity or personal
reputation of, or directly or indirectly makes charges concerning improper, illegal or immoral conduct or associations, without factual
foundation, with respect to, any person; or (iii) the inclusion of such information in the proxy statement would otherwise violate SEC's proxy
rules or any other applicable law, rule or regulation.

(C)  Special Meetings of Stockholders. Only such business shall be conducted at a special meeting of stockholders as shall have
been brought before the meeting pursuant to the Corporation's notice of meeting. Nominations of persons for election to the Board of
Directors may be made at a special meeting of stockholders at which directors are to be elected pursuant to the Corporation's notice of
meeting: (1) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or (2) provided that the Board of Directors has determined that directors shall be
elected at such meeting, by any stockholder of the Corporation who is entitled to vote at the meeting, who complies with the notice
procedures set forth in this Section 2.03 and who is a stockholder of record at the time such notice is delivered to the Secretary of the
Corporation and at the time of the special meeting of stockholders. In the event the Corporation calls a special meeting of stockholders for
the purpose of electing one or more directors to the Board of Directors, any Noticing Stockholder entitled to vote in such election of
directors may nominate a person or persons (as the case may be) for election to such position(s) as specified in the Corporation's notice of
meeting, if the Noticing Stockholder's notice as required by paragraphs (A)(2) and (A)(3) of this Section 2.03 shall be delivered to the Secretary
at the principal executive offices of the Corporation in proper written form not earlier than the Close of Business on the one hundred
twentieth (120th) day prior to such special meeting and not later than the Close of Business on the later of the ninetieth (90th) day prior to
such special meeting or the tenth (10th) day following the day on which public announcement is first made by the Corporation of the date of
the special meeting and of the nominees proposed by the Board of Directors to be elected at such meeting. In no event shall the public
announcement of an adjournment, recess, rescheduling or postponement of a special meeting commence a new time period (or extend any
time period) for the giving of a Noticing Stockholder's notice as described above.

(D) General.

(1) Only such persons who are nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in paragraphs (A) and (C) of this
Section 2.03 (in the case of an annual or special meeting) or paragraph (B) of this Section 2.03 (solely in the case of an annual meeting) shall
be eligible for election to serve as directors and only such other business shall be conducted at a meeting of stockholders as shall have been
brought before the meeting in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 2.03. Except as otherwise provided by law, the
Certificate of Incorporation or these By-laws, the Chair of the Board of Directors shall have the power and duty to determine whether a
nomination or any other business proposed to be brought before the meeting was made or proposed, as the case may be, in accordance
with the procedures set forth in these By-laws (including whether the Noticing Stockholder or other Holder, if any, on whose behalf the
nomination is made or other business is being proposed solicited (or is part of a group which solicited) or did not so solicit, as the case may
be, proxies in support of such Noticing

Stockholder's nominee or other business in compliance with such stockholder's representation as required by clause (c)(vi) of paragraph
A(3) of this Section 2.03). If any proposed nomination or other business was not made or proposed in compliance with these By-laws, the
chair of the meeting of stockholders shall have the power and duty to declare to the meeting that any such nomination or other business
was not properly brought before the meeting and in accordance with the provisions of these By-laws, and that such nomination or other
business not properly brought before the meeting shall be disregarded and/or shall not be transacted. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in these By-laws, if the Noticing Stockholder (or a qualified representative of the Noticing Stockholder) does not appear at the
annual or special meeting, as applicable, to present a nomination or other business, such nomination shall be disregarded and such other
business shall not be transacted, notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been received by the Corporation. For
purposes of this Section 2.03, to be considered a "qualified representative" of the Noticing Stockholder, a person must be authorized by a
document authorizing another person or persons to act for such stockholder as proxy at the meeting of stockholders and such person must
produce the document or a reliable reproduction of such document at the meeting of stockholders. A stockholder may authorize another
person or persons to act for such stockholder as proxy by transmitting or authorizing the transmission of an electronic transmission to the
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person who will be the holder of the proxy or to a proxy solicitation firm, proxy support service organization or like agent duly authorized by
the person who will be the holder of the proxy to receive such transmission, provided that any such transmission must either set forth or be
submitted with information from which it can be determined that the transmission was authorized by the stockholder. If it is determined that
such transmissions are valid, the inspectors or, if there are no inspectors, such other persons making that determination shall specify the
information upon which such inspectors or such persons relied.

(2) Nothing in these By-laws shall be deemed to affect any rights (i) of the holders of any class or series of stock having a
preference over the common stock of the Corporation as to dividends or upon liquidation to elect directors under specified circumstances,
or (ii) of stockholders to request inclusion of proposals in the Corporation's proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act
or any other applicable federal or state securities law with respect to that stockholder's request to include proposals in the Corporation's
proxy statement.

(3) In addition, to be considered timely, a Noticing Stockholder's notice shall further be updated and supplemented, if
necessary, so that the information provided or required to be provided in such notice shall be true and correct as of the record date for the
meeting and as of the date that is ten (10) Business Days prior to the meeting or any adjournment, recess, rescheduling or postponement
thereof, and such update and supplement shall be delivered to the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later
than five (5) Business Days after the record date for the meeting in the case of the update and supplement required to be made as of the
record date, and not later than eight (8) Business Days prior to the date for the meeting or any adjournment, recess, rescheduling or
postponement thereof in the case of the update and supplement required to be made as of ten (10) Business Days prior to the meeting or
any adjournment, recess, rescheduling or postponement thereof. In addition, if the Noticing Stockholder has delivered to the Corporation a
notice relating to the nomination of directors, the Noticing Stockholder shall deliver to the Corporation not later than eight (8) Business Days
prior to the date of the meeting or any adjournment, recess, rescheduling or postponement thereof

reasonable evidence that it has complied with the requirements of Rule 14a-19 of the Exchange Act (or any successor provision). For the
avoidance of doubt, the obligation to update and supplement set forth in this paragraph or any other Section of these By-laws shall not limit
the Corporation's rights with respect to any deficiencies in any notice provided by a stockholder, extend any applicable deadlines hereunder
or enable or be deemed to permit a stockholder who has previously submitted notice hereunder to amend or update any proposal or to
submit any new proposal, including by changing or adding nominees, matters, business and/or resolutions proposed to be brought before a
meeting of the stockholders.

(E) Definitions. For purposes of these By-laws,
(@) "Affiliate" shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act;
2) "Associate" shall have the meaning attributed to such term in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act;

(3) "Business Day" shall mean each Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday and Friday that is not a day on which
banking institutions in Irving, Texas or New York, New York are authorized or obligated by law or executive order to close;

(4) "Close of Business" on a particular day shall mean 5:00 p.m. local time at the principal executive offices of the
Corporation, and if an applicable deadline falls on the Close of Business on a day that is not a Business Day, then the applicable deadline
shall be deemed to be the Close of Business on the immediately preceding Business Day;

(5) "delivered" shall mean, both (a) hand delivery, overnight courier service, or by certified or registered mail, return
receipt requested, in each case to the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation, and (b) electronic mail to the Secretary;

(6)  "public announcement" shall mean disclosure: (a) in a press release released by the Corporation, provided such press
release is released by the Corporation following its customary procedures, as reported by the Dow Jones News Service, Associated Press or a
comparable national news service, or is generally available on internet news sites, or (b) in a document publicly filed by the Corporation with
the SEC pursuant to Sections 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

(7) "Stockholder Associated Person" shall mean, as to any Holder, (i) any person acting in concert with such Holder, (ii)
any person controlling, controlled by or under common control with such Holder or any of their respective Affiliates and Associates, or
person acting in concert therewith, and (iii) any member of the immediate family of such Holder or an Affiliate or Associate of such Holder.

For purposes of these By-laws, the words "include," "includes" or "including" shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without
limitation." Where a reference in these By-laws is made to any statue or regulation, such reference shall be to (1) the statute or regulation as
amended from time to time (except as context may otherwise require) and (2) any rules or regulations promulgated thereunder.
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Section 2.04 Notice of Meetings. Whenever stockholders are required or permitted to take any action at a meeting, a timely written
notice or electronic transmission, in the manner provided in Section 232 of the DGCL, of the meeting, which shall state the place, if any, date
and time of the meeting, the means of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders and proxyholders may be deemed to be
present in person and vote at such meeting, the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting (if such date is
different from the record date for stockholders entitled to notice of the meeting) and, in the case of a special meeting, the purposes for
which the meeting is called, shall be mailed to or transmitted electronically by the Secretary of the Corporation to each stockholder of record
entitled to vote thereat. Unless otherwise provided by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-laws, the notice of any meeting shall
be given not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days before the date of the meeting to each stockholder entitled to vote at such
meeting as of the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to notice of the meeting.

Section 2.05 Quorum. Unless otherwise required by law or the Certificate of Incorporation, the holders of a majority of
thecombined voting power of the outstanding shares of stock entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by proxy, shall
constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at all meetings of stockholders. When a quorum is once present to organize a meeting,
the quorum is not broken by the subsequent withdrawal of any stockholders.

Section 2.06  Voting. At all meetings of the stockholders, each stockholder shall be entitled to vote, in person or by proxy, the
shares ofthen-outstanding voting stock owned by such stockholder of record on the record date for the meeting. When a quorum is present
or represented at any meeting, the vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of the shares of stock present in person or
represented by proxy and entitled to vote thereon shall decide any question brought before such meeting, unless the question is one upon
which, by express provision of law, the rules or regulations of any stock exchange applicable to the Corporation, or applicable law or
pursuant to any regulation applicable to the Corporation or its securities of the Certificate of Incorporation or of these By-laws, a different
vote is required, in which case such express provision shall govern and control the decision of such question. Notwithstanding the foregoing
sentence, at each meeting of the stockholders for the election of directors at which a quorum is present, each director shall be elected by
the vote of the majority of the votes cast; provided, that each director shall be elected by the vote of the plurality of the votes cast at each
meeting of the stockholders for the election of directors at which a quorum is present and for which (x) the Secretary of the Corporation
receives notice that one or more stockholders has proposed to nominate one or more persons for election or re-election to the Board of
Directors, which notice purports to be in compliance with the advance notice requirements for stockholder nominations set forth in these
By-laws, irrespective of whether the Board of Directors at any time determines that any such notice is not in compliance with such
requirements, and (y) such nomination or nominations have not been formally and irrevocably withdrawn by such stockholder(s) on or prior
to the date that is ten (10) days in advance of the date that the Corporation gives notice of the meeting to the stockholders. For purposes of
this Section, a majority of the votes cast means that the number of shares voted 'for' a director must exceed the number of shares voted
'against' that director. If, for any cause, the Board of Directors shall not have been elected at an annual meeting, the Board of Directors may
be elected as soon thereafter as convenient at a special meeting of the stockholders called for that purpose in the manner provided in these
By-laws.

Section 2.07  Chair of Meetings. The Chair of the Board of Directors, if one is elected, or, in the Chair's absence or disability, the
President of the Corporation, shall preside at all meetings of the stockholders. In case of the absence or disability of the Chair of the Board of
Directors and the President, the Board of Directors shall select a director to preside.

Section 2.08 Secretary of Meeting. The Secretary of the Corporation shall act as Secretary at all meetings of the stockholders. In the
absence or disability of the Secretary, the Chair of the Board of Directors or the President shall appoint a person to act as Secretary at such
meetings.

Section 2.09  Consent of Stockholders in Lieu of Meeting. Unless otherwise provided by the Certificate of Incorporation, any action
required or permitted to be taken by the stockholders of the Corporation must be effected at a duly held meeting of stockholders of the
Corporation at which a quorum is present or represented and may not be effected by any consent in writing or by electronic transmission of
such stockholders.

Section 2.10 Adjournment. At any meeting of stockholders of the Corporation, if less than a quorum be present, a majority of the
stockholders entitled to vote thereat, present in person or by proxy, shall have the power to adjourn the meeting from time to time without
notice other than announcement at the meeting until a quorum shall be present. In addition, the person presiding over a meeting of
stockholders of the Corporation in accordance with these By-laws may adjourn any meeting of stockholders for any reason by or at the
direction of the Board of Directors. Any business may be transacted at the adjourned meeting that might have been transacted at the
meeting originally noticed. If the adjournment is for more than thirty (30) days, or if after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for the
adjourned meeting, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting as of the
record date fixed for notice of such adjourned meeting.
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Section 2.11  Remote Communication. If authorized by the Board of Directors in its sole discretion, and subject to such guidelines
and procedures as the Board of Directors may adopt, stockholders and proxyholders not physically present at a meeting of stockholders
may, by means of remote communication:

(a) participate in a meeting of stockholders; and

(b) be deemed present in person and vote at a meeting of stockholders whether such meeting is to be held at a
designated place or solely by means of remote communication, provided, that

(i)  the Corporation shall implement reasonable measures to verify that each person deemed present and
permitted to vote at the meeting by means of remote communication is a stockholder or proxyholder;

(i)  the Corporation shall implement reasonable measures to provide such stockholders and proxyholders a
reasonable opportunity to participate in the meeting and to vote on matters submitted to the stockholders, including an opportunity to read
or hear the proceedings of the meeting substantially concurrently with such proceedings; and

(iiiy if any stockholder or proxyholder votes or takes other action at the meeting by means of remote
communication, a record of such vote or other action shall be maintained by the Corporation.

Section 2.12  Conduct of Meeting. The Board of Directors may adopt by resolution such rules, regulations and procedures for the
conduct of any meeting of stockholders of the Corporation as it shall deem appropriate, including such guidelines and procedures as it may
deem appropriate regarding the participation by means of remote communication of stockholders and proxyholders not physically present
at a meeting. Except to the extent inconsistent with such rules, regulations and procedures as adopted by the Board of Directors, the chair
of any meeting of stockholders shall have the right and authority to prescribe such rules, regulations and procedures and to do all such acts
as, in the judgment of such chair, are appropriate for the proper conduct of the meeting. Such rules, regulations or procedures, whether
adopted by the Board of Directors or prescribed by the chair of the meeting, may include the following: (a) the establishment of an agenda or
order of business for the meeting; (b) rules and procedures for maintaining order at the meeting and the safety of those present, including
regulation of the manner of voting and the conduct of discussion; (c) limitations on attendance at or participation in the meeting to
stockholders of record of the Corporation, their duly authorized and constituted proxies or such other persons as the chair of the meeting
shall determine; (d) restrictions on entry to the meeting after the time fixed for the commencement thereof; (e) limitations on the time
allotted to questions or comments by participants; and (f) restrictions on the use of cell phones, audio or video recording devices and similar
devices at the meeting. The chair of any meeting of stockholders, in addition to making any other determinations that may be appropriate to
the conduct of the meeting, except as otherwise provided by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-laws, shall have the power to
determine whether a nomination or any other business proposed to be brought before the meeting was made or proposed, as the case may
be, in accordance with these By-laws and, if any proposed nomination or other business is not in compliance with these By-laws, to declare
that no action shall be taken on such nomination or other proposal and such nomination or other proposal shall be disregarded. Unless and
to the extent determined by the Board of Directors or the chair of the meeting, meetings of stockholders shall not be required to be held in
accordance with the rules of parliamentary procedure. The chair of the meeting shall announce at the meeting when the polls for each
matter to be voted upon at the meeting will be opened and closed. After the polls close, no ballots, proxies or votes or any revocations or
changes thereto may be accepted. The chair of the meeting shall have the power, right and authority to convene, recess or adjourn any
meeting of stockholders.

ARTICLE IlI
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 3.01  Powers. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of its Board of
Directors. The Board of Directors shall exercise all of the powers and duties conferred by law except as provided by the Certificate of
Incorporation.

Section 3.02 Number and Term. Subject to the Certificate of Incorporation, the number of directors shall be fixed by resolution of
the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall be elected by the stockholders at their annual meeting, and the term of each elected
director shall be as set forth in the Certificate of Incorporation. Directors need not be stockholders.

Section 3.03  Resignations. Any director may resign at any time upon notice given in writing or by electronic transmission. The
resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein, and if no time is specified, at the time of its receipt by the President or Secretary.
The acceptance of a resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.
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Section 3.04 Removal. Directors of the Corporation may be removed in the manner provided in the Certificate of Incorporation.

Section 3.05 Vacancies and Newly Created Directorships. Vacancies occurring on the Board of Directors and newly created
directorships resulting from any increase in the number of directors shall be filled in accordance with the Certificate of Incorporation.

Section 3.06 Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held at such places and times as shall be determined
from time to time by the Board of Directors or as may be specified in a notice of meeting. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be
called by the Chair of the Board of Directors or the director elected by the non-employee, independent directors to serve as Lead Director (if
a director has been so elected and is serving in such capacity prior to the meeting), and shall be called by the Chair of the Board of Directors,
the Lead Director or the Secretary if directed by the Board of Directors. Notice need not be given of regular meetings of the Board of
Directors. At least one Business Day before each special meeting of the Board of Directors, written or oral (either in person or by telephone),
notice of the time, date and place of the meeting and the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be given to each
director.

Section 3.07  Quorum, Voting and Adjournment. A majority of the total number of directors shall constitute a quorum for the
transaction of business at a meeting of the Board of Directors; provided, however, that if at the time of a meeting of the Board of Directors,
(a) there are one or more vacancies on the Board of Directors due to death or resignation, and/or (b) one or more members of the Board of
Directors is absent from a meeting due to disability, incapacity or an emergency, then one-third (1/3) of the total number of directors shall
constitute a quorum for purposes of any meeting. Nothing in this Section 3.07 shall relieve the Corporation of the obligation to provide
notice of any meeting of the Board of Directors in accordance with Section 3.06 of these By-laws.

Except as otherwise provided by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-laws, the act of a majority of the directors present
at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors. In the absence of a quorum, a majority of the directors
present thereat may adjourn such meeting to another time and place. Notice of such adjourned meeting need not be given if the time and
place of such adjourned meeting are announced at the meeting so adjourned.

Section 3.08 Committees. The Board of Directors may by resolution designate one or more committees, including but not limited
to an Audit Committee, each such committee to consist of one or more of the directors of the Corporation. The Board of Directors may
designate one or more directors as alternate members of any committee to replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of
the committee. In the absence or disqualification of a member of a committee, the member or members present at any meeting and not
disqualified from voting, whether or not such member or members constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the
Board of Directors to act at the meeting in the place of any such

absent or disqualified member. Any such committee, to the extent provided in the resolution of the Board of Directors establishing such
committee, shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of the Board of Directors in the management of the business and
affairs of the Corporation, and may authorize the seal of the Corporation to be affixed to all papers which may require it; but no such
committee shall have the power or authority in reference to the following matters: (a) approving or adopting, or recommending to the
stockholders, any action or matter (other than the election or removal of directors) expressly required by the DGCL to be submitted to
stockholders for approval or (b) adopting, amending or repealing any by-law of the Corporation. All committees of the Board of Directors
shall keep minutes of their meetings and shall report their proceedings to the Board of Directors when requested or required by the Board
of Directors.

A majority of the directors then serving on a committee of the Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of
business by the committee; provided, however, that if there are an even number of members then serving on a committee, the number of
directors which shall constitute a quorum of such committee shall be one-half of the total number of members of the committee. The vote of
a majority of the members of a committee present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the committee.

Section 3.09  Action Without a Meeting. Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation, any action required or
permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors or of any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting if all members
of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof, as the case may be, consent thereto in writing or by electronic transmission. After an
action is taken, the consent or consents relating thereto shall be filed with the minutes of the proceedings of the Board of Directors, or the
committee thereof, in the same paper or electronic form as the minutes are maintained.

Section 3.10 Compensation. The Board of Directors shall have the authority to fix the compensation of directors for their services.
A director may also serve the Corporation in other capacities and receive compensation therefore.

Section 3.11 Remote Meeting. Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation, members of the Board of Directors,
or any committee designated by the Board of Directors, may participate in a meeting by means of conference telephone or other

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 81/130
©2023 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited
without the prior written consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated REFINITIV <

companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

communications equipment in which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other. Participation in a meeting by means of
conference telephone or other communications equipment shall constitute the presence in person at such meeting.

ARTICLE IV
OFFICERS

Section 4.01 Number. The officers of the Corporation shall include a President and a Secretary, both of whom shall be elected by
the Board of Directors and who shall hold office for such terms as shall be determined by the Board of Directors and until their successors
are elected and qualify or until their earlier resignation or removal. In addition, the Board of Directors may elect a Chair of the Board of
Directors, one or more Vice Presidents, including an Executive Vice President, a Treasurer and one or more Assistant Treasurers and one or
more Assistant Secretaries, who shall hold their office for such terms and shall exercise such powers and

perform such duties as shall be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors. The initial officers shall be elected at the first
meeting of the Board of Directors and, thereafter, at the annual organizational meeting of the Board of Directors. Any number of offices may
be held by the same person.

Section 4.02  Other Officers and Agents. The Board of Directors may appoint such other officers and agents as it deems advisable,
who shall hold their office for such terms and shall exercise and perform such powers and duties as shall be determined from time to time
by the Board of Directors.

Section 4.03  Chair. The Chair of the Board of Directors shall be a member of the Board of Directors and shall preside at all
meetings of the Board of Directors and of the stockholders. In addition, the Chair of the Board of Directors shall have such powers and
perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to the Chair by the Board of Directors.

Section 4.04  President. The President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation. The President shall exercise such
duties as customarily pertain to the office of President and Chief Executive Officer, and shall have general and active management of the
property, business and affairs of the Corporation, subject to the supervision and control of the Board of Directors. The President shall
perform such other duties as prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors or these By-laws.

In the absence, disability or refusal of the Chair of the Board of Directors to act, or the vacancy of such office, the President shall
preside at all meetings of the stockholders and, if such person is a director, of the Board of Directors. Except as the Board of Directors shall
otherwise authorize, the President shall execute bonds, mortgages and other contracts on behalf of the Corporation, and shall cause the
seal to be affixed to any instrument requiring it and, when so affixed, the seal shall be attested by the signature of the Secretary or an
Assistant Secretary or the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer.

Section 4.05 Vice Presidents. Each Vice President, if any are elected, of whom one or more may be designated an Executive Vice
President, shall have such powers and shall perform such duties as shall be assigned to such Vice President or such Executive Vice
President by the President or the Board of Directors.

Section 4.06 Treasurer. The Treasurer shall have custody of the corporate funds, securities, evidences of indebtedness and other
valuables of the Corporation and shall keep full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the
Corporation. The Treasurer shall deposit all moneys and other valuables in the name and to the credit of the Corporation in such
depositories as may be designated by the Board of Directors. The Treasurer shall disburse the funds of the Corporation, taking proper
vouchers therefore. The Treasurer shall render to the President and Board of Directors, upon their request, a report of the financial
condition of the Corporation. If required by the Board of Directors, the Treasurer shall give the Corporation a bond for the faithful discharge
of the Treasurer's duties in such amount and with such surety as the Board of Directors shall prescribe.

The Treasurer shall have such further powers and perform such other duties incident to the office of Treasurer as from time to
time are assigned to the Treasurer by the Board of Directors.

Section 4.07 Secretary. The Secretary shall: (a) cause minutes of all meetings of the stockholders and directors to be recorded and
kept; (b) cause all notices required by these By-laws or otherwise to be given properly; (c) see that the minute books, stock books, and other
nonfinancial books, records and papers of the Corporation are kept properly; and (d) cause all reports, statements, returns, certificates and
other documents to be prepared and filed when and as required. The Secretary shall have such further powers and perform such other
duties as prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors.
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Section 4.08 Assistant Treasurers and Assistant Secretaries. Each Assistant Treasurer and each Assistant Secretary, if any are elected,
shall be vested with all the powers and shall perform all the duties of the Treasurer and Secretary, respectively, in the absence or disability of
such officer, unless or until the Board of Directors shall otherwise determine. In addition, Assistant Treasurers and Assistant Secretaries
shall have such powers and shall perform such duties as shall be assigned to them by the Board of Directors.

Section 4.09 Corporate Funds and Checks. The funds of the Corporation shall be kept in such depositories as shall from time to
time be prescribed by the Board of Directors. All checks or other orders for the payment of money shall be signed by the President or the
Secretary or such other person or agent as may from time to time be authorized and with such countersignature, if any, as may be required
by the Board of Directors.

Section 4.10  Contracts and Other Documents. The President, the Chief Financial Officer, the Treasurer and the Secretary, or such
other officer or officers as may from time to time be authorized by the Board of Directors or any other committee given specific authority in
the premises by the Board of Directors during the intervals between the meetings of the Board of Directors, shall have power to sign and
execute on behalf of the Corporation deeds, conveyances and contracts, and any and all other documents requiring execution by the
Corporation.

Section 4.11 Compensation. The compensation of the officers of the Corporation shall be fixed from time to time by the Board of
Directors (subject to any employment agreements that may then be in effect between the Corporation and the relevant officer). None of
such officers shall be prevented from receiving such compensation by reason of the fact that such officer is also a director of the
Corporation. Nothing contained herein shall preclude any officer from serving the Corporation, or any subsidiary, in any other capacity and
receiving such compensation by reason of the fact that such officer is also a director of the Corporation.

Section 4.12  Ownership of Stock of Another Corporation. Unless otherwise directed by the Board of Directors, the President or the
Secretary, or such other officer or agent as shall be authorized by the Board of Directors, shall have the power and authority, on behalf of
the Corporation, to attend and to vote at any meeting of stockholders of any corporation in which the Corporation holds stock and may
exercise, on behalf of the Corporation, any and all of the rights and powers incident to the ownership of such stock at any such meeting,
including the authority to execute and deliver proxies and consents on behalf of the Corporation.

Section 4.13  Delegation of Duties. In the absence, disability or refusal of any officer to exercise and perform such officer's duties,
the Board of Directors may delegate to another officer such powers or duties.

Section 4.14 Resignation and Removal. Any officer of the Corporation may be removed from office for or without cause at any time
by the Board of Directors. Any officer may resign at any time in the same manner prescribed under Section 3.03 of these By-laws.

Section 4.15 Vacancies. The Board of Directors shall have power to fill vacancies occurring in any office.
ARTICLE V
STOCK

Section 5.01  Certificates of Stock. The shares of stock of the Corporation shall be represented by certificates, provided that the
Board of Directors may provide by resolution or resolutions that some or all of any or all classes or series of the Corporation's stock shall be
uncertificated shares. Any such resolution shall not apply to shares represented by a certificate until such certificate is surrendered to the
Corporation. Notwithstanding the adoption of such a resolution by the Board of Directors, every holder of stock represented by certificates
shall be entitled to have a certificate signed by, or in the name of the Corporation, by any two authorized officers of the Corporation. Any or
all of the signatures on the certificate may be a facsimile. The Board of Directors shall have the power to appoint one or more transfer
agents and/or registrars for the transfer or registration of certificates of stock of any class, and may require stock certificates to be
countersigned or registered by one or more of such transfer agents and/or registrars.

Section 5.02 Transfer of Shares. Shares of stock of the Corporation shall be transferable upon its books by the holders thereof, in
person or by their duly authorized attorneys or legal representatives, upon surrender to the Corporation by delivery thereof to the person in
charge of the stock and transfer books and ledgers. Such certificates shall be cancelled and new certificates shall thereupon be issued
unless, at such time, such class or series of stock shall be uncertificated shares. A record shall be made of each transfer. Whenever any
transfer of shares shall be made for collateral security, and not absolutely, it shall be so expressed in the entry of the transfer if, when the
certificates are presented, both the transferor and transferee request the Corporation to do so. The Board of Directors shall have power and
authority to make such rules and regulations as it may deem necessary or proper concerning the issue, transfer and registration of
certificates for shares of stock of the Corporation.
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Section 5.03 Lost, Stolen, Destroyed or Mutilated Certificates. A new certificate of stock may be issued in the place of any certificate
previously issued by the Corporation alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed, and the Board of Directors may, in their discretion,
require the owner of such lost, stolen or destroyed certificate, or such owner's legal representative, to give the Corporation a bond, in such
sum as the Board of Directors may direct, in order to indemnify the Corporation against any claims that may be made against it in
connection therewith. A new certificate of stock may be issued in the place of any certificate previously issued by the Corporation that has
become mutilated without the posting by the owner of any bond upon the surrender by such owner of such mutilated certificate.

Section 5.04 Fixing Date for Determination of Stockholders of Record. In order that the corporation may determine the stockholders
entitled to notice of any meeting of stockholders or any adjournment thereof, or to express consent to corporate action in writing without a
meeting,

or entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights, or entitled to exercise any rights in respect
of any change, conversion or exchange of stock or for the purpose of any other lawful action, the Board of Directors may fix a record date,
which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board of Directors, and
which record date: (a) in the case of determination of stockholders entitled to notice of any meeting of stockholders or adjournment thereof,
shall, unless otherwise required by law, not be more than sixty (60) nor less than ten (10) days before the date of such meeting; (b) in the
case of the determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, the record date shall be the same date as the record date for the
determination of stockholders entitled to notice of the meeting unless the Board of Directors determines, at the time it fixes such record
date, that a later date on or before the date of the meeting shall be the date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting;
(c) in the case of determination of stockholders entitled to express consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting, shall not be
more than ten (10) days after the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board of Directors; and (d) in the
case of any other action, shall not be more than sixty (60) days prior to such other action. If no record date is fixed: (x) the record date for
determining stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day next
preceding the day on which notice is given, or, if notice is waived, at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the
meeting is held; (y) the record date for determining stockholders entitled to express consent to corporate action in writing without a
meeting, when no prior action of the Board of Directors is required by law, shall be the first date on which a signed written consent setting
forth the action taken or proposed to be taken is delivered to the corporation in accordance with applicable law, or, if prior action by the
Board of Directors is required by law, shall be at the close of business on the day on which the Board of Directors adopts the resolution
taking such prior action; and (z) the record date for determining stockholders for any other purpose shall be at the close of business on the
day on which the Board of Directors adopts the resolution relating thereto. A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or
to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that the Board of Directors may fix a
new record date for the adjourned meeting. If after the adjournment a new record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to
vote is fixed for the adjourned meeting, the Board of Directors shall fix as the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of
such adjourned meeting the same or an earlier date as that fixed for determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the adjourned
meeting, and shall give notice of the adjourned meeting to each stockholder of record as of the record date so fixed for notice of such
adjourned meeting.

Section 5.05  Registered Stockholders. Prior to the surrender to the Corporation of the certificate or certificates for a share or
shares of stock with a request to record the transfer of such share or shares, the Corporation may treat the registered owner as the person
entitled to receive dividends, to vote, to receive notifications, and otherwise to exercise all the rights and powers of an owner. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, the Corporation shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to or interest in such share or shares
on the part of any other person, whether or not it shall have express or other notice thereof.

ARTICLE VI

NOTICE AND WAIVER OF NOTICE

Section 6.01 Notice. Without limiting the manner by which notice otherwise may be given effectively to stockholders, any notice to
stockholders given by the Corporation under any provision of the DGCL, the Certificate of Incorporation, or these By-laws may be given in
writing directed to the stockholder's mailing address (or by electronic transmission directed to the stockholder's electronic mail address, as
applicable) as it appears on the records of the Corporation and shall be given (1) if mailed, when the notice is deposited in the U.S. mail,
postage prepaid, (2) if delivered by courier service, the earlier of when the notice is received or left at such stockholder's address or (3) if
given by electronic mail, when directed to such stockholder's electronic mail address unless the stockholder has notified the Corporation in
writing or by electronic transmission of an objection to receiving notice by electronic mail or such notice is prohibited by Section 232 of the
DGCL.
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Section 6.02  Waiver of Notice. A written waiver of any notice, signed by a stockholder or director, or waiver by electronic
transmission by such person, whether given before or after the time of the event for which notice is to be given, shall be deemed equivalent
to the notice required to be given to such person. Neither the business nor the purpose of any meeting need be specified in such a waiver.
Attendance at any meeting (in person or by remote communication) shall constitute waiver of notice except attendance for the express
purpose of objecting at the beginning of the meeting to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or
convened.

ARTICLE VII
INDEMNIFICATION
Section 7.01 Indemnification Respecting Third Party Claims.

(A)  Indemnification of Directors and Officers. The Corporation, to the fullest extent permitted and in the manner required, by the
laws of the State of Delaware as in effect from time to time shall indemnify in accordance with the following provisions of this Article any
person who was or is made a party to or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or
proceeding (including any appeal thereof), whether civil, criminal, administrative, regulatory or investigative in nature (other than an action
by or in the right of the Corporation), by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director or officer of the Corporation, or, if at a time
when such person was a director or officer of the Corporation, is or was serving at the request of, or to represent the interests of, the
Corporation as a director, officer, partner, member, trustee, fiduciary, employee or agent (a "Subsidiary Officer") of another corporation,
partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise including any charitable or not-for-
profit public service organization or trade association (an "Affiliated Entity"), against expenses (including attorneys' fees and disbursements),
costs, judgments, fines, penalties and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with such
action, suit or proceeding if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the
best interests of the Corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person's
conduct was unlawful; provided, however, that the Corporation shall not be obligated to indemnify against any amount paid in settlement
unless the Corporation has consented to such settlement. The termination of any action, suit or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement
or conviction or upon a plea of nolo

contendere or its equivalent shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in a manner which
such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or
proceeding, that such person had reasonable cause to believe that such person's conduct was unlawful. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in the foregoing provisions of this paragraph, a person shall not be entitled, as a matter of right, to indemnification pursuant to this
paragraph against costs or expenses incurred in connection with any action, suit or proceeding commenced by such person against the
Corporation or any Affiliated Entity or any person who is or was a director, officer, partner, member, fiduciary, employee or agent of the
Corporation or a Subsidiary Officer of any Affiliated Entity in their capacity as such, but such indemnification may be provided by the
Corporation in a specific case as permitted by Section 7.06 of this Article.

(B) Indemnification of Employees and Agents. The Corporation may indemnify any employee or agent of the Corporation in the
manner and to the same or a lesser extent that it shall indemnify any director or officer under paragraph (A) above in this Section 7.01.

Section 7.02 Indemnification Respecting Derivative Claims.

(A)  Indemnification of Directors and Officers. The Corporation, to the fullest extent permitted and in the manner required, by the
laws of the State of Delaware as in effect from time to time shall indemnify, in accordance with the following provisions of this Article, any
person who was or is made a party to or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action or suit (including
any appeal thereof) brought by or in the right of the Corporation to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that such person is
or was a director or officer of the Corporation, or, if at a time when such person was a director or officer of the Corporation, is or was
serving at the request of, or to represent the interests of, the Corporation as a Subsidiary Officer of an Affiliated Entity against expenses
(including attorneys' fees and disbursements) and costs actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with such action or
suit if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the
Corporation, except that no indemnification shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been
adjudged to be liable to the Corporation unless, and only to the extent that, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or the court in
which such judgment was rendered shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the
circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses and costs as the Court of Chancery
of the State of Delaware or such other court shall deem proper. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing provisions of this
paragraph, a person shall not be entitled, as a matter of right, to indemnification pursuant to this paragraph against costs and expenses
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incurred in connection with any action or suit in the right of the Corporation commenced by such person, but such indemnification may be
provided by the Corporation in any specific case as permitted by Section 7.06 of this Article.

(B) Indemnification of Employees and Agents. The Corporation may indemnify any employee or agent of the Corporation in the
manner and to the same or a lesser extent that it shall indemnify any director or officer under paragraph (A) above in this Section 7.02.

Section 7.03 Determination of Entitlement to Indemnification. Any indemnification to be provided under Section 7.01 or 7.02 of this
Article (unless ordered by a court of competent

jurisdiction) shall be made by the Corporation only as authorized in the specific case upon a determination that indemnification is
proper under the circumstances because such person has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in such paragraph. Such
determination shall be made in accordance with any applicable procedures authorized by the Board of Directors and in accordance with the
DGCL. In the event a request for indemnification is made by any person referred to in paragraph (a) of Section 7.01 or 7.02 of this Article, the
Corporation shall use its best efforts to cause such determination to be made not later than 90 days after such request is made.

Section 7.04 Right to Indemnification in Certain Circumstances.

(A)  Indemnification of Successful Party. Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Article, to the extent that a director or officer
of the Corporation has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any action, suit or proceeding referred to in any of
paragraphs (A) or (B) of Section 7.01 or 7.02 of this Article, in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, or in any action, suit or
proceeding brought by the director or officer to enforce rights to indemnification or advancement of expenses and costs granted pursuant
to this Article, such person shall be indemnified against expenses (including attorneys' fees and disbursements) and costs actually and
reasonably incurred by such person in connection therewith.

(B)  Indemnification for Service As a Witness. To the extent any person who is or was a director or officer of the Corporation has
served or prepared to serve as a witness in any action, suit or proceeding (whether civil, criminal, administrative, regulatory or investigative
in nature), including any investigation by any legislative body or any regulatory or self-regulatory body by which the Corporation's business is
regulated, by reason of such person's services as a director or officer of the Corporation or such person's service as a Subsidiary Officer of
an Affiliated Entity at a time when such person was a director or officer of the Corporation (assuming such person is or was serving at the
request of, or to represent the interests of, the Corporation as a Subsidiary Officer of such Affiliated Entity) but excluding service as a witness
in an action or suit commenced by such person (unless such expenses were incurred with the approval of the Board of Directors, a
committee thereof or the Chair, a Vice Chair or the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation), the Corporation shall indemnify such person
against out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including attorneys' fees and disbursements) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in
connection therewith and shall use its best efforts to provide such indemnity within 45 days after receipt by the Corporation from such
person of a statement requesting such indemnification, averring such service and reasonably evidencing such expenses and costs; it being
understood, however, that the Corporation shall have no obligation under this Article to compensate such person for such person's time or
efforts so expended. The Corporation may indemnify any employee or agent of the Corporation to the same or a lesser extent as it may
indemnify any director or officer of the Corporation pursuant to the foregoing sentence of this paragraph.

Section 7.05 Advances of Expenses.

(A)  Advances to Directors and Officers. To the fullest extent not prohibited by applicable law, expenses and costs, incurred by any
person referred to in paragraph (a) of Section 7.01 or 7.02 of this Article in defending a civil, criminal, administrative, regulatory or
investigative action, suit or proceeding shall be paid by the Corporation in advance of the final

disposition of such action, suit or proceeding upon receipt of an undertaking in writing by or on behalf of such person to repay such
amount if it shall ultimately be determined that such person is not entitled to be indemnified in respect of such costs and expenses by the
Corporation as authorized by this Article.

(B) Advances to Employees and Agents. To the fullest extent not prohibited by applicable law, expenses and costs incurred by any
person referred to in paragraph (B) of Section 7.01 or 7.02 of this Article in defending a civil, criminal, administrative, regulatory or
investigative action, suit or proceeding may be paid by the Corporation in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding
as authorized by the Board of Directors, a committee thereof or an officer of the Corporation authorized to so act by the Board of Directors
upon receipt of an undertaking in writing by or on behalf of such person to repay such amount if it shall ultimately be determined that such
person is not entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation in respect of such costs and expenses as authorized by this Article.
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Section 7.06 Indemnification Not Exclusive. The provision of indemnification to or the advancement of expenses and costs to any
person under this Article, or the entitlement of any person to indemnification or advancement of expenses and costs under this Article, shall
not limit or restrict in any way the power of the Corporation to indemnify or advance expenses and costs to such person in any other way
permitted by law or be deemed exclusive of, or invalidate, any right to which any person seeking indemnification or advancement of
expenses and costs may be entitled under any law, agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to
action in such person's capacity as an officer, director, employee or agent of the Corporation and as to action in any other capacity.

Section 7.07 Corporate Obligations; Reliance. The rights granted pursuant to this Article shall vest at the time a person becomes a
director or officer of the Corporation and shall be deemed to create a binding contractual obligation on the part of the Corporation to
directors and officers of the Corporation, and such persons in acting in their capacities as officers or directors of the Corporation or
Subsidiary Officers of any Affiliated Entity shall be entitled to rely on such provisions of this Article, without giving notice thereof to the
Corporation.

Section 7.08  Accrual of Claims; Successors. The indemnification and advancement of expenses and costs provided or permitted
under the foregoing provisions of this Article shall or may, as the case may be, apply in respect of any expense, cost, judgment, fine, penalty
or amount paid in settlement, whether or not the claim or cause of action in respect thereof accrued or arose before or after the effective
date of such provisions of this Article. The right of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation to
indemnification or advancement of expenses and costs as provided under the foregoing provisions of this Article shall continue after such
person shall have ceased to be a director, officer, employee or agent and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, distributees, executors,
administrators and other legal representatives of such person. Any repeal or modification of the provisions of this Article shall be
prospective only and shall not adversely affect the rights of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the
Corporation hereunder at the time of any act or omission occurring prior to such repeal or modification.

Section 7.09 Insurance. The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director,
officer, employee or agent of the Corporation, or is

or was serving at the request of, or to represent the interests of, the Corporation as a Subsidiary Officer of any Affiliated Entity, against
any liability asserted against such person and incurred by such person in any such capacity, or arising out of such person's status as such,
whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify such person against such liability under the provisions of this Article or
applicable law.

Section 7.10 Definitions of Certain Terms. For purposes of this Article: (i) references to "the Corporation" shall include, in addition to
the resulting corporation, any constituent corporation (including any constituent of a constituent) absorbed into the Corporation in a
consolidation or merger if such corporation would have been permitted (if its corporate existence had continued) under applicable law to
indemnify its directors, officers, employees or agents, so that any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of such
constituent corporation, or is or was serving at the request, or to represent the interests of, such constituent corporation as a director,
officer, employee or agent of any Affiliated Entity shall stand in the same position under the provisions of this Article with respect to the
resulting or surviving corporation as such person would have with respect to such constituent corporation if its separate existence had
continued; (ii) references to "fines" shall include any excise taxes assessed on a person with respect to an employee benefit plan; (iii)
references to "serving at the request of the Corporation" shall include any service as a director, officer, partner, member, trustee, fiduciary,
employee or agent of the Corporation or any Affiliated Entity which service imposes duties on, or involves services by, such director, officer,
partner, member, trustee, fiduciary, employee or agent with respect to an employee benefit plan, its participants, or beneficiaries; and (iv) a
person who acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries of
an employee benefit plan shall be deemed to have acted in a manner "not opposed to the best interest of the Corporation" as referred to in
this Article.

ARTICLE VIl
EXCLUSIVE FORUM

Section 8.01  Exclusive Forum. Unless the Corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole and
exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Corporation, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of
a fiduciary duty owed by any director or officer or other employee of the Corporation to the Corporation or the Corporation's stockholders,
(iif) any action asserting a claim against the Corporation or any director or officer or other employee of the Corporation arising pursuant to
any provision of the DGCL, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-laws (as either may be amended from time to time), or (iv) any action
asserting a claim against the Corporation or any director or officer or other employee of the Corporation governed by the internal affairs
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doctrine shall be a state court located within the State of Delaware (or, if no state court located within the State of Delaware has jurisdiction,
the federal district court for the District of Delaware).

ARTICLE IX
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 9.01 Electronic Transmission. For purposes of these By-laws, (1) "electronic transmission"” means any form of
communication, not directly involving the physical transmission of paper, including the use of, or participation in, one or more electronic
networks

or databases (including one or more distributed electronic networks or databases), that creates a record that may be retained, retrieved
and reviewed by a recipient thereof, and that may be directly reproduced in paper form by such a recipient through an automated process,
(2) "electronic mail" means an electronic transmission directed to a unique electronic mail address (which electronic mail shall be deemed to
include any files attached thereto and any information hyperlinked to a website if such electronic mail includes the contact information of an
officer or agent of the Corporation who is available to assist with accessing such files and information) and (3) "electronic mail address"
means a destination, commonly expressed as a string of characters, consisting of a unique user name or mailbox (commonly referred to as
the "local part" of the address) and a reference to an internet domain (commonly referred to as the "domain part" of the address), whether
or not displayed, to which electronic mail can be sent or delivered.

Section 9.02 Corporate Seal. The Board of Directors may provide a suitable seal, containing the name of the Corporation, which
seal shall be in charge of the Secretary. If and when so directed by the Board of Directors or a committee thereof, duplicates of the seal may
be kept and used by the Treasurer or by an Assistant Secretary or Assistant Treasurer.

Section 9.03  Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall end on December 31 of each year, or such other twelve
consecutive months as the Board of Directors may designate.

Section 9.04 Section Headings. Section headings in these By-laws are for convenience of reference only and shall not be given any
substantive effect in limiting or otherwise construing any provision herein.

Section 9.05 Inconsistent Provisions. In the event that any provision of these By-laws is or becomes inconsistent with any provision
of the Certificate of Incorporation, the DGCL or any other applicable law, the provision of these By-laws shall not be given any effect to the
extent of such inconsistency but shall otherwise be given full force and effect.

ARTICLE X
AMENDMENTS

Section 10.01  Amendments. Subject to the Certificate of Incorporation these By-laws may be amended, added to, rescinded or
repealed at any meeting of the Board of Directors or of the stockholders; provided, however, that, notwithstanding any other provisions of
these By-laws or any provision of law which might otherwise permit a lesser vote of the stockholders, the affirmative vote of the holders of at
least 80% in voting power of all shares of the Corporation Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors voting together (the
"Outstanding Company Voting Securities"); provided, however, that, for purposes of this subparagraph, the following acquisitions shall not
constitute a Change of Control: (i) any acquisition directly from the Company, (ii) any acquisition by the Company, (iii) any acquisition by any
employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or any Affiliate, or (iv) any acquisition pursuant to a
transaction that complies with clauses (A), (B) or (C) in paragraph (iii) of this definition; or

(i) individuals who, as of the effective date of this Agreement, constitute the Board (the "Incumbent Board") cease
for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board; provided, however, that any individual becoming a director
subsequent to the effective date of this Agreement whose election, or nomination for election by the Company's stockholders,
was approved by a vote of at least a majority of the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board shall be considered as
though such individual was a member of the Incumbent Board, but excluding, for this purpose, any such individual whose initial
assumption of office occurs as a single class, result of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to the election or
removal of directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other than the
Board; or

(iii) consummation of a reorganization, merger, statutory share exchange or consolidation or similar transaction
involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the
Company, or the acquisition of assets or stock of another entity by the Company or any of its subsidiaries (each, a "Business
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Combination"), in each case unless, following such Business Combination, (A) all or substantially all of the individuals and entities
that were the beneficial owners of the Outstanding Company Common Stock and the Outstanding Company Voting Securities
immediately prior to such Business Combination beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the then-outstanding
shares of common stock (or, for a non-corporate entity, equivalent securities) and the combined voting power of the then-
outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors (or, for a non-corporate entity, equivalent
governing body), as the case may be, of the entity resulting from such Business Combination (including, without limitation, an
entity that, as a result of such transaction, owns the Company or all or substantially all of the Company's assets either directly
or through one or more subsidiaries) in
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substantially the same proportions as their ownership immediately prior to such Business Combination of the Outstanding
Company Common Stock and the Outstanding Company Voting Securities, as the case may be, (B) no Person (excluding any
corporation resulting from such Business Combination or any employee benefit plan (or related trust) of the Company or such
corporation resulting from such Business Combination) beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 30% or more of, respectively, the
then-outstanding shares of common stock of the corporation resulting from such Business Combination or the combined
voting power of the then-outstanding voting securities of such corporation, except to the extent that such ownership existed
prior to the Business Combination, and (C) at least a majority of the members of the board of directors (or, for a non-corporate
entity, equivalent governing body) of the entity resulting from such Business Combination were members of the Incumbent
Board at the time of the execution of the initial agreement or of the action of the Board providing for such Business
Combination; or

(iv) approval by the stockholders of the Company of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if it is determined that an Award hereunder is subject to the requirements of Section 409A and the
Change in Control is a "payment event" under Section 409A for such Award, the Company will not be deemed to have undergone a
Change in Control unless the Company is deemed to have undergone a "change in control event" pursuant to the definition of such
term in Section 409A.

(e) "Disability" has the same meaning as "Disability" in the Celanese Corporation 2008 Deferred Compensation Plan or such other
meaning as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, provided that in all events a "Disability" under this Agreement shall constitute a
"disability" within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(4).

) "Operative Documents" means the 2018 Plan and this Agreement.

(8) "Peer Group" means, subject to the provisions below, entities included in the Dow Jones US Chemical Index as of December
31, 2022. This is a "closed group"; therefore, changes in the Peer Group during the period specified in the definition of Total Stockholder Return,
shall be required handled as follows:

(1) Closed Group: The composition of the Peer Group will be determined on the date specified above, and "frozen" as of that
date; subsequent changes to the composition of the index will not change the Peer Group. Companies will not be market capitalization
weighted.

(2) Multiple Class Companies: If a company in orderthe Dow Jones US Chemical Index has more than one class of shares
trading, only the "Class A" shares will be included in the Peer Group.

(3) Acquisitions: If a company in the Peer Group is acquired during the Performance Period, such company is
excluded from the Peer Group for purposes of the stockholders TSR calculation.

(4) Spinoffs: The surviving parent entity will be retained in the Peer Group, by treating the value of the spinco as a
reinvested dividend in parent stock.
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(5) Bankruptcy: If a company in the Peer Group files for bankruptcy protection or is otherwise insolvent during the
Performance Period, such company shall remain in the Peer Group but shall be assigned the lowest possible ranking for TSR.

(6) No Trading: If a company is in the Dow Jones US Chemical Index but is not trading as of December 31, 2022, then
it will be excluded from the Peer Group. If a company in the Peer Group is otherwise no longer publicly traded on the last day of
the Performance Period (other than as a result of an acquisition as described in clause (3) above), such company shall remain in
the Peer Group but shall be assigned the lowest possible ranking for TSR.

(h) "Performance Period" means the three-year period from January 1, 2023 through December 31, 2025.

(i) "Qualifying Disposition" means a sale or other disposition by the Company or one or more subsidiaries of all or part of a business,
business unit, segment or subsidiary in a stock, asset, merger or other similar transaction or combination thereof, and determined by the
Committee to alter, amend be a Qualifying Disposition.

() "Relative Total Stockholder Return" or repeal Sections 2.02, 2.03, 3.02, 3.03, 3.04, 3.05"Relative TSR" is assessed in comparison of
the percentile rank in TSR to the Peer Group. The lowest ranked company will be the 0% rank, the middle ranked company will be the 50th
percentile rank and the top ranked company will be the 100th percentile rank.

(k) "Retirement" of the Participant shall mean a voluntary separation from service on or this provisoafter the date when the
Participant is both 55 years of age and has 10 years of service with the Company, as determined by the Company in its discretion based on payroll
records. Retirement shall not include voluntary separation from service in which the Company could have terminated the Participant's employment
for Cause.

() "Return on Capital Employed" or "ROCE" means a measure used by the Company's management to measure performance and is
defined as Adjusted EBIT divided by capital employed, which is the beginning and end-of-year average of the sum of property, plant and
equipment, net; trade working capital (calculated as trade receivables, net plus inventories less trade payables - third party and affiliates); goodwill;
intangible assets, and investments in affiliates, adjusted to eliminate noncontrolling interests, and certain items as determined by the Company
(consistent with the provisions of Section 10.01 13(b) of the By-laws2018 Plan) and as approved by the Committee.

(m)  "Settlement Date" means the date that Common Shares are delivered to the Participant following the Vesting Date.

(n) "Total Stockholder Return" or "TSR" measures the percent change in share price from the beginning of the Performance Period to
adopt provisions inconsistent therewith.the end of the Performance Period and assumes immediate reinvestment of dividends when declared at
the closing share price on the date declared. The beginning share price will be calculated as an average of 60 data points: the closing share price on
December 31, 2022 and the closing share price for each of the 59 trading days preceding December 31, 2022. The ending share price will be
calculated as an average of 60 data points: the closing share price on December 31, 2025 and the closing share price for each of the 59 trading days
preceding December 31, 2025.

[signatures appear on following pagel
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Exhibit 22.1
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List of Guarantor Subsidiaries
(As of September 30, 2022)

Celanese US Holdings LLC (the "Issuer"), a 100% owned subsidiary of Celanese Corporation (the "Parent"), IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the
Company has 4.625% Senior Notes due 2022, 1.125% Senior Notes due 2023, 3.500% Senior Notes due 2024, 5.900% Senior Notes due 2024,
1.250% Senior Notes due 2025, 6.050% Senior Notes due 2025, 1.400% Senior Notes due 2026, 4.777% Senior Notes due 2026, 2.125% Senior
Notes due 2027, 6.165% Senior Notes due 2027, 0.625% Senior Notes due 2028, 6.330% Senior Notes due 2029, 5.337% Senior Notes due 2029
and 6.379% Senior Notes due 2032 (collectively, the "Senior Notes"). The Senior Notes are jointly and severally guaranteed caused this
Agreement to be executed on a full and unconditional basis its behalf by the Parent and the 100% owned subsidiaries of the Parent listed
below.its duly authorized officer.

Name of

Company

Parent

Guarantor

Celanese Corporation Delaware CELANESE CORPORATION

Jurisdiction

Subsidiary Guarantors By: Lori J. Ryerkerk
Chair, Chief Executive Officer and President
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APPENDIX A
CALCULATION OF THE PERFORMANCE-BASED VESTING
Performance-Based Vesting Calculation
The Performance RSUs are subject to adjustment based on the achievement of specified levels of:
(i) the Company's Adjusted EPS during the Performance Period, weighted 70%;and
(ii) the Company's ROCE during the Performance Period, weighted 30%.

In addition, the Performance RSUs will be subject to further adjustment based on the Company's Relative TSR during the Performance
Period.

Each metric will be calculated separately based on the targets set forth below.The results of each metric will determine the number of Performance
RSUs earned for that metric. The total award will be the addition of the total number of Performance RSUs earned for each of the two performance
metrics, with such result then subject to adjustment based on the Company's Relative TSR during the Performance Period. The number of Performance
RSUs determined after such adjustments (and subject further to the additional vesting requirements of Section 2(b) of the Agreement) are referred to as
the "Performance-Adjusted RSUs." Fractional shares remaining after such adjustments will be rounded up to the nearest whole share. No fractional shares
will be issued.
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A.Calculation of Performance Adjustment based on the Adjusted EPS Results

The following table outlines the percentage of the Performance RSUs that may become earned based on Adjusted EPS performance
during the Performance Period.

Celanese Acetate LLC Result Goal Achievement for Performance Period1 Performance Adjustment Percentage
Adjusted EPS Below Threshold Less than $[0] 0%
(70% weighting) Threshold $[0] 50%
Target $[0] 100%
Superior $[0Jor more 200%

The Performance Adjustment Percentage for Adjusted EPS for the Performance Period shall be calculated by straight-line interpolation for results
achieved between Threshold and Target, or for results achieved between Target and Superior.No Performance RSUs will be earned for the Adjusted EPS
component for the Performance Period if Goal Achievement is Below Threshold.

Delaware
Celanese Americas LLC Delaware

1To the extent not otherwise included as an adjustment to Adjusted EPS (as defined) or ROCE (as defined), if

(a) the historic financial statements of the Company for period(s) ending prior to the Performance Period are retrospectively
recast in connection with a change in accounting principle or method adopted during the Performance Period,

(b) the Company effects a material acquisition, disposition, merger, spin-off or other similar transaction, or enters/exits a joint
venture, affecting the Company or any subsidiary or any portion thereof, during the Performance Period,

(c) the Company suffers or incurs items of gain, loss or expense determined to be unusual in nature, or charges for restructurings,
discontinued operations, or any other unusual or infrequent items, or any other event materially outside the scope of those anticipated in
the Company's operating plans,

(d) there are changes in tax law or other such laws or provisions affecting reported results,
(e) the Company establishes accruals or reserves, or impairs assets, for reorganization or restructuring programs, and/or

(f) the Company incurs or is adversely affected by any other eventuality contemplated by the last sentence of Section 13(b) of the
2018 Plan,

then in each such case where the amount is significant to the Company, the Committee shall, as determined appropriate in its sole
discretion, adjust the performance goals or level of assessed performance, as described in this Appendix A to ensure that the Participant is
not unfairly advantaged or disadvantaged by any of the events described in items (a)-(f).
Page A-2
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B. Calculation of Performance Adjustment based on the ROCE Results
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The following table outlines the percentage of the Performance RSUs that may become earned based on ROCE performance during the
Performance Period.

Cel Chemicals. | Result Goal Achievement for Performance Period1 Performance Adjustment Percentage
elanese Chemicals, Inc.
ROCE Below Threshold Less than [01% 0%
(30% weighting) Threshold [01% 50%
Target [01% - [01% 100%
Superior [01% or more 200%

The Performance Adjustment Percentage for ROCE for the Performance Period shall be calculated by straight-line interpolation for results achieved
between Threshold and the low end of the Target range, or for results achieved between the high end of the Target range and Superior.No Performance
RSUs will be earned for the ROCE component for the Performance Period if Goal Achievement is Below Threshold.

C. Calculation of Relative TSR Modifier

The sum of the Performance RSUs earned for the Adjusted EPS component and the Performance RSUs earned for the ROCE component
will be subject to further adjustment by multiplying such aggregate Performance RSUs earned by the "Modifier Percentage" determined
based on the Company's Relative TSR percentile ranking during the Performance Period in accordance with the following table.

Delaware
Relative TSR Percentile
Achieved Modifier Percentage
Celanese Global Relocation LLC Relative TSR
7 <25% 80%
Modifier
25% to 75% 100%
>75% 120%

D. Adjustments In Case of Certain Dispositions and Acquisitions

In the event of a sale or other disposition by the Company or one or more subsidiaries of all or part of a business, business unit,
segment or subsidiary in a stock, asset, merger or other similar transaction or combination thereof, if such transaction is determined by the
Committee to constitute a "change in ownership or control" within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code (and regardless of whether such
transaction also constitutes a "Change in Control" as defined in this Agreement) (e.g., a sale or other disposition of assets of the Company
that have a gross fair market value equal to or more than one-third of the total gross fair market value of all assets of the Company
immediately before such transaction), the Committee may, in addition to or in lieu of any permitted adjustments to the performance goals
or performance provided above, in its discretion take any action as determined to be equitable to reflect the closing of the transaction,
including, but not limited to: (i) adjust the performance vesting conditions in any manner, including substituting new or additional
performance goals, over the remaining Performance Period, (ii) cease the measurement of performance as of the closing of the transaction
and adjust the Award to a time-vesting Award over the remainder of the Performance Period (at target, based on actual
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or projected performance at the time of the transaction, or on any other basis as the Committee may determine), or (iii) accelerate the
vesting of all or any portion of the Award.

In the event of an acquisition by the Company of one or more subsidiaries in a stock, asset, merger or other similar transaction or
combination thereof (regardless of whether such transaction also constitutes a "Change in Control" as defined in this Agreement), the
Committee may, in addition to or in lieu of any permitted or required adjustments to the performance goals or performance provided
above, in its discretion take any action as determined to be equitable to reflect the closing of the transaction, including, but not limited to: (i)
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adjust the performance vesting conditions in any manner, including substituting new or additional performance goals, over the remaining
Performance Period or (ii) cease the measurement of performance as of the closing of the transaction and adjust the Award to a time-
vesting Award over the remainder of the Performance Period (at target, based on actual or projected performance at the time of the
transaction, or on any other basis as the Committee may determine).
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Exhibit 10.5

[Form of 2023 CEO Performance-Based RSU Agreement]
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CELANESE CORPORATION
2018 GLOBAL INCENTIVE PLAN

PERFORMANCE-BASED RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT
DATED [Grant Date]

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Celanese Corporation 2018 Global Incentive Plan, you have been awarded Performance-Based Restricted
Stock Units, subject to the restrictions described in this Agreement.In addition to the information included in this Award Agreement, the Participant's name
and the number of Restricted Stock Units awarded can be found in the Grant Summary located in the electronic stock plan award administration system
maintained by the Company or its designee that contains a link to this Agreement (which summary information is set forth in the appropriate records of
the Company authorizing such award).

2023 Performance RSU Award
Target Award: [Number of Shares Granted] Units

This grant is made pursuant to the Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement dated as of [Grant Date], between Celanese and
[Participant Name], covering a performance period from January 1, 2023 through December 31, 2025, which Agreement is attached hereto and made
a part hereof.
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CELANESE CORPORATION
2018 GLOBAL INCENTIVE PLAN

PERFORMANCE-BASED RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

This Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (the "Agreement") is made and entered into as of [Grant Date] (the "Grant
Date"), by and between Celanese Corporation, a Delaware corporation ("Celanese" and together with the participating subsidiaries that are employers of
the Participants, the "Company"), and [Participant Name] (the "Participant"). Capitalized terms used, but not otherwise defined, herein shall have the
meanings ascribed to such terms in the Celanese Corporation 2018 Global Incentive Plan (as amended from time to time, the "2018 Plan").
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il Performance RSU Award: In order to encourage the Participant's contribution to the successful performance of the Company,
Celanese hereby grants to the Participant as of the Grant Date, pursuant to the terms of the 2018 Plan and this Agreement, an award (the "Award") of
[Number of Shares Granted] performance-based Restricted Stock Units ("Performance RSUs") representing the right to receive, subject to the
attainment of the performance goals set forth in Appendix A, the number of Common Shares to be determined in accordance with the formula set forth in
Appendix A. The Participant hereby acknowledges and accepts such Award upon the terms and subject to the performance requirements and other
conditions, restrictions and limitations contained in this Agreement and the 2018 Plan.

2. Performance-Based Adjustment and Vesting:

(@) Subject to Section 3 and Section 6 of this Agreement, the Performance RSUs are subject to adjustment for performance during the
Performance Period in accordance with the performance measures, targets and methodology set forth in Appendix A. The number of Performance
RSUs determined after the Performance Period based on such performance is referred to as the "Performance-Adjusted RSUs."

(b) Subject to Section 3 and Section 6 of this Agreement, the Performance-Adjusted RSUs shall vest on February 15, 2026 (the "Vesting
Date"). The period between the Grant Date and the Vesting Date shall be referred to as the "Vesting Period."

3. Effects of Certain Events:

(@) If the Participant's service with the Company is terminated by the Company without Cause or due to the Participant's Retirement
prior to the Vesting Date (other than as provided in Section 3(b)), then:

(i) in all such cases the Performance RSUs shall remain subject to adjustment for performance as provided in Section
2(a) above, including if such termination of service occurs during the Performance Period; and

(ii) a prorated number of the Performance-Adjusted RSUs will vest on the Vesting Date in an amount equal to (x) the
unvested Performance-Adjusted RSUs in the Vesting Period multiplied by (y) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of
complete and partial calendar months from the Grant Date to the date of termination, and the denominator of which is the
number of complete and partial calendar months in the Vesting Period, such product to be rounded up to the nearest whole
number.
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Such prorated Performance-Adjusted RSUs will be settled following the Vesting Date in accordance with the provisions of Section
4, subject to any applicable taxes under Section 7 upon such vesting and settlement. The remaining portion of the Award shall be
immediately forfeited and cancelled without consideration as of the date of the Participant's termination of service. To the extent
permitted by applicable country, state or province law, as consideration for the vesting provisions upon Retirement contained in this
Section 3(a), upon Retirement, the Participant shall enter into a departure and general release of claims agreement with the Company
that includes a general release of claims, covenants relating to the provision of transition assistance and cooperation (including
reasonable transition support to any successor CEO and cooperation in litigation related to the time period of Participant's service)
and two-year noncompetition and non-solicitation covenants in a form acceptable to the Company.

(b) Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, if the Participant's employment with the Company is terminated by the
Company in connection with a Qualifying Disposition, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion, other than for Cause, and regardless of
whether the Participant is then eligible for Retirement or is offered employment with the acquiror or successor, then:

(i) a prorated number of the unvested Performance RSUs determined in accordance with the provisions of Section
3(a) had those provisions applied shall remain subject to adjustment for performance as provided in Section 2(a) above,
including if such termination of employment occurs during the Performance Period, and shall be settled in accordance with the
provisions of Section 3(a); and

(ii) the remaining number of the unvested Performance RSUs that would have otherwise been forfeited had the
provisions of Section 3(a) applied shall remain subject to adjustment for performance as provided in Section 2(a) above,
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including if such termination of employment occurs during the Performance Period, and any such Performance-Adjusted RSUs
will vest and be settled in accordance with the provisions of Section 4, subject to any applicable taxes under Section 7 upon such
vesting and settlement.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in case of a termination of employment covered by this Section 3(b), if the Company determines
that the Participant has been offered employment with the acquiror or successor and in connection with that employment will receive
a substitute award from the acquiror or successor with an equivalent (or greater) economic value and no less favorable vesting
conditions as this Award, the Company, in its sole discretion, may determine not to provide for the additional vesting under clause (ii)
of this Section 3(b).

() If the Participant's service with the Company is terminated due to the Participant's death or Disability prior to the Vesting Date,
then a prorated number of Performance RSUs will vest in an amount equal to:

(i) the Target number of Performance RSUs granted hereby multiplied by

(ii) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of complete and partial calendar months from the Grant Date to
the date of termination, and the denominator of which is the number of complete and partial calendar months in the Vesting
Period, such product to be rounded up to the nearest whole number.

The prorated number of Performance RSUs shall immediately vest and a number of Common Shares equal to such prorated
number of Performance RSUs described above shall be delivered to
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the Participant or beneficiary within thirty (30) days following the date of termination, subject to the provisions of Section 7. The
remaining portion of the Award shall be immediately forfeited and cancelled without consideration as of the date of the Participant's
termination of service for death or Disability.

(d) Upon the termination of a Participant's service with the Company for any other reason prior to the Vesting Date, the Award shall
be immediately forfeited and cancelled without consideration as of the date of the Participant's termination of service.

A Participant's service will be considered to have been terminated for Cause, and the Award forfeited and cancelled without
consideration, if the Company determines, in its sole discretion, that the Participant engaged in an act constituting Cause at any time
prior to the Vesting Date, regardless of whether the Participant's termination initially was considered to have been without Cause. In
such case, the provisions of Section 3(a), 3(b) or 3(c) are inapplicable.

4. Settlement of Performance RSUs: The Committee shall determine the Performance-Adjusted RSUs as soon as administratively

practicable following the computation of the Company's performance for the Performance Period (but not later than 2 % months after the end of the
Performance Period (i.e., March 15, 2026)). The date of such determination is referred to as the "Performance Certification Date." Subject to Sections 2,
3, 5, 6 and 7 of this Agreement, the Company shall deliver to the Participant (or to a Company-designated brokerage firm or plan administrator) as soon as
administratively practicable after the Performance Certification Date (but not later than 2 % months after the end of the Performance Period (i.e., March
15, 2026)), in complete settlement of the Performance-Adjusted RSUs vesting on such Vesting Date, a number of Common Shares equal to the
Performance-Adjusted RSUs determined in accordance with this Agreement.

5. Rights as a Stockholder: The Participant shall have no voting, dividend or other rights as a stockholder with respect to the Award until

the Performance RSUs have vested and Common Shares have been delivered pursuant to this Agreement.

6. Change in Control; Dissolution:

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, in connection with the occurrence of a Change in Control,
with respect to any unvested Performance RSUs granted pursuant to this Agreement that have not previously been forfeited:
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(i) If (A) a Participant's rights to the unvested portion of the Award are not adversely affected in connection with the Change in
Control, or, if adversely affected, a substitute award with an equivalent (or greater) economic value and no less favorable vesting conditions
is granted to the Participant in connection with the occurrence of a Change in Control, and (B) the Participant's service is terminated by the
Company (or its successor) without Cause within two years following the Change in Control, then Performance RSUs in an amount equal to
the higher of (x) the Target number of Performance RSUs granted hereby (or, as applicable, the substitute award) or (y) the number of
Performance RSUs payable based on estimated Company performance during the Performance Period through the Change in Control as
determined by the Committee in accordance with this Agreement, shall immediately vest and a number of Common Shares equal to the
number of Performance RSUs so determined shall be delivered to the Participant within 30 days following the date of termination, subject to
the provisions of Section 7.
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(i) If a Participant's right to the unvested portion of the Award is adversely affected in connection with the Change in Control
and a substitute award is not made pursuant to Section 6(a)(i) above, then upon the occurrence of a Change in Control, a number of
Performance RSUs equal to the higher of (A) the Target number of Performance RSUs granted hereby or (B) the number of Performance
RSUs payable based on estimated Company performance during the Performance Period through the Change in Control as determined by
the Committee in accordance with this Agreement, shall immediately vest and a number of Common Shares equal to the number of
Performance RSUs so determined shall be delivered to the Participant within 30 days following the occurrence of the Change in Control,
subject to the provisions of Section 7.

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, in the event of a corporate dissolution of the Company
that is taxed under Section 331 of the Code, then in accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(j)4)ix)(A), this Agreement shall
terminate and any Performance RSUs granted pursuant to this Agreement that have not previously been forfeited shall immediately become
Common Shares and shall be delivered to the Participant within 30 days following such dissolution.

7. Income and Other Taxes: The Company shall not deliver Common Shares in respect of any vested Performance RSUs unless and until
the Participant has made arrangements satisfactory to the Company to satisfy applicable withholding tax obligations for U.S. federal, state, and local
income taxes (or the foreign counterpart thereof) and applicable employment taxes. Unless otherwise permitted by the Committee, withholding shall be
effectuated by withholding Common Shares in connection with the vesting and/or settlement of Performance-Adjusted RSUs. Withholding shall be effected
using a rate or method chosen by the Company consistent with ASC Topic 718 (or any successor applicable equity accounting standard applicable to this
Award) and the U.S. Internal Revenue Service withholding regulations or other applicable tax requirements, not to exceed maximum statutory rates. The
Participant acknowledges that the Company shall have the right to deduct any taxes required to be withheld by law in connection with the vesting or
settlement of Performance-Adjusted RSUs from any amounts payable by it to the Participant (including, without limitation, future cash wages). The
Participant acknowledges and agrees that amounts withheld by the Company for taxes may be less than amounts actually owed for taxes by the
Participant in respect of the Award. Any vested Performance-Adjusted RSUs shall be reflected in the Company's records as issued on the respective dates
of issuance set forth in this Agreement, irrespective of whether delivery of such Common Shares is pending the Participant's satisfaction of his or her
withholding tax obligations.

8. Securities Laws: The Company may impose such restrictions, conditions or limitations as it determines appropriate as to the timing
and manner of any resales by the Participant or other subsequent transfers by the Participant of any Common Shares issued as a result of the vesting or
settlement of the Performance RSUs, including without limitation (a) restrictions under an insider trading policy, and (b) restrictions as to the use of a
specified brokerage firm for such resales or other transfers. Upon the acquisition of any Common Shares pursuant to the vesting or settlement of the
Performance-Adjusted RSUs, the Participant will make or enter into such written representations, warranties and agreements as the Company may
reasonably request in order to comply with applicable securities laws or with this Agreement and the 2018 Plan. All accounts in which such Common
Shares are held or any certificates for Common Shares shall be subject to such stop transfer orders and other restrictions as the Company may deem
advisable under the rules, regulations and other requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, any stock exchange or quotation system upon
which the Common Shares are then listed or quoted, and any applicable federal or state securities law, and the Company may cause a legend or legends to
be put on any such certificates (or other appropriate restrictions and/or notations to be associated with any accounts in which such Common Shares are
held) to make appropriate reference to such restrictions.
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9.
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Non-Transferability of Award: The Performance RSUs may not be assigned, alienated, pledged, attached, sold or otherwise

transferred or encumbered by the Participant other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, and any such purported assignment, alienation,
pledge, attachment, sale, transfer or encumbrance shall be void and unenforceable against the Company; provided, that the Participant may designate a
beneficiary, on a form provided by the Company, to receive any portion of the Award payable hereunder following the Participant's death.

10. Other Agreements; Release of Claims: Subject to Sections 10(a), 10(b) and 10(c) of this Agreement, this Agreement and the 2018 Plan
constitute the entire understanding between the Participant and the Company regarding the Award, and any prior and/or contemporaneous agreements,
understandings, representations, discussions, commitments or negotiations concerning the Award, whether written or oral, are superseded. No oral
statements or other prior written material not specifically incorporated into this Agreement, other than the 2018 Plan, shall be of any force or effect.

(a) The Participant acknowledges that as a condition to the receipt of the Award, the Participant:
(1) shall have delivered to the Company an executed copy of this Agreement;
(2) shall be subject to the Company's stock ownership guidelines, to the extent applicable to the Participant;

(3) shall be subject to policies and agreements adopted by the Company from time to time, and applicable laws and
regulations, requiring the repayment by the Participant of incentive compensation under certain circumstances, including that
certain Celanese Corporation Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy adopted by the Committee on October 16, 2019
(collectively, "Clawback Policies"), without any further act or deed or consent of the Participant; and

(4) shall have delivered to the Company an executed copy of the current form of Long-Term Incentive Claw-Back
Agreement, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion. For purposes hereof, "Long-Term Incentive Claw-Back
Agreement" means an agreement between the Company and the Participant associated with the grant of long-term incentives
of the Company, which contains terms, conditions, restrictions and provisions regarding one or more of (i) noncompetition by
the Participant with the Company, and its customers and clients; (ii) non-solicitation and non-hiring by the Participant of the
Company's employees, former employees or consultants; (iii) maintenance of confidentiality of the Company's and/or clients'
information, including intellectual property; (iv) nondisparagement of the Company; and (v) such other matters deemed
necessary, desirable or appropriate by the Company for such an agreement in view of the rights and benefits conveyed in
connection with an award.

(b) The Participant acknowledges that if the Participant violates any of the terms or provisions of the Clawback Policies

or the Long-Term Incentive Claw-Back Agreement, whether before or after termination of service, then the Company will, to the
fullest extent permitted by applicable law, (i) terminate the Participant's rights in any unvested Performance RSUs under this
Award, and (ii) claw back (i.e., recover) all Common Shares previously issued under this Award.

() If the Participant is a non-resident of the U.S., there may be an addendum containing special terms and conditions applicable to

awards in the Participant's country. The
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issuance of the Award to any such Participant is contingent upon the Participant executing and returning any such addendum in
the manner directed by the Company.

11. Not a Contract for Employment; No Acquired Rights; Agreement Changes: This Agreement and the Award evidenced hereby are
not an employment agreement, and nothing in this Agreement, the International Supplement, if applicable, or the 2018 Plan shall alter the Participant's

status as an "at-will" employee or service provider of the Company or your employment or service status at the Company. None of this Agreement, the
International Supplement, if applicable, or the 2018 Plan shall be construed as guaranteeing your employment by or service with the Company, or as
giving you any right to continue in the employ or engagement of the Company, during any period (including without limitation the period between the
Date of the Agreement and the Vesting Date, or any portion of such period), nor shall they be construed as giving you any right to be reemployed or
reengaged by the Company following any termination of employment or service. This Agreement and the Award evidenced hereby, and all other long-
term incentive awards and other equity-based awards, are discretionary. This Award does not confer on the Participant any right or entitlement to receive
another Award or any other equity-based award at any time in the future or in respect of any future period. The Company has made this Award to you in
its sole discretion. This Award does not confer on you any right or entitlement to receive compensation in any specific amount for any future year, and
does not diminish in any way the Company's discretion to determine the amount, if any, of your compensation. This Award is not part of your base salary
or wages and will not be taken into account in determining any other employment- or service- related rights you may have, such as rights to pension or
severance pay. The Company has the right, at any time and for any reason, to amend, suspend or terminate the 2018 Plan; provided, however, that no
such amendment, suspension, or termination shall adversely affect the Participant's rights hereunder.

12. Severability: Should any provision of this Agreement be declared or held to be illegal, invalid or otherwise unenforceable, (a) such
provision shall either be reformed, if possible, to the extent necessary to render it legal, valid and enforceable, or otherwise severed, (b) the remainder of
this Agreement shall not be affected except to the extent necessary to reform or sever such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision, and (c) in no event
should such partial invalidity affect the remainder of this Agreement, which shall still be enforced.

13. Further Assurances: Each party shall cooperate and take such action as may be reasonably requested by either party hereto in order

to carry out the provisions and purposes of this Agreement.

14. Binding Effect: The Award and this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective
permitted heirs, beneficiaries, successors and assigns.

15. Electronic Delivery: By executing this Agreement, the Participant hereby consents to the delivery of any and all information (including,
without limitation, information required to be delivered to the Participant pursuant to applicable securities laws), in whole or in part, regarding the
Company and its subsidiaries, the 2018 Plan, and the Award via electronic mail, the Company's or a plan administrator's web site, or other means of
electronic delivery.

16. Personal Data: By accepting the Award under this Agreement, the Participant hereby consents to the Company's use, dissemination
and disclosure of any information pertaining to the Participant that the Company determines to be necessary or desirable for the implementation,
administration and management of the 2018 Plan.
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17. Miscellaneous:

(a) Governing Law. Notwithstanding the place where this Agreement may be executed by any of the parties hereto, the parties
expressly agree that all the terms and provisions hereof shall be governed by, construed under and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the
State of Delaware, without regard to its conflicts of laws rules.

(b) Notice. The Participant is reminded to read the following carefully and after consulting with counsel of their choice:

The Participant agrees that the following provisions requiring arbitration, prohibiting recovery of attorneys' fees, waiving
class actions and mass actions, waiving the right to a jury trial, waiving any right to seek punitive damages, limiting actual
damages, and limiting remedies by waiving any right to injunctive or other equitable or legal relief are and were an important
part of the Company's decision to adopt the Operative Documents and for Participant to be offered this Agreement. The
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Participant understands and agrees that absent the foregoing provisions, the Operative Documents would not have been
offered or entered into or would have materially changed. The Participant acknowledges the benefits of receiving potential
incentive awards. In reliance on the Participant's intent to abide by and enter into the following provisions, the parties have
entered into the Operative Documents.

(c) MANDATORY ARBITRATION. All disputes arising out of or related in any manner to the Operative Documents shall be resolved
exclusively by arbitration to be conducted only in the county and state of Dallas, Texas in accordance with the rules of the International Institute for
Conflict Prevention and Resolution Rules for Non-Administered Arbitration ("CPR") applying the laws of Delaware and by a sole arbitrator. Within 45
days of the service of any demand for arbitration, the parties shall attempt to mutually agree on the appointment of an arbitrator and may seek
names of potential arbitrators from CPR for their consideration. Failing agreement on selection of an agreed arbitrator, upon written request of
either party, CPR shall appoint a single arbitrator in accordance with its rules, with the parties expressing a contractual preference for the selection
of a retired judge with at least 10 years of judicial experience. Discovery shall be as provided by the CPR rules. The arbitration award shall be in
writing and shall include a reasoned opinion by the Arbitrator. Consistent with the waiver of all claims to punitive or exemplary damages, the
Arbitrator shall have no authority to award such damages. The parties understand that their right to appeal or to seek modification of any ruling or
award of the arbitrator is severely limited, if any. Awards issued by the arbitrator shall be final and binding, and judgment may be entered on it in
any court of competent jurisdiction. All parties shall keep confidential the fact of the arbitration, the dispute being arbitrated, and the decision of
the arbitrator. Any and all disputes regarding this arbitration provision and its enforceability shall be exclusively submitted to the United States
District Court for the District of Delaware, if it has jurisdiction, and failing that, to the Delaware state court in Wilmington, Delaware.

(d) NO RECOVERY OF ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS. Each party agrees that in any litigation or proceeding between the parties
arising out of, connected with, related to, or incidental to the relationship between them in connection with the Operative Documents, each party
shall bear all of its own attorneys' fees and costs regardless of which party prevails, except when prohibited by applicable law.

(e) CLASS ACTION AND MASS ACTION WAIVER. As part of this provision of arbitration as the contracted method of all dispute
resolution under this Agreement, any claim, whether brought in a court of law or in arbitration, must be brought in the Participant's individual
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capacity, and not as a representative of any purported class or as a "mass action" (involving multiple plaintiffs) ("Class/Mass Action"). The
parties expressly waive any ability to maintain any Class/Mass Action in any forum. The arbitrator shall not have authority to combine or aggregate
similar claims or conduct any Class/Mass Action nor make an award to any person or entity not a party to the arbitration. Any claim that all or part
of this Class/Mass Action waiver is unenforceable, unconscionable, void, or voidable may be determined only by a court of competent jurisdiction
and not by an arbitrator. The Participant understands that but for this Agreement, he or she would have had a right to litigate through a court, to
have a judge or jury decide the case and to be party to a Class/Mass Action. However, in exchange for the potential incentive awards provided
herein and the receipt of the benefit of arbitration, the Participant understands and chooses to have only his or her individual claims decided, each
in a separate case, by an arbitrator.

) WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW AND EXPRESSLY BECAUSE OF THE COMPLEXITY OF
THE MATTERS IN THE OPERATIVE DOCUMENTS, EACH PARTY WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO HAVE A JURY PARTICIPATE IN RESOLVING ANY DISPUTE
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THE OPERATIVE DOCUMENTS.

(8) WAIVER OF PUNITIVE AND EXEMPLARY DAMAGE CLAIMS. The Participant waives, to the fullest extent allowed by law, any
claims or rights to recover punitive, exemplary or similar damages.

(h) LIMIT ON ACTUAL DAMAGES. In no event may the actual damages awarded to the Participant in a dispute arising out of or
relating to the Operative Documents exceed the Fair Market Value of the Performance RSU Target Award set forth on the first page of this
Agreement as of the vesting date, reduced by the value of any shares or payments previously received under this Agreement (the "Damages
Limit"). The Participant knowingly, voluntarily and irrevocably waives and releases any claim to damages in excess of this Damages Limit.

(i) LIMITATION OF REMEDIES. Except when prohibited by applicable law, the procedures and remedies set forth in this Agreement
shall constitute the sole remedies available to the Participant. In no event shall the Participant seek equitable relief, injunctive relief, or otherwise
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bring claims directly or derivatively for ultra vires, corporate waste, breach of fiduciary duty, or any other claim or cause of action, whether legal or
equitable, sounding in contract or tort. Nothing in this clause is intended to waive or limit any claim brought pursuant to any federal or state statute
related to the protection of civil rights. Should any provision in this Agreement be found by a court of competent jurisdiction, after all appellate
rights are exhausted, to be unenforceable or void, the Parties expressly agree to sever such provision and to otherwise proceed to dispute
resolution with the remaining provisions in the Mandatory Arbitration provisions.

18. Performance RSUs Subject to Plan: By entering into this Agreement the Participant agrees and acknowledges that the Participant has
received and read a copy of the 2018 Plan and the 2018 Plan's prospectus. The Performance RSUs and the Common Shares issued upon settlement of
such Performance RSUs are subject to the 2018 Plan, which is hereby incorporated by reference. In the event of any conflict between any term or
provision of this Agreement and a term or provision of the 2018 Plan, the applicable terms and provisions of the 2018 Plan shall govern and prevail.

1€, Validity of Agreement: This Agreement shall be valid, binding and effective upon the Company on the Grant Date. The Participant
must accept this Agreement electronically pursuant to the
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online acceptance procedure established by the Company within 90 days; otherwise the Company may, in its sole discretion, rescind the
Award in its entirety.

20. Headings:The headings preceding the text of the sections hereof are inserted solely for convenience of reference, and shall not
constitute a part of this Agreement, nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect.

21. Compliance with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code: Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the contrary,
this Agreement will be interpreted and applied so that the Agreement does not fail to meet, and is operated in accordance with, the requirements of
Section 409A of the Code. The Company reserves the right to change the terms of this Agreement and the 2018 Plan without the Participant's consent to
the extent necessary or desirable to comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A. Further, in accordance with the restrictions provided by Treasury
Regulation Section 1.409A-3(j)(2), any subsequent amendments to this Agreement or any other agreement, or the entering into or termination of any other
agreement, affecting the Performance RSUs provided by this Agreement shall not modify the time or form of issuance of the Performance RSUs set forth
in this Agreement. In addition, if the Participant is a "specified employee" within the meaning of Code Section 409A, as determined by the Company, any
payment made in connection with the Participant's separation from service shall not be made earlier than six months and one day after the date of such
separation from service to the extent required by Code Section 409A.

22. Definitions: The following terms shall have the following meanings for purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding any contrary
definition in the 2018 Plan:

(@) "Adjusted Earnings Per Share" or "Adjusted EPS" means a measure used by the Company's management to measure performance,
defined as earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Celanese Corporation, adjusted for income tax (provision) benefit, certain
items, refinancing and related expenses, divided by the number of basic common shares and dilutive restricted stock units and stock options
calculated using the treasury method and further adjusted for certain items as determined by the Company (consistent with the provisions of
Section 13(b) of the 2018 Plan) and as approved by the Committee.

Note: The income tax rate used for adjusted earnings per share approximates the midpoint in a range of forecasted tax rates for
the year. This range may include certain partial or full-year forecasted tax opportunities, where applicable, and specifically excludes
changes in uncertain tax positions, discrete items and other material items adjusted out of our GAAP earnings for adjusted earnings
per share purposes, and changes in management's assessments regarding the ability to realize deferred tax assets. In determining the
adjusted earnings per share tax rate, we reflect the impact of foreign tax credits when utilized, or expected to be utilized, absent
discrete events impacting the timing of foreign tax credit utilization. We analyze this rate quarterly and adjust if there is a material
change in the range of forecasted tax rates; an updated forecast would not necessarily result in a change to our tax rate used for
adjusted earnings per share. The adjusted tax rate is an estimate and may differ from the actual tax rate used for GAAP reporting in
any given reporting period. It is not practical to reconcile our prospective adjusted tax rate to the actual GAAP tax rate in any given
future period.
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(b) "Adjusted EBIT" means net earnings (loss) attributable to Celanese Corporation, plus (earnings) loss from discontinued operations,

less interest income, plus interest expense, refinancing expense and taxes, and further adjusted for certain items attributable to Celanese
Corporation as determined by the Company (consistent with the provisions of Section 13(b) of the 2018 Plan) and as approved by the Committee.
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(c) "Cause” means, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion, (i) the Participant's willful failure to perform the Participant's

duties to the Company (other than as a result of total or partial incapacity due to physical or mental illness) for a period of 30 days following written

notice by the Company to the Participant of such failure, (ii) the Participant's conviction of, or a plea of nolo contendere to, (x) a felony under the

laws of the United States or any state thereof or any similar criminal act in a jurisdiction outside the United States or (y) a crime involving moral

turpitude, (iii) the Participant's willful malfeasance or willful misconduct which is demonstrably injurious to the Company or its affiliates, (iv) any act

of fraud by the Participant, (v) any violation of the Company's business conduct policy, (vi) any violation of the Company's policies concerning

harassment or discrimination by the Participant, (vii) the Participant's conduct that causes harm to the business reputation of the Company or its

affiliates, or (viii) the Participant's breach of any confidentiality, intellectual property, noncompetition or non-solicitation provisions applicable to the

Participant under the Long-Term Incentive Claw-Back Agreement or any other agreement between the Participant and the Company. "Cause" shall

be determined by the Company in its sole discretion, and such determination shall be final, binding, and conclusive on the Participant.

(d) "Change in Control" means:

(i) any individual, entity or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") (a "Person") becomes the beneficial owner (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3
promulgated under the Exchange Act) of 30% or more of either (A) the then-outstanding shares of common stock of the
Company (the "Outstanding Company Common Stock") or (B) the combined voting power of the then-outstanding voting
securities of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors (the "Outstanding Company Voting Securities");
provided, however, that, for purposes of this subparagraph, the following acquisitions shall not constitute a Change of Control:
(i) any acquisition directly from the Company, (ii) any acquisition by the Company, (iii) any acquisition by any employee benefit
plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or any Affiliate, or (iv) any acquisition pursuant to a transaction
that complies with clauses (A), (B) or (C) in paragraph (iii) of this definition; or

(i) individuals who, as of the effective date of this Agreement, constitute the Board (the "Incumbent Board") cease
for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board; provided, however, that any individual becoming a director
subsequent to the effective date of this Agreement whose election, or nomination for election by the Company's stockholders,
was approved by a vote of at least a majority of the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board shall be considered as
though such individual was a member of the Incumbent Board, but excluding, for this purpose, any such individual whose initial
assumption of office occurs as a result of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal of
directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other than the Board; or

(iii) consummation of a reorganization, merger, statutory share exchange or consolidation or similar transaction
involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the
Company, or the acquisition of assets or stock of another entity by the Company or any of its subsidiaries (each, a "Business
Combination"), in each case unless, following such Business Combination, (A) all or substantially all of the individuals and entities
that were the beneficial owners of the Outstanding Company Common Stock and the Outstanding Company Voting Securities
immediately prior to such Business Combination beneficially
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own, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the then-outstanding shares of common stock (or, for a non-corporate entity,
equivalent securities) and the combined voting power of the then-outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the
election of directors (or, for a non-corporate entity, equivalent governing body), as the case may be, of the entity resulting from
such Business Combination (including, without limitation, an entity that, as a result of such transaction, owns the Company or
all or substantially all of the Company's assets either directly or through one or more subsidiaries) in substantially the same
proportions as their ownership immediately prior to such Business Combination of the Outstanding Company Common Stock
and the Outstanding Company Voting Securities, as the case may be, (B) no Person (excluding any corporation resulting from
such Business Combination or any employee benefit plan (or related trust) of the Company or such corporation resulting from
such Business Combination) beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 30% or more of, respectively, the then-outstanding shares
of common stock of the corporation resulting from such Business Combination or the combined voting power of the then-
outstanding voting securities of such corporation, except to the extent that such ownership existed prior to the Business
Combination, and (C) at least a majority of the members of the board of directors (or, for a non-corporate entity, equivalent
governing body) of the entity resulting from such Business Combination were members of the Incumbent Board at the time of
the execution of the initial agreement or of the action of the Board providing for such Business Combination; or

(iv) approval by the stockholders of the Company of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if it is determined that an Award hereunder is subject to the requirements of Section 409A and the
Change in Control is a "payment event" under Section 409A for such Award, the Company will not be deemed to have undergone a
Change in Control unless the Company is deemed to have undergone a "change in control event" pursuant to the definition of such
term in Section 409A.

(e) "Disability" has the same meaning as "Disability" in the Celanese Corporation 2008 Deferred Compensation Plan or such other
meaning as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, provided that in all events a "Disability" under this Agreement shall constitute a
"disability" within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(4).

) "Operative Documents" means the 2018 Plan and this Agreement.

(8) "Peer Group" means, subject to the provisions below, entities included in the Dow Jones US Chemical Index as of December
31, 2022. This is a "closed group"; therefore, changes in the Peer Group during the period specified in the definition of Total Stockholder Return,
shall be handled as follows:

(1) Closed Group: The composition of the Peer Group will be determined on the date specified above, and "frozen" as of that
date; subsequent changes to the composition of the index will not change the Peer Group. Companies will not be market capitalization
weighted.

(2) Multiple Class Companies: If a company in the Dow Jones US Chemical Index has more than one class of shares trading,
only the "Class A" shares will be included in the Peer Group.
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(3) Acquisitions: If a company in the Peer Group is acquired during the Performance Period, such company is
excluded from the Peer Group for purposes of the TSR calculation.

(4) Spinoffs: The surviving parent entity will be retained in the Peer Group, by treating the value of the spinco as a
reinvested dividend in parent stock.

(5) Bankruptcy: If a company in the Peer Group files for bankruptcy protection or is otherwise insolvent during the
Performance Period, such company shall remain in the Peer Group but shall be assigned the lowest possible ranking for TSR.
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(6) No Trading: If a company is in the Dow Jones US Chemical Index but is not trading as of December 31, 2022, then
it will be excluded from the Peer Group. If a company in the Peer Group is otherwise no longer publicly traded on the last day of
the Performance Period (other than as a result of an acquisition as described in clause (3) above), such company shall remain in
the Peer Group but shall be assigned the lowest possible ranking for TSR.

(h) "Performance Period" means the three-year period from January 1, 2023 through December 31, 2025.

(i) "Qualifying Disposition" means a sale or other disposition by the Company or one or more subsidiaries of all or part of a business,
business unit, segment or subsidiary in a stock, asset, merger or other similar transaction or combination thereof, and determined by the
Committee to be a Qualifying Disposition.

())"Relative Total Stockholder Return" or "Relative TSR" is assessed in comparison of the percentile rank in TSR to the Peer Group. The
lowest ranked company will be the 0% rank, the middle ranked company will be the 50th percentile rank and the top ranked company will be the
100th percentile rank.

(k) "Retirement" of the Participant shall mean a voluntary separation from service on or after the earlier of (i) the date when the
Participant is both 55 years of age and has 10 years of service with the Company, as determined by the Company in its discretion based on payroll
records or (ii) the date when the Participant is age 62 or greater; provided, however, that in the case of clause (ii), unless waived by the Board, (1)
the Participant shall have provided at least 12 months' advance notice to the Board of such planned retirement from the Chief Executive Officer
position, and (2) the Board shall have designated a successor Chief Executive Officer. Retirement shall not include voluntary separation from service
in which the Company could have terminated the Participant's service for Cause.

() "Return on Capital Employed" or "ROCE" means a measure used by the Company's management to measure performance and is
defined as Adjusted EBIT divided by capital employed, which is the beginning and end-of-year average of the sum of property, plant and
equipment, net; trade working capital (calculated as trade receivables, net plus inventories less trade payables - third party and affiliates); goodwill;
intangible assets, and investments in affiliates, adjusted to eliminate noncontrolling interests, and certain items as determined by the Company
(consistent with the provisions of Section 13(b) of the 2018 Plan) and as approved by the Committee.

(m)  "Settlement Date" means the date that Common Shares are delivered to the Participant following the Vesting Date.
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(n) "service" shall mean continued service as the Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors (but not service as another non-
employee director that is not Executive Chairman), employee, contractor or consultant.

(o) "Total Stockholder Return" or "TSR" measures the percent change in share price from the beginning of the Performance Period to
the end of the Performance Period and assumes immediate reinvestment of dividends when declared at the closing share price on the date
declared. The beginning share price will be calculated as an average of 60 data points: the closing share price on December 31, 2022 and the
closing share price for each of the 59 trading days preceding December 31, 2022. The ending share price will be calculated as an average of 60 data
points: the closing share price on December 31, 2025 and the closing share price for each of the 59 trading days preceding December 31, 2025.

[signatures appear on following pagel]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Agreement to be executed on its behalf by its duly authorized officer.

Delaware

Celanese International
Corporation
Celanese Ltd.

Celanese Sales U.S. Ltd.

Celtran, Inc.

CNA Holdings LLC
KEP Americas Engineering
Plastics, LLC

Ticona Fortron Inc.
Ticona LLC
Ticona Polymers, Inc.

Performance-Based Vesting Calculation

Delaware CELANESE CORPORATION

Texas
Texas

DelawareBy: Vanessa Dupuis

Delaware
Delaware

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware Senior
Vice President
and Chief
Human
Resources
Officer
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APPENDIX A

CALCULATION OF THE PERFORMANCE-BASED VESTING

The Performance RSUs are subject to adjustment based on the achievement of specified levels of:

(i) the Company's Adjusted EPS during the Performance Period, weighted 70%;and

(ii) the Company's ROCE during the Performance Period, weighted 30%.

In addition, the Performance RSUs will be subject to further adjustment based on the Company's Relative TSR during the Performance

Period.

Each metric will be calculated separately based on the targets set forth below.The results of each metric will determine the number of Performance
RSUs earned for that metric. The total award will be the addition of the total number of Performance RSUs earned for each of the two performance
metrics, with such result then subject to adjustment based on the Company's Relative TSR during the Performance Period. The number of Performance
RSUs determined after such adjustments (and subject further to the additional vesting requirements of Section 2(b) of the Agreement) are referred to as
the "Performance-Adjusted RSUs." Fractional shares remaining after such adjustments will be rounded up to the nearest whole share. No fractional shares

will be issued.
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A.Calculation of Performance Adjustment based on the Adjusted EPS Results

The following table outlines the percentage of the Performance RSUs that may become earned based on Adjusted EPS performance
during the Performance Period.

Result Goal Achievement for Performance Period1 Performance Adjustment Percentage
Adjusted EPS Below Threshold Less than $[0] 0%
(70% weighting) Threshold $[0] 50%
Target $[0] 100%
Superior $[0Jor more 200%

The Performance Adjustment Percentage for Adjusted EPS for the Performance Period shall be calculated by straight-line interpolation for results
achieved between Threshold and Target, or for results achieved between Target and Superior.No Performance RSUs will be earned for the Adjusted EPS
component for the Performance Period if Goal Achievement is Below Threshold.

1To the extent not otherwise included as an adjustment to Adjusted EPS (as defined) or ROCE (as defined), if

(a) the historic financial statements of the Company for period(s) ending prior to the Performance Period are retrospectively
recast in connection with a change in accounting principle or method adopted during the Performance Period,

(b) the Company effects a material acquisition, disposition, merger, spin-off or other similar transaction, or enters/exits a joint
venture, affecting the Company or any subsidiary or any portion thereof, during the Performance Period,

(c) the Company suffers or incurs items of gain, loss or expense determined to be unusual in nature, or charges for restructurings,
discontinued operations, or any other unusual or infrequent items, or any other event materially outside the scope of those anticipated in
the Company's operating plans,

(d) there are changes in tax law or other such laws or provisions affecting reported results,
(e) the Company establishes accruals or reserves, or impairs assets, for reorganization or restructuring programs, and/or

(f) the Company incurs or is adversely affected by any other eventuality contemplated by the last sentence of Section 13(b) of the
2018 Plan,

then in each such case where the amount is significant to the Company, the Committee shall, as determined appropriate in its sole
discretion, adjust the performance goals or level of assessed performance, as described in this Appendix A to ensure that the Participant is
not unfairly advantaged or disadvantaged by any of the events described in items (a)-(f).
Page A-2
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B. Calculation of Performance Adjustment based on the ROCE Results

The following table outlines the percentage of the Performance RSUs that may become earned based on ROCE performance during the
Performance Period.
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Result Goal Achievement for Performance Period1 Performance Adjustment Percentage

ROCE Below Threshold Less than [01% 0%
(30% weighting) Threshold [01% 50%
Target [01% - [01% 100%
Superior [01% or more 200%

The Performance Adjustment Percentage for ROCE for the Performance Period shall be calculated by straight-line interpolation for results achieved
between Threshold and the low end of the Target range, or for results achieved between the high end of the Target range and Superior.No Performance
RSUs will be earned for the ROCE component for the Performance Period if Goal Achievement is Below Threshold.

C. Calculation of Relative TSR Modifier

The sum of the Performance RSUs earned for the Adjusted EPS component and the Performance RSUs earned for the ROCE component
will be subject to further adjustment by multiplying such aggregate Performance RSUs earned by the "Modifier Percentage" determined
based on the Company's Relative TSR percentile ranking during the Performance Period in accordance with the following table.

Relative TSR Percentile Achieved Modifier Percentage
Relative TSR Modifier <25% 80%
25% to 75% 100%
>75% 120%

D. Adjustments In Case of Certain Dispositions and Acquisitions

In the event of a sale or other disposition by the Company or one or more subsidiaries of all or part of a business, business unit,
segment or subsidiary in a stock, asset, merger or other similar transaction or combination thereof, if such transaction is determined by the
Committee to constitute a "change in ownership or control" within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code (and regardless of whether such
transaction also constitutes a "Change in Control" as defined in this Agreement) (e.g., a sale or other disposition of assets of the Company
that have a gross fair market value equal to or more than one-third of the total gross fair market value of all assets of the Company
immediately before such transaction), the Committee may, in addition to or in lieu of any permitted adjustments to the performance goals
or performance provided above, in its discretion take any action as determined to be equitable to reflect the closing of the transaction,
including, but not limited to: (i) adjust the performance vesting conditions in any manner, including substituting new or additional
performance goals, over the remaining Performance Period, (ii) cease the measurement of performance as of the closing of the transaction
and adjust the Award to a time-vesting Award over the remainder of the Performance Period (at target, based on actual or projected
performance at the time of the transaction, or on any other basis as the Committee may determine), or (iii) accelerate the vesting of all or
any portion of the Award.
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In the event of an acquisition by the Company of one or more subsidiaries in a stock, asset, merger or other similar transaction or
combination thereof (regardless of whether such transaction also constitutes a "Change in Control" as defined in this Agreement), the
Committee may, in addition to or in lieu of any permitted or required adjustments to the performance goals or performance provided
above, in its discretion take any action as determined to be equitable to reflect the closing of the transaction, including, but not limited to: (i)
adjust the performance vesting conditions in any manner, including substituting new or additional performance goals, over the remaining
Performance Period or (ii) cease the measurement of performance as of the closing of the transaction and adjust the Award to a time-
vesting Award over the remainder of the Performance Period (at target, based on actual or projected performance at the time of the
transaction, or on any other basis as the Committee may determine).
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Exhibit 10.6

[Form of 2023 Time-Based Stock Option Award]

1~20001306830-23-000086celogo3.jpg

CELANESE CORPORATION
2018 GLOBAL INCENTIVE PLAN

NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AWARD AGREEMENT
DATED [Grant Date]

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Celanese Corporation 2018 Global Incentive Plan, you have been awarded Nonqualified Stock
Options, subject to the restrictions described in this Agreement. In addition to the information included in this Agreement, the Participant's name and
the number of Options can be found in the Grant Summary located in the electronic stock plan award administration system maintained by the
Company or its designee that contains a link to this Agreement (which summary information is set forth in the appropriate records of the Company
authorizing such award).

Stock Option Award
[Number of Common Shares Subject to Options] Shares

This grant is made pursuant to the Nonqualified Stock Option AwardAgreement dated as of [Grant Date], between Celanese and [Participant
Name], which Agreement is attached hereto and made a part hereof.

CELANESE CORPORATION
2018 GLOBAL INCENTIVE PLAN

NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AWARD AGREEMENT

This Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement (the "Agreement") is made and entered into as of [Grant Date] (the "Grant Date") by and between
Celanese Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), and [Participant Name] (the "Participant"). Capitalized terms used, but not otherwise
defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Celanese Corporation 2018 Global Incentive Plan (as amended from time to time, the
"2018 Plan").

il Grant of Options: In order to encourage the Participant's contribution to the successful performance of the Company, the Company
hereby grants to the Participant as of the Grant Date, pursuant to the terms of the 2018 Plan and this Agreement, an award (the "Award") of Nonqualified
Stock Options (the "Options") to purchase all or any part of the number of Common Shares that are covered by such Options at the Exercise Price per
share, in each case as specified below. The Participant hereby acknowledges and accepts such Award upon the terms and subject to the conditions,
restrictions and limitations contained in this Agreement and the 2018 Plan.
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Number of Common Shares Subject to Options: [Number of Shares]

Exercise Price Per Share (the "Exercise Price"): [Exercise Price]
Expiration Date: [Expiration Date (Put 1 day before 10-year anniversary from Grant Date)]
Vesting Schedule: Subject to Sections 4 and 6 of this Agreement, [33% of the Number of Shares]

Options shall vest on [Vest Date 1], [33% of the Number of Shares] Options shall
vest on [Vest Date 2] and [34% of the Number of Shares] Options shall vest on [Vi
Date 3] (each date on which a portion of the Options vest and become exercisabl¢
a "Vesting Date", and each period between the Grant Date and a Vesting Date, a
"Vesting Period").

2. Non-Qualified Stock Option: The Options are not intended to qualify Incentive Stock Options and this Agreement will be interpreted
accordingly.
2} Exercise of Options:

(@) The Options shall not be exercisable as of the Grant Date. After the Grant Date, to the extent not previously exercised, and
subject to termination or acceleration as provided in this Agreement or in the 2018 Plan, the Options shall be exercisable to the extent the Options
become vested, as described in this Agreement, to purchase up to that number of Common Shares as set forth in Section 1 above, subject to the
Participant's continued employment with the Company (except as set forth in Section 4 or 6 below). The Vesting Period and/or exercisability of the
Options may be adjusted by the Committee to reflect the decreased level of employment
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during any period in which the Participant is on an approved leave of absence or is employed on a less than full-time basis.

(b)  To exercise the Options (or any part thereof), the Participant shall notify the Company and its designated stock plan administrator
or agent, as specified by the Company, and indicate the number of whole Common Shares the Participant wishes to purchase pursuant to such
Options.

(c) The Exercise Price of the Options is set forth in Section 1. The Company shall not be obligated to issue any Common Shares until
the Participant shall have paid the total Exercise Price for that number of Common Shares. The Exercise Price may be paid in any of the following
forms or in a combination thereof: (i) cash or its equivalent, (ii) withholding of Common Shares to be issued as a result of such exercise, or (i) any
other method approved by the Committee.

(d) Common Shares will be issued as soon as practical following exercise of the Options. Notwithstanding the above, the Company
shall not be obligated to deliver any Common Shares during any period in which the Company determines that the exercisability of the Options or
the delivery of Common Shares pursuant to this Agreement would violate any federal, state or other applicable laws.

4. Effects of Certain Events:

(@) Upon the termination of the Participant's employment by the Company without Cause or due to the Participant'sdeath or
Disability (other than as provided in Section 4(b)), a prorated portion of the unvested Options will vest, with such prorated amount equal to (i) the
unvested Options in each Vesting Period, multiplied by (ii) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of complete and partial calendar
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months from the Grant Date to the date of termination without Cause or due to the Participant's death or Disability, and the denominator of which
is the number of complete and partial calendar months in the applicable Vesting Period, such product to be rounded up to the nearest whole
number (the "Pro-Rated Options"). The remaining unvested Options shall be immediately forfeited and cancelled without consideration as of the
date of the Participant's termination of employment without Cause or due to the Participant's death or Disability. In the event of the Participant's
termination without Cause, the Participant may exercise the vested portion of the Options until the earlier of (A) the 12-month anniversary of the
date of such termination of employment or (B) the Expiration Date. In the event of the Participant's death or Disability, the Participant (or the
Participant's estate, beneficiary or legal representative) may exercise the vested portion of the Options until the earlier of (A) the 5-year anniversary
of the date of such termination of employment or (B) the Expiration Date.

(b)  Except as otherwise provided in this Section 4(b), upon the termination of the Participant's employment (i) due to the Participant's
Retirement but under circumstances not amounting to Cause or (ii) by the Company in connection with a Qualifying Disposition, as determined by
the Company in its sole discretion, other than for Cause (and regardless of whether the Participant is offered employment with the acquiror or
successor), any unvested Options will remain outstanding and vest and become exercisable on the same Vesting Dates that would have otherwise
applied had the Participant remained in continuous employment with the Company through the last Vesting Date applicable to this Award. The
Participant (or the Participant's estate, beneficiary or legal representative) may exercise any vested Options held by the Participant as of the date of
termination or that otherwise vest pursuant to this Section 4(b) until (i) in the case of the Participant's Retirement under circumstances not
amounting to Cause, the earlier of (A) the 7-
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year anniversary of the date of such termination of employment or (B) the Expiration Date, or (ii) in the case of a termination by
the Company in connection with a Qualifying Disposition, the Expiration Date. To the extent permitted by applicable country, state or
province law, as consideration for the continued vesting provisions upon Retirement contained in this paragraph, upon Retirement,
the Participant shall enter into a departure and general release of claims agreement with the Company that includes two-year
noncompetition and non-solicitation covenants in a form acceptable to the Company. In the event of a termination of the Participant's
employment by the Company in connection with a Qualifying Disposition as described in this Section, if the Company determines that
the Participant has been offered employment with the acquiror or successor and in connection with that employment will receive a
substitute award from the acquiror or successor with an equivalent (or greater) economic value and no less favorable vesting
conditions as this Award, the Company, in its sole discretion, may determine not to provide for the continued vesting under this
Section 4(b).

(c) Upon the termination of a Participant's employment with the Company for any reason other than as set forth in Section 4(a), 4(b)
or 4(d), (i) the unvested Options shall be immediately forfeited and cancelled without consideration as of the date of the Participant's termination of
employment, and (ii) the Participant may exercise the vested Options until the earlier of (A) 30 days following the date of such termination of
employment and (B) the Expiration Date.

(d) Notwithstanding anything in this Section 4 to the contrary, upon the termination of a Participant's employment with the
Company for Cause, the Options (whether vested and unvested) shall be immediately forfeited and cancelled without consideration as of the date
of the Participant's termination of employment. If at any time on or before a Vesting Date the Company determines, in its sole discretion, that the
Participant engaged in an act constituting Cause, the Participant's employment shall be considered to have been terminated for Cause, and his or
her Award shall be forfeited and cancelled without consideration pursuant to this Section 4(d), regardless of whether the Participant's termination
initially was considered to have been without Cause. In each such case, the provisions of Sections 4(a), 4(b) and 4(c) are inapplicable.

5. Rights as a Stockholder: The Participant shall have no voting, dividend or other rights as a stockholder with respect to the Award until
the Options have been exercised and Common Shares have been delivered pursuant to this Agreement.

6. Change in Control; Dissolution:

(@  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, upon the occurrence of a Change in Control, with respect
to any unvested Options granted pursuant to this Agreement that have not previously been forfeited:
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(i) If (A) the Participant's rights to the unvested Options are not adversely affected in connection with the Change in Control,
or, if adversely affected, a substitute award with an equivalent (or greater) economic value and no less favorable vesting conditions is granted to the
Participant in connection with the occurrence of a Change in Control, and (B) the Participant's employment is terminated by the Company (or its
successor) without Cause within two years following the Change in Control, then the unvested Options (or, as applicable, the substitute award) shall
immediately vest and become exercisable, and shall remain exercisable for such period (not less than 12 months, or through the Expiration Date if
earlier) as specified by the Committee and communicated to the Participant.
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(i) If the Participant's rights to the unvested Options are adversely affected in connection with the Change in Control and a
substitute award is not made pursuant to Section 6(a)(i) above, then immediately prior to the occurrence of such Change in Control, the unvested
Options shall immediately vest and become exercisable, and shall remain exercisable for such period as specified by the Committee and
communicated to the Participant.

(b)  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, in the event of a corporate dissolution of the Company
that is taxed under Section 331 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, then in accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(j)
(4)(ix)(A), this Agreement shall terminate and any unvested Options granted pursuant to this Agreement shall immediately vest and be automatically
exercised, as specified by the Committee and communicated to the Participant.

7 Income and Other Taxes: The Company shall not deliver Common Shares in respect of the exercise of Options unless and until the
Participant has made arrangements satisfactory to the Company to satisfy applicable withholding tax obligations for US federal, state, and local income
taxes (or the foreign counterpart thereof) and applicable employment taxes. Such obligations may be paid in any of the following forms or in a
combination thereof: (i) cash or its equivalent, (ii) withholding of Common Shares to be issued as a result of the exercise of the Option, or (iii) any other
method approved by the Committee. Withholding shall be effected using a rate or method chosen by the Company consistent with ASC Topic 718 (or any
successor applicable equity accounting standard applicable to this Award) and the U.S. Internal Revenue Service withholding regulations or other
applicable tax requirements, not to exceed maximum statutory rates. The Participant acknowledges that the Company shall have the right to deduct any
taxes required to be withheld by law in connection with the delivery of Common Shares issued in respect of any exercised Options from any amounts
payable by it to the Participant (including, without limitation, future cash wages). The Participant acknowledges and agrees that amounts withheld by the
Company for taxes may be less than amounts actually owed for taxes by the Participant in respect of the Award.

8. Securities Laws: The Company may impose such restrictions, conditions or limitations as it determines appropriate as to the timing
and manner of any resales by the Participant or other subsequent transfers by the Participant of any Common Shares issued as a result of the exercise of
the Options, including without limitation (a) restrictions under an insider trading policy, and (b) restrictions as to the use of a specified brokerage firm for
such resales or other transfers. Upon the acquisition of any Common Shares pursuant to the exercise of the Options, the Participant will make or enter
into such written representations, warranties and agreements as the Company may reasonably request in order to comply with applicable securities laws
or with this Agreement and the 2018 Plan. All accounts in which such Common Shares are held or any certificates for Common Shares shall be subject to
such stop transfer orders and other restrictions as the Company may deem advisable under the rules, regulations and other requirements of the Securities
and Exchange Commission, any stock exchange or quotation system upon which the Common Shares are then listed or quoted, and any applicable federal
or state securities law, and the Company may cause a legend or legends to be put on any such certificates (or other appropriate restrictions and/or
notations to be associated with any accounts in which such Common Shares are held) to make appropriate reference to such restrictions.

9. Non-Transferability of Award: The Options may not be assigned, alienated, pledged, attached, sold or otherwise transferred or
encumbered by the Participant other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, and any such purported assignment, alienation, pledge,
attachment, sale, transfer or encumbrance shall be void and unenforceable against the Company; provided, that the Participant may designate a
beneficiary, on a form provided by the Company, to receive any portion of the Award payable hereunder following the Participant's death.
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10. Other Agreements: Subject to Sections 10(a) and 10(b) of this Agreement, this Agreement and the 2018 Plan constitute the entire

understanding between the Participant and the Company regarding the Award, and any prior and/or contemporaneous agreements, understandings,
representations, discussions, commitments or negotiations concerning the Award, whether written or oral, are superseded. No oral statements or other
prior written material not specifically incorporated into this Agreement, other than the 2018 Plan, shall be of any force or effect.

(@)  The Participant acknowledges that as a condition to the receipt of the Award, the Participant:
(i) shall have delivered to the Company an executed copy of this Agreement;
(i) shall be subject to the Company's stock ownership guidelines, to the extent applicable to the Participant;

(iii)  shall be subject to policies and agreements adopted by the Company from time to time, and applicable laws and
regulations, requiring the repayment by the Participant of incentive compensation under certain circumstances, including that certain Celanese
Corporation Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy adopted by the Committee on October 16, 2019, as the same may be amended
(collectively, "Clawback Policies"), without any further act or deed or consent of the Participant; and

(iv)  shall have delivered to the Company an executed copy of the current form of Long-Term Incentive Claw-Back Agreement.
For purposes hereof, "Long-Term Incentive Claw-Back Agreement" means an agreement between the Company and the Participant associated with
the grant of long-term incentives of the Company, which contains terms, conditions, restrictions and provisions regarding one or more of (i)
noncompetition by the Participant with the Company, and its customers and clients; (ii) non-solicitation and non-hiring by the Participant of the
Company's employees, former employees or consultants; (iii) maintenance of confidentiality of the Company's and/or clients' information, including
intellectual property; (iv) nondisparagement of the Company; and (v) such other matters deemed necessary, desirable or appropriate by the
Company for such an agreement in view of the rights and benefits conveyed in connection with an award.

(b) The Participant acknowledges that if the Participant violates any of the terms or provisions of the Clawback Policies
or the Long-Term Incentive Claw-Back Agreement, whether before or after termination of employment, then the Company will, to
the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, (i) terminate the Participant's rights in any unvested Options under this Award, and
(ii) claw back (i.e., recover) all Common Shares previously issued upon exercise of the Option granted under this Award.

() If the Participant is a non-resident of the U.S., there may be an addendum containing special terms and conditions applicable to
awards in the Participant's country. The issuance of the Award to any such Participant is contingent upon the Participant executing and returning
any such addendum in the manner directed by the Company.

1114 Not a Contract for Employment; No Acquired Rights; Agreement Changes: Nothing in the 2018 Plan, this Agreement or any other

instrument executed in connection with the Award shall confer upon the Participant any right to continue in the Company's employ or service nor limit in

any way the Company's right to terminate the Participant's employment at any time for any reason. The grant of Options hereunder, and any future grant
of awards to the Participant under the 2018 Plan, is
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entirely voluntary and at the complete and sole discretion of the Company. Neither the grant of these Options nor any future grant of
awards by the Company shall be deemed to create any obligation to grant any further awards, whether or not such a reservation is expressly
stated at the time of such grants. The Company has the right, at any time and for any reason, to amend, suspend or terminate the 2018 Plan;
provided, however, that no such amendment, suspension, or termination shall adversely affect the Participant's rights hereunder.
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12. Severability: In the event that any provision of this Agreement is declared to be illegal, invalid or otherwise unenforceable by a court
of competent jurisdiction, such provision shall be reformed, if possible, to the extent necessary to render it legal, valid and enforceable, or otherwise
deleted, and the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected except to the extent necessary to reform or delete such illegal, invalid or unenforceable
provision.

B Further Assurances: Each party shall cooperate and take such action as may be reasonably requested by either party hereto in order
to carry out the provisions and purposes of this Agreement.

14. Binding Effect: The Award and this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective

permitted heirs, beneficiaries, successors and assigns.

15. Electronic Delivery: By executing this Agreement, the Participant hereby consents to the delivery of any and all information (including,
without limitation, information required to be delivered to the Participant pursuant to applicable securities laws), in whole or in part, regarding the
Company and its subsidiaries, the 2018 Plan, and the Award via electronic mail, the Company's or a plan administrator's web site, or other means of

electronic delivery.

16. Personal Data: By accepting the Award under this Agreement, the Participant hereby consents to the Company's use, dissemination
and disclosure of any information pertaining to the Participant that the Company determines to be necessary or desirable for the implementation,
administration and management of the 2018 Plan.

17. Miscellaneous:

(@) Governing Law. Notwithstanding the place where this Agreement may be executed by any of the parties hereto, the parties
expressly agree that all the terms and provisions hereof shall be governed by, construed under and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the
State of Delaware, without regard to its conflicts of laws rules.

(b) Notice. The Participant is reminded to read the following carefully and after consulting with counsel of their choice:

The Participant agrees that the following provisions requiring arbitration, prohibiting recovery of attorneys' fees, waiving class
actions and mass actions, waiving the right to a jury trial, waiving any right to seek punitive damages, limiting actual damages, and
limiting remedies by waiving any right to injunctive or other equitable or legal relief are and were an important part of the Company's
decision to adopt the Operative Documents and for Participant to be offered this Agreement. The Participant understands and agrees
that absent the foregoing provisions, the Operative Documents would not have been offered or entered into or would have materially
changed. The Participant acknowledges the benefits of receiving potential incentive awards. In reliance on the Participant's intent to
abide by and enter into the following provisions, the parties have entered into the Operative Documents.
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(0 MANDATORY ARBITRATION. All disputes arising out of or related in any manner to the Operative Documents shall be resolved
exclusively by arbitration to be conducted only in the county and state of Dallas, Texas in accordance with the rules of the International Institute for
Conflict Prevention and Resolution Rules for Non-Administered Arbitration ("CPR") applying the laws of Delaware and by a sole arbitrator. Within 45
days of the service of any demand for arbitration, the parties shall attempt to mutually agree on the appointment of an arbitrator and may seek
names of potential arbitrators from CPR for their consideration. Failing agreement on selection of an agreed arbitrator, upon written request of
either party, CPR shall appoint a single arbitrator in accordance with its rules, with the parties expressing a contractual preference for the selection
of a retired judge with at least 10 years of judicial experience. Discovery shall be as provided by the CPR rules. The arbitration award shall be in
writing and shall include a reasoned opinion by the arbitrator. Consistent with the waiver of all claims to punitive or exemplary damages, the
arbitrator shall have no authority to award such damages. The parties understand that their right to appeal or to seek modification of any ruling or
award of the arbitrator is severely limited, if any. Awards issued by the arbitrator shall be final and binding, and judgment may be entered on it in
any court of competent jurisdiction. All parties shall keep confidential the fact of the arbitration, the dispute being arbitrated, and the decision of
the arbitrator. Any and all disputes regarding this arbitration provision and its enforceability shall be exclusively submitted to the United States
District Court for the District of Delaware, if it has jurisdiction, and failing that, to the Delaware state court in Wilmington, Delaware.
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(d) NO RECOVERY OF ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS. Each party agrees that in any litigation or proceeding between the parties
arising out of, connected with, related to, or incidental to the relationship between them in connection with the Operative Documents, each party
shall bear all of its own attorneys' fees and costs regardless of which party prevails, except when prohibited by applicable law.

(e) CLASS ACTION AND MASS ACTION WAIVER. As part of this provision of arbitration as the contracted method of all dispute
resolution under this Agreement, any claim, whether brought in a court of law or in arbitration, must be brought in the Participant's individual
capacity, and not as a representative of any purported class or as a "mass action" (involving multiple plaintiffs) ("Class/Mass Action"). The parties
expressly waive any ability to maintain any Class/Mass Action in any forum. The arbitrator shall not have authority to combine or aggregate similar
claims or conduct any Class/Mass Action nor make an award to any person or entity not a party to the arbitration. Any claim that all or part of this
Class/Mass Action waiver is unenforceable, unconscionable, void, or voidable may be determined only by a court of competent jurisdiction and not
by an arbitrator. The Participant understands that but for this Agreement, he or she would have had a right to litigate through a court, to have a
judge or jury decide the case and to be party to a Class/Mass Action. However, in exchange for the potential incentive awards provided herein and
the receipt of the benefit of arbitration, the Participant understands and chooses to have only his or her individual claims decided, each in a

separate case, by an arbitrator.

()  WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW AND EXPRESSLY BECAUSE OF THE COMPLEXITY OF
THE MATTERS IN THE OPERATIVE DOCUMENTS, EACH PARTY WAIVES THE RIGHT TO HAVE A JURY PARTICIPATE IN RESOLVING ANY DISPUTE
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THE OPERATIVE DOCUMENTS.

() WAIVER OF PUNITIVE AND EXEMPLARY DAMAGE CLAIMS. The Participant waives, to the fullest extent allowed by law, any
claims or rights to recover punitive, exemplary or similar damages.
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(h) LIMIT ON ACTUAL DAMAGES. In no event may the actual damages awarded to the Participant in a dispute arising out of or
relating to the Operative Documents exceed the Fair Market Value, less the applicable Exercise Price, of the Common Shares subject to the Award,
as set forth in Section 1, as of the applicable Vesting Date, reduced by the value of any Common Shares previously received under this Agreement
(the "Damages Limit"). The Participant knowingly, voluntarily and irrevocably waives and releases any claim to damages in excess of this Damages

Limit.

(i) LIMITATION OF REMEDIES. Except when prohibited by applicable law, the procedures and remedies set forth in this Agreement
shall constitute the sole remedies available to the Participant. In no event shall the Participant seek equitable relief, injunctive relief, or otherwise
bring claims directly or derivatively for ultra vires, corporate waste, breach of fiduciary duty, or any other claim or cause of action, whether legal or
equitable, sounding in contract or tort. Nothing in this clause is intended to waive or limit any claim brought pursuant to any federal or state statute
related to the protection of civil rights. Should any provision in this Agreement be found by a court of competent jurisdiction, after all appellate
rights are exhausted, to be unenforceable or void, the parties expressly agree to sever such provision and to otherwise proceed to dispute
resolution with the remaining provisions in the Mandatory Arbitration provisions.

18. Options Subject to Plan: By entering into this Agreement the Participant agrees and acknowledges that the Participant has received
and read a copy of the 2018 Plan and the 2018 Plan's prospectus. The Options and the Common Shares issued upon exercise of such Options are subject
to the 2018 Plan, which is hereby incorporated by reference. In the event of any conflict between any term or provision of this Agreement and a term or
provision of the 2018 Plan, the applicable terms and provisions of the 2018 Plan shall govern and prevail.

19. Validity of Agreement: This Agreement shall be valid, binding and effective upon the Company on the Grant Date. However, the
Participant must accept this Agreement electronically pursuant to the online acceptance procedure established by the Company within 90 days; otherwise
the Company may, in its sole discretion, rescind the Award in its entirety.

20. Headings: The headings preceding the text of the sections hereof are inserted solely for convenience of reference, and shall not
constitute a part of this Agreement, nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect.
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21. Definitions: The following terms shall have the following meanings for purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding any contrary
definition in the 2018 Plan:

(@)  "Cause" means, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion, (i) the Participant's willful failure to perform the Participant's
duties to the Company (other than as a result of total or partial incapacity due to physical or mental illness) for a period of 30 days following written
notice by the Company to the Participant of such failure, (ii) the Participant's conviction of, or a plea of nolo contendere to, (x) a felony under the
laws of the United States or any state thereof or any similar criminal act in a jurisdiction outside the United States or (y) a crime involving moral
turpitude, (iii) the Participant's willful malfeasance or willful misconduct which is demonstrably injurious to the Company or its affiliates, (iv) any act
of fraud by the Participant, (v) any violation of the Company's business conduct policy, (vi) any violation of the Company's policies concerning
harassment or discrimination by the Participant, (vii) the Participant's conduct that causes harm to the business reputation of the Company or its
affiliates, or (viii) the Participant's breach of any confidentiality, intellectual property, noncompetition or non-solicitation provisions applicable to the
Participant under the Long-Term Incentive Claw-
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Back Agreement or any other agreement between the Participant and the Company. "Cause" shall be determined by the Company
in its sole discretion, and such determination shall be final, binding, and conclusive on the Participant.

(b)  "Change in Control" means:

(i) Any individual, entity or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the "Exchange Act")) (a "Person") becomes the beneficial owner (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act)
of 30% or more of either (A) the then-outstanding shares of common stock of the Company (the "Outstanding Company Common Stock") or (B) the
combined voting power of the then-outstanding voting securities of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors (the
"Outstanding Company Voting Securities"); provided, however, that, for purposes of this subparagraph, the following acquisitions shall not
constitute a Change in Control: (i) any acquisition directly from the Company, (ii) any acquisition by the Company, (iii) any acquisition by any
employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or any affiliate, or (iv) any acquisition pursuant to a transaction
that complies with clauses (A), (B) or (C) in paragraph (iii) of this definition; or

(i) Individuals who, as of the effective date of this Agreement, constitute the Board (the "Incumbent Board") cease for any
reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board; provided, however, that any individual becoming a director subsequent to the effective date of
this Agreement whose election, or nomination for election by the Company's stockholders, was approved by a vote of at least a majority of the
directors then comprising the Incumbent Board shall be considered as though such individual was a member of the Incumbent Board, but
excluding, for this purpose, any such individual whose initial assumption of office occurs as a result of an actual or threatened election contest with
respect to the election or removal of directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other
than the Board; or

(iii)  Consummation of a reorganization, merger, statutory share exchange or consolidation or similar transaction involving the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, or the acquisition of assets or
stock of another entity by the Company or any of its subsidiaries (each, a "Business Combination"), in each case unless, following such Business
Combination, (A) all or substantially all of the individuals and entities that were the beneficial owners of the Outstanding Company Common Stock
and the Outstanding Company Voting Securities immediately prior to such Business Combination beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than
50% of the then-outstanding shares of common stock (or, for a non-corporate entity, equivalent securities) and the combined voting power of the
then-outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors (or, for a non-corporate entity, equivalent governing body),
as the case may be, of the entity resulting from such Business Combination (including, without limitation, an entity that, as a result of such
transaction, owns the Company or all or substantially all of the Company's assets either directly or through one or more subsidiaries) in
substantially the same proportions as their ownership immediately prior to such Business Combination of the Outstanding Company Common
Stock and the Outstanding Company Voting Securities, as the case may be, (B) no Person (excluding any corporation resulting from such Business
Combination or any employee benefit plan (or related trust) of the Company or such corporation resulting from such Business Combination)
beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 30% or more of, respectively, the then-outstanding shares of common stock of the corporation resulting
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from such Business Combination or the combined voting power of the then-outstanding voting securities of such corporation, except to the extent
that such ownership existed prior to the
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Business Combination, and (C) at least a majority of the members of the board of directors (or, for a non-corporate entity,
equivalent governing body) of the entity resulting from such Business Combination were members of the Incumbent Board at the time
of the execution of the initial agreement or of the action of the Board providing for such Business Combination; or

(iv)  Approval by the stockholders of the Company of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

(c)  "Disability" has the same meaning as "Disability" in the Celanese Corporation 2008 Deferred Compensation Plan or such other
meaning as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion.

(d)  "Operative Documents" means the 2018 Plan and this Agreement.

(e)  "Qualifying Disposition" means a sale or other disposition by the Company or one or more subsidiaries of all or part of a business,
business unit, segment or subsidiary in a stock, asset, merger or other similar transaction or combination thereof, and determined by the
Committee to be a Qualifying Disposition.

(f)  "Retirement” of the Participant shall mean a voluntary separation from service on or after the date when the Participant is both 55
years of age and has ten years of service with the Company, as determined by the Company in its discretion based on payroll records. Retirement
shall not include voluntary separation from service in which the Company could have terminated the Participant's employment for Cause.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Agreement to be executed on its behalf by its duly authorized officer.

CELANESE CORPORATION

By: Lori ). Ryerkerk
Chair, Chief Executive Officer and President
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Exhibit 10.7

[Form of 2023 Time-Based CEO Stock Option Award]
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CELANESE CORPORATION
2018 GLOBAL INCENTIVE PLAN

NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AWARD AGREEMENT
DATED [Grant Date]

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Celanese Corporation 2018 Global Incentive Plan, you have been awarded Nonqualified Stock
Options, subject to the restrictions described in this Agreement. In addition to the information included in this Agreement, the Participant's name and
the number of Options can be found in the Grant Summary located in the electronic stock plan award administration system maintained by the
Company or its designee that contains a link to this Agreement (which summary information is set forth in the appropriate records of the Company
authorizing such award).

Stock Option Award
[Number of Common Shares Subject to Options] Shares

This grant is made pursuant to the Nonqualified Stock Option AwardAgreement dated as of [Grant Date], between Celanese and [Participant
Name], which Agreement is attached hereto and made a part hereof.

CELANESE CORPORATION
2018 GLOBAL INCENTIVE PLAN

NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AWARD AGREEMENT

This Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement (the "Agreement") is made and entered into as of [Grant Date] (the "Grant Date") by and between
Celanese Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), and [Participant Name] (the "Participant"). Capitalized terms used, but not otherwise
defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Celanese Corporation 2018 Global Incentive Plan (as amended from time to time, the
"2018 Plan").

il Grant of Options: In order to encourage the Participant's contribution to the successful performance of the Company, the Company
hereby grants to the Participant as of the Grant Date, pursuant to the terms of the 2018 Plan and this Agreement, an award (the "Award") of Nonqualified
Stock Options (the "Options") to purchase all or any part of the number of Common Shares that are covered by such Options at the Exercise Price per
share, in each case as specified below. The Participant hereby acknowledges and accepts such Award upon the terms and subject to the conditions,
restrictions and limitations contained in this Agreement and the 2018 Plan.
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Number of Common Shares Subject to Options: [Number of Shares]

Exercise Price Per Share (the "Exercise Price"): [Exercise Price]
Expiration Date: [Expiration Date (Put 1 day before 10-year anniversary from Grant Date)]
Vesting Schedule: Subject to Sections 4 and 6 of this Agreement, [33% of the Number of Shares]

Options shall vest on [Vest Date 1], [33% of the Number of Shares] Options shall
vest on [Vest Date 2] and [34% of the Number of Shares] Options shall vest on [Vi
Date 3] (each date on which a portion of the Options vest and become exercisabl¢
a "Vesting Date", and each period between the Grant Date and a Vesting Date, a
"Vesting Period").

2. Non-Qualified Stock Option: The Options are not intended to qualify Incentive Stock Options and this Agreement will be interpreted
accordingly.
2} Exercise of Options:

(@) The Options shall not be exercisable as of the Grant Date. After the Grant Date, to the extent not previously exercised, and
subject to termination or acceleration as provided in this Agreement or in the 2018 Plan, the Options shall be exercisable to the extent the Options
become vested, as described in this Agreement, to purchase up to that number of Common Shares as set forth in Section 1 above, subject to the
Participant's continued service with the Company (except as set forth in Section 4 or 6 below). The Vesting Period and/or exercisability of the
Options may be adjusted by the Committee to reflect the decreased level of service during any
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period in which the Participant is on an approved leave of absence or is employed on a less than full-time basis.

(b)  To exercise the Options (or any part thereof), the Participant shall notify the Company and its designated stock plan administrator
or agent, as specified by the Company, and indicate the number of whole Common Shares the Participant wishes to purchase pursuant to such
Options.

(c) The Exercise Price of the Options is set forth in Section 1. The Company shall not be obligated to issue any Common Shares until
the Participant shall have paid the total Exercise Price for that number of Common Shares. The Exercise Price may be paid in any of the following
forms or in a combination thereof: (i) cash or its equivalent, (ii) withholding of Common Shares to be issued as a result of such exercise, or (i) any
other method approved by the Committee.

(d) Common Shares will be issued as soon as practical following exercise of the Options. Notwithstanding the above, the Company
shall not be obligated to deliver any Common Shares during any period in which the Company determines that the exercisability of the Options or
the delivery of Common Shares pursuant to this Agreement would violate any federal, state or other applicable laws.

4. Effects of Certain Events:

(@  Upon the termination of the Participant's service by the Company without Cause or due to the Participant'sdeath or Disability
(other than as provided in Section 4(b)), a prorated portion of the unvested Options will vest, with such prorated amount equal to (i) the unvested
Options in each Vesting Period, multiplied by (ii) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of complete and partial calendar months from
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the Grant Date to the date of termination without Cause or due to the Participant's death or Disability, and the denominator of which is the number
of complete and partial calendar months in the applicable Vesting Period, such product to be rounded up to the nearest whole number (the "Pro-
Rated Options"). The remaining unvested Options shall be immediately forfeited and cancelled without consideration as of the date of the
Participant's termination of service without Cause or due to the Participant's death or Disability. In the event of the Participant's termination without
Cause, the Participant may exercise the vested portion of the Options until the earlier of (A) the 12-month anniversary of the date of such
termination of service or (B) the Expiration Date. In the event of the Participant's death or Disability, the Participant (or the Participant's estate,
beneficiary or legal representative) may exercise the vested portion of the Options until the earlier of (A) the 5-year anniversary of the date of such
termination of service or (B) the Expiration Date.

(b)  Except as otherwise provided in this Section 4(b), upon the termination of the Participant's service (i) due to the Participant's
Retirement but under circumstances not amounting to Cause or (ii) by the Company in connection with a Qualifying Disposition, as determined by
the Company in its sole discretion, other than for Cause (and regardless of whether the Participant is offered employment with the acquiror or
successor), any unvested Options will remain outstanding and vest and become exercisable on the same Vesting Dates that would have otherwise
applied had the Participant remained in continuous service with the Company through the last Vesting Date applicable to this Award. The
Participant (or the Participant's estate, beneficiary or legal representative) may exercise any vested Options held by the Participant as of the date of
termination or that otherwise vest pursuant to this Section 4(b) until (i) in the case of the Participant's Retirement under circumstances not
amounting to Cause, the earlier of (A) the 7-year anniversary of the date of such termination of employment or (B) the Expiration Date, or (ii)
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in the case of a termination by the Company in connection with a Qualifying Disposition, the Expiration Date. To the extent
permitted by applicable country, state or province law, as consideration for the continued vesting provisions upon Retirement
contained in this paragraph, upon Retirement, the Participant shall enter into a departure and general release of claims agreement
with the Company that includes a general release of claims, covenants relating to the provision of transition assistance and
cooperation (including reasonable transition support to any successor CEO and cooperation in litigation related to the time period of
Participant's service) and two-year noncompetition and non-solicitation covenants in a form acceptable to the Company. In the event
of a termination of the Participant's service by the Company in connection with a Qualifying Disposition as described in this Section, if
the Company determines that the Participant has been offered employment with the acquiror or successor and in connection with
that employment will receive a substitute award from the acquiror or successor with an equivalent (or greater) economic value and no
less favorable vesting conditions as this Award, the Company, in its sole discretion, may determine not to provide for the continued
vesting under this Section 4(b).

(c)  Upon the termination of a Participant's service with the Company for any reason other than as set forth in Section 4(a), 4(b) or
4(d), (i) the unvested Options shall be immediately forfeited and cancelled without consideration as of the date of the Participant's termination of
service, and (ii) the Participant may exercise the vested Options until the earlier of (A) 30 days following the date of such termination of service and
(B) the Expiration Date.

(d)  Notwithstanding anything in this Section 4 to the contrary, upon the termination of a Participant's service with the Company for
Cause, the Options (whether vested and unvested) shall be immediately forfeited and cancelled without consideration as of the date of the
Participant's termination of service. If at any time on or before a Vesting Date the Company determines, in its sole discretion, that the Participant
engaged in an act constituting Cause, the Participant's service shall be considered to have been terminated for Cause, and his or her Award shall be
forfeited and cancelled without consideration pursuant to this Section 4(d), regardless of whether the Participant's termination initially was
considered to have been without Cause. In each such case, the provisions of Sections 4(a), 4(b) and 4(c) are inapplicable.

5 Rights as a Stockholder: The Participant shall have no voting, dividend or other rights as a stockholder with respect to the Award until
the Options have been exercised and Common Shares have been delivered pursuant to this Agreement.

6. Change in Control; Dissolution:
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(@)  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, upon the occurrence of a Change in Control, with respect
to any unvested Options granted pursuant to this Agreement that have not previously been forfeited:

i) If (A) the Participant's rights to the unvested Options are not adversely affected in connection with the Change in Control,
or, if adversely affected, a substitute award with an equivalent (or greater) economic value and no less favorable vesting conditions is granted to the
Participant in connection with the occurrence of a Change in Control, and (B) the Participant's service is terminated by the Company (or its
successor) without Cause within two years following the Change in Control, then the unvested Options (or, as applicable, the substitute award) shall
immediately vest and become exercisable, and shall remain exercisable for such period (not less than 12 months, or through the Expiration Date if
earlier) as specified by the Committee and communicated to the Participant.
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(i) If the Participant's rights to the unvested Options are adversely affected in connection with the Change in Control and a
substitute award is not made pursuant to Section 6(a)(i) above, then immediately prior to the occurrence of such Change in Control, the unvested
Options shall immediately vest and become exercisable, and shall remain exercisable for such period as specified by the Committee and
communicated to the Participant.

(b)  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, in the event of a corporate dissolution of the Company
that is taxed under Section 331 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, then in accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(j)
(4)(ix)(A), this Agreement shall terminate and any unvested Options granted pursuant to this Agreement shall immediately vest and be automatically
exercised, as specified by the Committee and communicated to the Participant.

7. Income and Other Taxes: The Company shall not deliver Common Shares in respect of the exercise of Options unless and until the
Participant has made arrangements satisfactory to the Company to satisfy applicable withholding tax obligations for U.S. federal, state, and local income
taxes (or the foreign counterpart thereof) and applicable employment taxes. Such obligations may be paid in any of the following forms or in a
combination thereof: (i) cash or its equivalent, (ii) withholding of Common Shares to be issued as a result of the exercise of the Option, or (iii) any other
method approved by the Committee. Withholding shall be effected using a rate or method chosen by the Company consistent with ASC Topic 718 (or any
successor applicable equity accounting standard applicable to this Award) and the U.S. Internal Revenue Service withholding regulations or other
applicable tax requirements, not to exceed maximum statutory rates. The Participant acknowledges that the Company shall have the right to deduct any
taxes required to be withheld by law in connection with the delivery of Common Shares issued in respect of any exercised Options from any amounts
payable by it to the Participant (including, without limitation, future cash wages). The Participant acknowledges and agrees that amounts withheld by the
Company for taxes may be less than amounts actually owed for taxes by the Participant in respect of the Award.

8. Securities Laws: The Company may impose such restrictions, conditions or limitations as it determines appropriate as to the timing
and manner of any resales by the Participant or other subsequent transfers by the Participant of any Common Shares issued as a result of the exercise of
the Options, including without limitation (a) restrictions under an insider trading policy, and (b) restrictions as to the use of a specified brokerage firm for
such resales or other transfers. Upon the acquisition of any Common Shares pursuant to the exercise of the Options, the Participant will make or enter
into such written representations, warranties and agreements as the Company may reasonably request in order to comply with applicable securities laws
or with this Agreement and the 2018 Plan. All accounts in which such Common Shares are held or any certificates for Common Shares shall be subject to
such stop transfer orders and other restrictions as the Company may deem advisable under the rules, regulations and other requirements of the Securities
and Exchange Commission, any stock exchange or quotation system upon which the Common Shares are then listed or quoted, and any applicable federal
or state securities law, and the Company may cause a legend or legends to be put on any such certificates (or other appropriate restrictions and/or
notations to be associated with any accounts in which such Common Shares are held) to make appropriate reference to such restrictions.

9. Non-Transferability of Award: The Options may not be assigned, alienated, pledged, attached, sold or otherwise transferred or
encumbered by the Participant other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, and any such purported assignment, alienation, pledge,
attachment, sale, transfer or encumbrance shall be void and unenforceable against the Company; provided, that the Participant may designate a
beneficiary, on a form provided by the Company, to receive any portion of the Award payable hereunder following the Participant's death.
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10. Other Agreements: Subject to Sections 10(a) and 10(b) of this Agreement, this Agreement and the 2018 Plan constitute the entire
understanding between the Participant and the Company regarding the Award, and any prior and/or contemporaneous agreements, understandings,
representations, discussions, commitments or negotiations concerning the Award, whether written or oral, are superseded. No oral statements or other
prior written material not specifically incorporated into this Agreement, other than the 2018 Plan, shall be of any force or effect.

(@)  The Participant acknowledges that as a condition to the receipt of the Award, the Participant:
(i) shall have delivered to the Company an executed copy of this Agreement;
(i) shall be subject to the Company's stock ownership guidelines, to the extent applicable to the Participant;

(iii)  shall be subject to policies and agreements adopted by the Company from time to time, and applicable laws and
regulations, requiring the repayment by the Participant of incentive compensation under certain circumstances, including that certain Celanese
Corporation Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy adopted by the Committee on October 16, 2019, as the same may be amended
(collectively, "Clawback Policies"), without any further act or deed or consent of the Participant; and

(iv)  shall have delivered to the Company an executed copy of the current form of Long-Term Incentive Claw-Back Agreement.
For purposes hereof, "Long-Term Incentive Claw-Back Agreement" means an agreement between the Company and the Participant associated with
the grant of long-term incentives of the Company, which contains terms, conditions, restrictions and provisions regarding one or more of (i)
noncompetition by the Participant with the Company, and its customers and clients; (ii) non-solicitation and non-hiring by the Participant of the
Company's employees, former employees or consultants; (iii) maintenance of confidentiality of the Company's and/or clients' information, including
intellectual property; (iv) nondisparagement of the Company; and (v) such other matters deemed necessary, desirable or appropriate by the
Company for such an agreement in view of the rights and benefits conveyed in connection with an award.

(b) The Participant acknowledges that if the Participant violates any of the terms or provisions of the Clawback Policies
or the Long-Term Incentive Claw-Back Agreement, whether before or after termination of employment, then the Company will, to
the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, (i) terminate the Participant's rights in any unvested Options under this Award, and
(ii) claw back (i.e., recover) all Common Shares previously issued upon exercise of the Option granted under this Award.

(c) If the Participant is a non-resident of the U.S., there may be an addendum containing special terms and conditions applicable to
awards in the Participant's country. The issuance of the Award to any such Participant is contingent upon the Participant executing and returning
any such addendum in the manner directed by the Company.

11. Not a Contract for Employment; No Acquired Rights; Agreement Changes: Nothing in the 2018 Plan, this Agreement or any other
instrument executed in connection with the Award shall confer upon the Participant any right to continue in the Company's employ or service nor limit in

any way the Company's right to terminate the Participant's employment or service at any time for any reason. The grant of Options hereunder, and any
future grant of awards to the Participant under the 2018
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Plan, is entirely voluntary and at the complete and sole discretion of the Company. Neither the grant of these Options nor any future
grant of awards by the Company shall be deemed to create any obligation to grant any further awards, whether or not such a reservation is
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expressly stated at the time of such grants. The Company has the right, at any time and for any reason, to amend, suspend or terminate the
2018 Plan; provided, however, that no such amendment, suspension, or termination shall adversely affect the Participant's rights hereunder.

12. Severability: In the event that any provision of this Agreement is declared to be illegal, invalid or otherwise unenforceable by a court
of competent jurisdiction, such provision shall be reformed, if possible, to the extent necessary to render it legal, valid and enforceable, or otherwise
deleted, and the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected except to the extent necessary to reform or delete such illegal, invalid or unenforceable
provision.

13. Further Assurances: Each party shall cooperate and take such action as may be reasonably requested by either party hereto in order
to carry out the provisions and purposes of this Agreement.

14. Binding Effect: The Award and this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective
permitted heirs, beneficiaries, successors and assigns.

15. Electronic Delivery: By executing this Agreement, the Participant hereby consents to the delivery of any and all information (including,
without limitation, information required to be delivered to the Participant pursuant to applicable securities laws), in whole or in part, regarding the
Company and its subsidiaries, the 2018 Plan, and the Award via electronic mail, the Company's or a plan administrator's web site, or other means of
electronic delivery.

16. Personal Data: By accepting the Award under this Agreement, the Participant hereby consents to the Company's use, dissemination
and disclosure of any information pertaining to the Participant that the Company determines to be necessary or desirable for the implementation,
administration and management of the 2018 Plan.

17. Miscellaneous:

(@) Governing Law. Notwithstanding the place where this Agreement may be executed by any of the parties hereto, the parties
expressly agree that all the terms and provisions hereof shall be governed by, construed under and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the
State of Delaware, without regard to its conflicts of laws rules.

(b) Notice. The Participant is reminded to read the following carefully and after consulting with counsel of their choice:

The Participant agrees that the following provisions requiring arbitration, prohibiting recovery of attorneys' fees, waiving class
actions and mass actions, waiving the right to a jury trial, waiving any right to seek punitive damages, limiting actual damages, and
limiting remedies by waiving any right to injunctive or other equitable or legal relief are and were an important part of the Company's
decision to adopt the Operative Documents and for Participant to be offered this Agreement. The Participant understands and agrees
that absent the foregoing provisions, the Operative Documents would not have been offered or entered into or would have materially
changed. The Participant acknowledges the benefits of receiving potential incentive awards. In reliance on the Participant's intent to
abide by and enter into the following provisions, the parties have entered into the Operative Documents.
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(0 MANDATORY ARBITRATION. All disputes arising out of or related in any manner to the Operative Documents shall be resolved
exclusively by arbitration to be conducted only in the county and state of Dallas, Texas in accordance with the rules of the International Institute for
Conflict Prevention and Resolution Rules for Non-Administered Arbitration ("CPR") applying the laws of Delaware and by a sole arbitrator. Within 45
days of the service of any demand for arbitration, the parties shall attempt to mutually agree on the appointment of an arbitrator and may seek

names of potential arbitrators from CPR for their consideration. Failing agreement on selection of an agreed arbitrator, upon written request of
either party, CPR shall appoint a single arbitrator in accordance with its rules, with the parties expressing a contractual preference for the selection
of a retired judge with at least 10 years of judicial experience. Discovery shall be as provided by the CPR rules. The arbitration award shall be in
writing and shall include a reasoned opinion by the arbitrator. Consistent with the waiver of all claims to punitive or exemplary damages, the
arbitrator shall have no authority to award such damages. The parties understand that their right to appeal or to seek modification of any ruling or
award of the arbitrator is severely limited, if any. Awards issued by the arbitrator shall be final and binding, and judgment may be entered on it in
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any court of competent jurisdiction. All parties shall keep confidential the fact of the arbitration, the dispute being arbitrated, and the decision of
the arbitrator. Any and all disputes regarding this arbitration provision and its enforceability shall be exclusively submitted to the United States
District Court for the District of Delaware, if it has jurisdiction, and failing that, to the Delaware state court in Wilmington, Delaware.

(d) NO RECOVERY OF ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS. Each party agrees that in any litigation or proceeding between the parties
arising out of, connected with, related to, or incidental to the relationship between them in connection with the Operative Documents, each party
shall bear all of its own attorneys' fees and costs regardless of which party prevails, except when prohibited by applicable law.

(e) CLASS ACTION AND MASS ACTION WAIVER. As part of this provision of arbitration as the contracted method of all dispute
resolution under this Agreement, any claim, whether brought in a court of law or in arbitration, must be brought in the Participant's individual

capacity, and not as a representative of any purported class or as a "mass action" (involving multiple plaintiffs) ("Class/Mass Action"). The parties
expressly waive any ability to maintain any Class/Mass Action in any forum. The arbitrator shall not have authority to combine or aggregate similar
claims or conduct any Class/Mass Action nor make an award to any person or entity not a party to the arbitration. Any claim that all or part of this
Class/Mass Action waiver is unenforceable, unconscionable, void, or voidable may be determined only by a court of competent jurisdiction and not
by an arbitrator. The Participant understands that but for this Agreement, he or she would have had a right to litigate through a court, to have a
judge or jury decide the case and to be party to a Class/Mass Action. However, in exchange for the potential incentive awards provided herein and
the receipt of the benefit of arbitration, the Participant understands and chooses to have only his or her individual claims decided, each in a
separate case, by an arbitrator.

()  WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW AND EXPRESSLY BECAUSE OF THE COMPLEXITY OF
THE MATTERS IN THE OPERATIVE DOCUMENTS, EACH PARTY WAIVES THE RIGHT TO HAVE A JURY PARTICIPATE IN RESOLVING ANY DISPUTE
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THE OPERATIVE DOCUMENTS.

(g) WAIVER OF PUNITIVE AND EXEMPLARY DAMAGE CLAIMS. The Participant waives, to the fullest extent allowed by law, any
claims or rights to recover punitive, exemplary or similar damages.
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(h) LIMIT ON ACTUAL DAMAGES. In no event may the actual damages awarded to the Participant in a dispute arising out of or
relating to the Operative Documents exceed the Fair Market Value, less the applicable Exercise Price, of the Common Shares subject to the Award,
as set forth in Section 1, as of the applicable Vesting Date, reduced by the value of any Common Shares previously received under this Agreement
(the "Damages Limit"). The Participant knowingly, voluntarily and irrevocably waives and releases any claim to damages in excess of this Damages

Limit.

(i) LIMITATION OF REMEDIES. Except when prohibited by applicable law, the procedures and remedies set forth in this Agreement
shall constitute the sole remedies available to the Participant. In no event shall the Participant seek equitable relief, injunctive relief, or otherwise
bring claims directly or derivatively for ultra vires, corporate waste, breach of fiduciary duty, or any other claim or cause of action, whether legal or
equitable, sounding in contract or tort. Nothing in this clause is intended to waive or limit any claim brought pursuant to any federal or state statute
related to the protection of civil rights. Should any provision in this Agreement be found by a court of competent jurisdiction, after all appellate
rights are exhausted, to be unenforceable or void, the parties expressly agree to sever such provision and to otherwise proceed to dispute
resolution with the remaining provisions in the Mandatory Arbitration provisions.

18. Options Subject to Plan: By entering into this Agreement the Participant agrees and acknowledges that the Participant has received
and read a copy of the 2018 Plan and the 2018 Plan's prospectus. The Options and the Common Shares issued upon exercise of such Options are subject
to the 2018 Plan, which is hereby incorporated by reference. In the event of any conflict between any term or provision of this Agreement and a term or
provision of the 2018 Plan, the applicable terms and provisions of the 2018 Plan shall govern and prevail.

19. Validity of Agreement: This Agreement shall be valid, binding and effective upon the Company on the Grant Date. However, the
Participant must accept this Agreement electronically pursuant to the online acceptance procedure established by the Company within 90 days; otherwise
the Company may, in its sole discretion, rescind the Award in its entirety.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 123/130
©2023 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited REFI N ITIV I ‘

without the prior written consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated
companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

20. Headings: The headings preceding the text of the sections hereof are inserted solely for convenience of reference, and shall not
constitute a part of this Agreement, nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect.

21. Definitions: The following terms shall have the following meanings for purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding any contrary
definition in the 2018 Plan:

(@)  "Cause" means, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion, (i) the Participant's willful failure to perform the Participant's
duties to the Company (other than as a result of total or partial incapacity due to physical or mental illness) for a period of 30 days following written
notice by the Company to the Participant of such failure, (ii) the Participant's conviction of, or a plea of nolo contendere to, (x) a felony under the
laws of the United States or any state thereof or any similar criminal act in a jurisdiction outside the United States or (y) a crime involving moral
turpitude, (iii) the Participant's willful malfeasance or willful misconduct which is demonstrably injurious to the Company or its affiliates, (iv) any act
of fraud by the Participant, (v) any violation of the Company's business conduct policy, (vi) any violation of the Company's policies concerning
harassment or discrimination by the Participant, (vii) the Participant's conduct that causes harm to the business reputation of the Company or its
affiliates, or (viii) the Participant's breach of any confidentiality, intellectual property, noncompetition or non-solicitation provisions applicable to the
Participant under the Long-Term Incentive Claw-
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Back Agreement or any other agreement between the Participant and the Company. "Cause" shall be determined by the Company
in its sole discretion, and such determination shall be final, binding, and conclusive on the Participant.

(b)  "Change in Control" means:

(i) Any individual, entity or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the "Exchange Act")) (a "Person") becomes the beneficial owner (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act)
of 30% or more of either (A) the then-outstanding shares of common stock of the Company (the "Outstanding Company Common Stock") or (B) the
combined voting power of the then-outstanding voting securities of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors (the
"Outstanding Company Voting Securities"); provided, however, that, for purposes of this subparagraph, the following acquisitions shall not
constitute a Change in Control: (i) any acquisition directly from the Company, (ii) any acquisition by the Company, (iii) any acquisition by any
employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or any affiliate, or (iv) any acquisition pursuant to a transaction
that complies with clauses (A), (B) or (C) in paragraph (iii) of this definition; or

(ii) Individuals who, as of the effective date of this Agreement, constitute the Board (the "Incumbent Board") cease for any
reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board; provided, however, that any individual becoming a director subsequent to the effective date of
this Agreement whose election, or nomination for election by the Company's stockholders, was approved by a vote of at least a majority of the
directors then comprising the Incumbent Board shall be considered as though such individual was a member of the Incumbent Board, but
excluding, for this purpose, any such individual whose initial assumption of office occurs as a result of an actual or threatened election contest with
respect to the election or removal of directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other
than the Board; or

(iii)  Consummation of a reorganization, merger, statutory share exchange or consolidation or similar transaction involving the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, or the acquisition of assets or
stock of another entity by the Company or any of its subsidiaries (each, a "Business Combination"), in each case unless, following such Business
Combination, (A) all or substantially all of the individuals and entities that were the beneficial owners of the Outstanding Company Common Stock
and the Outstanding Company Voting Securities immediately prior to such Business Combination beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than
50% of the then-outstanding shares of common stock (or, for a non-corporate entity, equivalent securities) and the combined voting power of the
then-outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors (or, for a non-corporate entity, equivalent governing body),
as the case may be, of the entity resulting from such Business Combination (including, without limitation, an entity that, as a result of such
transaction, owns the Company or all or substantially all of the Company's assets either directly or through one or more subsidiaries) in
substantially the same proportions as their ownership immediately prior to such Business Combination of the Outstanding Company Common
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Stock and the Outstanding Company Voting Securities, as the case may be, (B) no Person (excluding any corporation resulting from such Business
Combination or any employee benefit plan (or related trust) of the Company or such corporation resulting from such Business Combination)
beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 30% or more of, respectively, the then-outstanding shares of common stock of the corporation resulting
from such Business Combination or the combined voting power of the then-outstanding voting securities of such corporation, except to the extent
that such ownership existed prior to the
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Business Combination, and (C) at least a majority of the members of the board of directors (or, for a non-corporate entity,
equivalent governing body) of the entity resulting from such Business Combination were members of the Incumbent Board at the time
of the execution of the initial agreement or of the action of the Board providing for such Business Combination; or

(iv)  Approval by the stockholders of the Company of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

(c) "Disability" has the same meaning as "Disability" in the Celanese Corporation 2008 Deferred Compensation Plan or such other
meaning as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion.

(d) "Operative Documents" means the 2018 Plan and this Agreement.

(e)  "Qualifying Disposition"means a sale or other disposition by the Company or one or more subsidiaries of all or part of a business,
business unit, segment or subsidiary in a stock, asset, merger or other similar transaction or combination thereof, and determined by the
Committee to be a Qualifying Disposition.

(f) "Retirement" of the Participant shall mean a voluntary separation from service on or after the earlier of (i) the date when the
Participant is both 55 years of age and has ten years of service with the Company, as determined by the Company in its discretion based on payroll
records, or (ii) the date when the Participant is age 62 or greater; provided, however, that in the case of clause (ii), unless waived by the Board, (1)
the Participant shall have provided at least 12 months' advance notice to the Board of such planned retirement from the Chief Executive Officer
position and (2) the Board shall have designated a successor Chief Executive Officer. Retirement shall not include voluntary separation from service
in which the Company could have terminated the Participant's employment for Cause.

(g) "Service" shall mean continued service as the Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors (but not service as another non-
employee director that is not Executive Chairman), employee, contractor or consultant.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Agreement to be executed on its behalf by its duly authorized officer.

CELANESE CORPORATION

By:  Vanessa Dupuis
Senior Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO 17 CFR 240.13a-14
PROMULGATED UNDER
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

|, LoriJ. Ryerkerk, certify that:

1.1 have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Celanese Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
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(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ LORI J. RYERKERK
LoriJ. Ryerkerk

Chairman Chair of the Board of Directors,
Chief Executive Officer and President
November 4, 2022 May 10, 2023

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO 17 CFR 240.13a-14
PROMULGATED UNDER
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Scott A. Richardson, certify that:

1.1 have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Celanese Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect
to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
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evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ SCOTT A. RICHARDSON

Scott A. Richardson

Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
November 4, 2022 May 10, 2023

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Celanese Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30,
2022 March 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), |, Lori . Ryerkerk, Chairman of
the Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

/s/ LORI J. RYERKERK

LoriJ. Ryerkerk

Chairman Chair of the Board of Directors,
Chief Executive Officer and President
November 4, 2022 May 10, 2023
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Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Celanese Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Scott A. Richardson, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ SCOTT A. RICHARDSON

Scott A. Richardson

Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
November 4, 2022 May 10, 2023
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DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES DELTA REPORT™ IS A COMPARISON OF TWO
FINANCIALS PERIODIC REPORTS. THERE MAY BE MATERIAL ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR INACCURACIES IN THE REPORT INCLUDING
THE TEXT AND THE COMPARISON DATA AND TABLES. IN NO WAY DOES REFINITIV OR THE APPLICABLE COMPANY ASSUME ANY
RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS MADE BASED UPON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS REPORT.
USERS ARE ADVISED TO REVIEW THE APPLICABLE COMPANY'S ACTUAL SEC FILINGS BEFORE MAKING ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER
DECISIONS.
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